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“The incoming members of the Board

of Directors are highly experienced.
Together with the senior management
team, they will bring us new energy and
perspective. With our international real
estate investment platform, coupled with
the new team’s decades of experience
in the real estate industry and reputation
in China, our company will reach new
heights and turn a new chapter with
remarkable achievements.”
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ZH International Holdings Limited (formerly Heng Fai Enterprises
Limited) (“Company”) was founded in 1965 and has been listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange since 1972.

The Company together with its subsidiaries (“Group”), is currently
pursuing twin engines of growth — the Real Estate Investment Trust
(“REIT”) ownership and management strategy (“REIT strategy”) in the
United States and real estate development in PRC. The Company is
currently seeding and growing two U.S.-listed REITs that generate
dividend vyields of 6 to 8%. Apart from the new REIT strategy, the
Group has four main businesses segments — property development,
hotels and hospitality, securities trading and investment, as well as
property investment and trading.

During the Period, the Company introduced a new controlling
shareholder with the acquisition by Joy Town Inc. (a company owned
by Ms. Huang Yanping) of a majority stake in the Company and bring
a number of immediate benefits to the Group, such as introduced
new members to our management team and Board of Directors, who
are highly experienced in the real estate development industry with
decades of experience in China, injection of high quality development
project to and providing strong financial support for the growth of the
Group, while also bringing with it significant resources and networks
in China which the Group expects to be able to leverage for its future
development in the property development sector.

The Company is headquartered in Hong Kong, and has offices in
Singapore, Japan and North America. It also owns a sizeable portfolio
of properties in Singapore, Hong Kong, Japan and the U.S.

The Company aims to grow exponentially in the next five years
and create new sustainable revenue streams and hence enhancing
shareholder value.
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CHAIRMAN’S
MESSAGE

EEHH

Dear shareholders,

It has been a great honour to serve
as the Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Company during

a financial year that was unique for
several major reasons. On behalf of
my fellow directors, | would like to
express my appreciation for your
support for the period under review.
To recapitulate, the year was marked
by the following highlights:
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Mr. Zhang Jingguo
Chairman, Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer
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On 29 June 2015, Joy Town Inc. (“Joy Town”), wholly-owned
by Ms. Huang Yanping (“Ms. Huang”) acquired approximately
54.9% of the issued capital of the Company and became our
new controlling Shareholder.

In August 2015, we made a successful bid for the land use
right of a land parcel in Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, PRC
for approximately RMB95.8 million. The Land Parcel is located
at the northwest region of Zhengzhou City with a site area of
34,439 sq.m. and a permitted plot ratio between 1.0 and 2.0.

In September 2015, we adopted a new corporate identity, ZH
International Holdings Limited (IF 18 EER A% B R A =], the
“Company”), to reflect a new controlling shareholder and a
new chapter of growth.

In November 2015, we completed the acquisition of a
property project from Ms. Huang. The property project
consisted of a land parcel located at the Economic and
Technological Development Zone of Zhengzhou city, PRC with
a site area of approximately 48,000 sg.m. and has a gross
floor area of approximately 296,000 sg.m.. The land parcel is
designated for commercial and financial use. The project will
be developed into 9 blocks of commercial centers for sale
comprising office, apartments and retail space and financed
by shareholder’s loans provided by Henan Zensun Real Estate
Co., Ltd (“Zensun”), a company ultimately controlled by Ms.
Huang. The consideration for the acquisition was HK$405
million and satisfied by the issuance of 1.35 billion new
ordinary shares of the Company.

Global Medical REIT, Inc. (“GMR”) continued to grow its real
estate portfolio of specialized, high-acuity medical facilities
to over US$56 million, with an increase of over 130% as
compared to that of last year. GMR has recently announced
that it is offering it shares and applying for the change of
market on which GMR’s shares are listed from Over-The-
Counter Board (“OTC”) in the U.S. to the New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE”).
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE
PERIOD

On 27 November 2015, the Company announced to change the
financial year end date of the Company from 31 March to 31
December in order to coincide the statutory financial year end date
of the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC and the U.S.
Accordingly, the current financial year covered a nine-month period
from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015 (“Financial Year” or “Year”)
whereas the corresponding comparative figures (which covered a
twelve-month period from 1 April, 2014 to 31 March, 2015 (“FY2015"))
are therefore not entirely comparable with those of the current period.

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$44.0 million
for the Financial Year as compared to FY2015 of HK$60.7 million.
The loss attributable to owners of the Company was significantly
improved from loss of HK$54.9 million in FY2015 to loss of
approximately HK$19.7 million for the Year.

The basic loss per share for the year was HK0.47 cents which was
reduced as compared to HK1.42 cents in the previous year.

Outlook

The Group will continue to be principally engaged in the business
of property development, real estate investment and management
and hotel operation, and look for investment opportunities which
strengthen profitability under the acceptable risk in Hong Kong and
overseas markets.

The PRC

The Company will leverage on the PRC property development
and investment experience of its new management team to seek
to develop suitable projects with potential to deliver value to our
Shareholders. In addition to existing business partner, the Company
will continue to seek potential partners’ cooperation to explore
capital resources, reduce capital investment at an early stage and
facilitate project development. The management remains cautiously
optimistic on the long-term prospects of the real estate industry and
will quicken its property development and sales of its development
projects in the PRC through making use of its own advantages
and leveraging on the national network and business resources of
Henan Zensun Real Estate Co., Ltd (“Zensun”). The synergistic effect
brought by Zensun will improve the position of the Group in the real
estate industry in China.
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The US

In the US, the Group has two U.S. Over-The-Counter (“OTC”) listed
REITs, namely Global Medical REIT, Inc. (“GMR”) and American
Housing REIT, Inc. (“AHR”) which are managed by Inter-American
Management, LLC (“IAM”), the 85%-owned REIT management
arm of the Group, led by a specialised team of highly-experienced
professionals with in-depth knowledge in the U.S. real estate market.

GMR

GMR is accelerating its acquisition pipeline and moving to migrate
to the New York Stock Exchange. Following its completion, the
Company’s percentage holding in the issued share capital of GMR
will be substantially reduced and the Company will continue providing
management services and receiving recurring management fees
directly to and from GMR pursuant to the management agreement
between GMR and IAM. It is expected that the offering and future
fund raising of GMR will increase its capital base which in return
increases the management fee income to be received from GMR.

AHR

AHR was listed on the OTC in 2010. AHR is currently 99%-controlled
by the Company and it owns a portfolio of single-family rentals
primarily in Texas, Florida, Georgia and North Carolina, and seeks to
pay a significantly higher-than-average annualised yield quarterly.

Other Operations

The Group remains cautious about Singapore property market and
does not expect to make a material investment in this market in the
foreseeable future. For the Japan hotel operation, the Group is now
actively seeking ways to enhance its overall profitability with a view to
enabling the operations to be self-sustainable.
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Overall

The Company will make use of the Group’s financial, human and
technological resources to enhance its portfolio, asset base and
brand image.

The management will continue to streamline the corporate structure,
divest non-core non-performing businesses, seek viable business
opportunities in accordance with its overall strategy, closely monitor
the market situation and enhance all areas of operations which can
raise the level of financial discipline, improve profitability within the
Group and deliver the best returns to the Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express the Board’s gratitude
to all the staff for their hard work and dedication and to thank all our
shareholders, business partners and customers for their continuous
support.

Mr. Zhang Jingguo
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
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MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
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INTER-AMERICAN
GROUP

The Company announced on 6 December 2013 a three-phased
growth strategy (the “Growth Strategy”) focusing on REITs, which
involves (i) building up a portfolio through seeding and growing REITs
in the U.S.; (ii) developing recurring management fees from direct
management of these REITs; and (iii) raising capital through potential
listings.

The Company has so far seeded two U.S. Over-The-Counter
(“OTC”)-listed REITs, managed by U.S.-based company, Inter-
American Management, LLC (“IAM”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
85%-ZH controlled Inter-American Group Holdings Inc. (“IA Group”),
which will earn management fees of 1.5% to 2.0% of the REITs’
assets under management. The remaining 15% stake of IA Group is
owned by Mr. Jeffrey Busch, the Chief Executive Officer of IA Group
who is a 29-year real estate veteran who has previously served two
U.S. Presidents, overseeing a yearly budget of over US$3 billion to
develop housing and commercial real estate for the U.S. Government.

To raise additional capital to accelerate growth, the Company
intends to migrate the listing of its first two REITs to the international
exchanges.

INTER-AMERICAN
MANAGEMENT

IAM is the REIT management arm of IA Group, led by a specialised
team of highly-experienced professionals with deep knowledge in the
U.S. real estate market.

IAM manages two ZH-seeded REITs — American Housing REIT,
Inc. (“AHR”) and Global Medical REIT, Inc. (“GMR”) — and plans
to eventually manage other global REITs. IAM estimates receiving
management fees of 1.5% to 2.0% of assets under management,
varying by REIT and depending on performance. Its REIT
management strategy centres on systematising, and creating viable
economies of scale, to effectively manage cash flow over the life
cycles of a wide range of real estate holdings. IAM focuses on
minimising operating expenses by optimising property evaluation
and property management practices, through advanced online
property tracking tools coupled with on-site evaluations. IAM sources
prospective acquisitions based on the broad network of relationships
of IA Group’s U.S.-based executive team.
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AMERICAN
HOUSING REIT

U.S. OTC-listed American Housing REIT, Inc. (“AHR”) is currently
99%-controlled by ZH, and managed by IAM. AHR owns a portfolio
of about 170 single-family rentals (“SFRs”) primarily in Texas, Florida,
Georgia and North Caroline. Blackstone Group’s B2R division has
provided debt financing.

4
&2 GLOBAL
§, MEDICAL REIT

U.S. OTC-listed Global Medical REIT, Inc. (“GMR”) is 99.9%-held
by ZH and managed by IAM. GMR, which distributed its maiden
distribution in July 2014, is building a medical real estate portfolio
of specialised, high-acuity medical facilities, and seeks to pay
distributions with a higher-than-average annualised yield of 8%. GMR
is planning to migrate to the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) in
the first half of 2016 calendar year.

GMR’s strategy is to acquire licensed, specialised medical facilities
leased to locally-dominant health care providers on long-term leases
with annual rent increases. These leases are structured as triple net
(“NNN”) which require the tenant to pay for all property operating
expenses including property taxes, insurance, maintenance and
capital expenses. GMR targets situations where healthcare operators
wish to monetize their real estate to redeploy into core health care
operations and immediate growth initiatives. A key differentiator is
GMR’s preference for high-acuity single-tenanted properties which
require deep health care knowledge and industry expertise to
underwrite creating an investment “barrier to entry” for “generalist”
real estate investors that focus on generic office, residential, and retail
real estate.

GMR acquires property on a long-term sale-leaseback basis which
provides GMR with secured, predictable, growing rent income.
GMR’s deep experience and contacts within the health care real
estate community enable GMR to source non-brokered investment
opportunities off-market and on favourable terms. GMR is able to
originate property acquisitions with healthcare operators directly by
catering specifically to their capital, accounting, legal, regulatory, and
strategic needs.

GMR’s current portfolio of healthcare facilities in the U.S. consists
of 12 facilities located in eight states with approximately 244,329
leasable square feet, which as of 31 March 2016 were 100% leased
with a weighted average remaining lease term of 11 years. GMR’s 12
healthcare facilities are leased to seven tenants and have a weighted
average age of 10 years.
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EXISTING PROPERTY
PORTFOLIO

BEMEES

ZH has two projects under development in the PRC and owns a
diverse range of quality hotels, residential and commercial properties
spanning Singapore, Hong Kong, Japan and the U.S.

PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Zensun Jingkai Plaza

Project location . the intersection of Hanghai Road and
Jingkai Ninth Avenue, Zhengzhou
approximately 48,000 sqg.m.
approximately 296,000 sg.m.

1st quarter of 2018

Site area
Gross floor area
Completion schedule

Located at the Economic and Technological Development Zone
of Zhengzhou (“ETDZ”), Zensun Jingkai Plaza is situated in the
southeast of the intersection of Hanghai Road East and Jingkai Ninth
Avenue. It is the landmark project in the ETDZ in which the Group
made substantial investment in 2015. The project has a total site area
of 72 mu and a total gross floor area of 296,000 sg.m. with plot ratio
of 4.499 and greening ratio of 25%. The project adopts a semi-open
concept with an open and self-containing design. It is encompassed
by 9 building blocks, including 4 Grade 5A deluxe office buildings,
1 white-collar apartment and 4 single office buildings with an office
area of 201,200 sg.m.. It is currently the largest and highest class
commercial complex in the ETDZ that is well served by supporting
facilities and features the best investment potential and development
prospect.
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Zensun Xinghan Garden

Project location 300m to the east of the junction of Dahe
Road (North 4th Ring) and Guxu Road (West
4th Ring extension), Zhengzhou
approximately 34,500 sg.m.

approximately 95,800 sg.m.

4th quarter of 2017

Site area
Gross floor area
Completion schedule

Xinghan Garden covers a total site area of 52 mu with total gross
floor area of 95,800 sg.m. Being a low-density, scarce and high-end
residential community with plot-ratio 1.99, Xinghan Garden has a
high greening ratio up to 30% and becomes the first and genuine
quality residential community in Gurung Town. Styled the most
fashionable modern Chinese architecture, the Project comprises 7
blocks of 8-storeyed bungalows situated at the central scenic area,
3 blocks of 18-storeyed low-high-rise at the north, totaling 648 units.
Each bungalow has two units on each floor. Each unit is designed
with three rooms, a living room, a dining room and two wash rooms.
The unit on the 1st floor of gross floor area approximately 116 sg.m.
contains a garden of 50 sg.m. and a basement of 80 sg.m.. The unit
on the 2nd floor of total gross floor area approximately 120 sqg.m.
contains a basement of 50 sg.m.. The unit on the 8th floor of total
gross floor area approximately 140 sg.m. has a hanging garden. As
for the 3 blocks of low-high-rise, all are designed with four units per
floor with two staircases and each unit is small to medium size of 88
sg.m.. The Project is specially designed with separate vehicle and
pedestrian traffic, and a kindergarten of 1,661 sqg. m. at the south-
western corner catering to the community needs. The Project enjoys
scenic environment and easy access.
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The Company’s Singapore property portfolio is concentrated in
locations near Mass Rapid Transit (MRT) stations, Singapore’s
railway system, ensuring convenience and connectivity. ZH owns a
portfolio of SOHO units at Southbank which features high-ceilings
and duplexes. These units are uniquely zoned for both residential
and commercial uses and hence generate strong rental yield. ZH
also owns a portfolio of residential properties at Dakota Residences
adjacent to the Dakota MRT station.

JAPAN PROPERTIES

ECIpIIES SIS

1. Dakota Residences
2. Southbank Soho

NARFIME Y EBEETR R E T - KB ETE -
IEf87 Southbank#E B SOHOBE M 4 » UEBEREXAEAE
2o ZEBMNENAMALE  AIEEELBERSE  BtBESK
FHES o IE18 7f Dakota Residences B (X =¥ ¥ 44 - Dakota
Residenceshit #fDakotath ik o

SRNVES

1&2. Aizuya

ZH currently owns two properties in Japan — the first being Aizuya,
an authentic and traditional Japanese hot spring inn located at Nasu,
Tochigi prefecture, a famous mountain resort area approximately
2-hours drive from the Tokyo downtown, and the other being The
Hamilton Sapporo, an 8-storey hotel erected over a one-level
basement situated at Chuo Ward, Sapporo City, Japan.

3&4. The Hamilton Sapporo

EEREBAREAMEDE - HERAzuya » RBAREREFES
IREE - RIREARBHRE - EAERELERN - BHRRT
FLKIM N ER 0 B —{ERThe Hamilton Sapporofiji + @\
B A-EHTE 2REXRLETHAR -
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In addition to some smaller properties, ZH owns two floors of the
commercial building, Wyndham Place, a prime office building located
in the Central district of Hong Kong - the central business district of
the region. ZH uses a portion of one floor for its headquarters while
leasing out the other.

U.S. PROPERTIES

ZH currently owns about 170 Single-Family Rentals (“SFRs”) in the
U.S., held under its REIT subsidiary, American Housing REIT, Inc.
These homes are carefully selected for their location, condition,
tenant profile and potential for capital appreciation. ZH also owns
12 facilities located in eight states with approximately 244,329
leasable square feet, including an acute care hospital located in
Omaha, Nebraska; an orthopedic surgery center in Asheville, North
Carolina; an ophthalmology clinic in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; a
portfolio comprising six licensed patient treatment facilities located in
the Memphis, Metropolitan Statistical Area in Tennessee; a medical
center in Plano, Texas; a medical office building in Melbourne,
Florida; and a medical office building and ambulatory surgery center
located in Westland, Michigan. In addition to the properties held on
ZH’s two U.S. REITs, ZH owns a 273,200 square metres freehold
parcel of land in California and two residential units situated on Wall
Street in New York.
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ZHANG JINGGUO
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Zhang Jingguo, age 53, is the Chairman, Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He was appointed to the
Board on 6 July 2015 following the change of controlling shareholder
on 29 June 2015.

Mr. Zhang has approximately 20 years of experience in the real
estate development industry in China. From July 1983 to May 1994,
Mr. Zhang held various positions at the then Light Industry Bureau
of Henan Province, the governmental authority in charge of the light
industry in Henan Province, and its associated collectively-owned
enterprises, including division chief, engineer and vice manager,
where he was responsible for administrative management. From
May 1994 to April 2001, he worked at Xingye Real Estate as general
manager, where he was responsible for its overall operations.
Mr. Zhang Jingguo and Ms. Huang Yanping cofounded a real
estate company which has become one of the top 100 property
development companies in China. Mr. Zhang has served as the
Chairman and chief executive officer of this top 100 real estate
company since 2001. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and general management of our Group and is
instrumental to our growth and business expansion. Mr. Zhang is the
spouse of Ms. Huang Yanping.

Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’s degree in radio science from
Zhengzhou University in July 1983 and an Executive MBA degree
from Guanghua School of Management, Peking University in
July 2013. Mr. Zhang currently serves as president of Henan
Real Estate Chamber of Commerce, vice-president of Industry
& Commerce Association of Henan Province, graduate tutor
of Zhengzhou University and a member of Henan Provincial
Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
Mr. Zhang was awarded “Outstanding Real Estate Developer of
Henan Province” by the Department of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development of Henan Province in 2011 and “Outstanding Real
Estate Developer of Zhengzhou” by the Housing Security and Real
Estate Administration Bureau of Zhengzhou in 2009, 2011 and
2012. In 2012, Mr. Zhang was named “Individual with Outstanding
Contribution to Market Economy of Henan Real Estate Industry”
by Henan Daily and the Private Economy Research Association
of Henan Province and “Philanthropist of Henan Province” by the
Industry & Commerce Association of Henan Province and the United
Front Work Department of the CPC Henan Province Committee. Mr.
Zhang received his senior engineer qualification from the People’s
Government of Henan Province in December 1996 and his first class
construction engineer qualification from the Ministry of Housing
and Urban-Rural Development in May 2012. Currently, Mr. Zhang
is a non-executive director of Bank of Zhengzhou Co., Ltd., a listed
company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
6196).
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HUANG YANPING
Non-Executive Director

Ms. Huang Yanping, age 54, is the Non-Executive Director of the
Company. She was appointed to the Board on 27 July 2015 following
the change of controlling shareholder on 29 June 2015.

Ms. Huang has over 15 years’ experiences in the property
development and investment industry in the PRC. Ms. Huang has
been involved in the development of not less than 36 property
development projects in Henan, Shandong and Hainan province in
China with a total gross floor area of not less than 14 million square
meters. She is one of the founders of a real estate company which
has become one of the top 100 property development companies in
China.

Ms. Huang is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Jingguo.

ZHANG GUOQIANG
Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Guogiang, age 53, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed to the Board on 27 July 2015 following
the change of controlling shareholder on 29 June 2015.

Between August 1983 to October 1997, Mr. Zhang worked as a
tutor at the Communication Command Academy of PLA, now known
as the National Defence Information Academy of PLA. Between
October 1997 to March 2003, Mr. Zhang served as the director
of the marketing department of Wuhan Research Institute of Post
& Telecommunications, also known as FiberHome Technologies
Group, a product and solution provider in the field of information
and telecommunications, where he was responsible for marketing.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang worked as a general manager
at Nanjing North Road Technologies Co., Ltd., a coal analysis
equipment manufacturer, from May 2003 to November 2005, where
he was responsible for general management. Mr. Zhang joined the
real estate company co-founded by Mr. Zhang Jingguo and Ms.
Huang Yanping in 2006 and is responsible for the management of
marketing centre and tendering and procurement centre. Mr. Zhang
received a bachelor’s degree in radio science from Zhengzhou
University in July 1983. In 1988, Mr. Zhang received his lecturer
qualification from the National Defence Information Academy of PLA
and received his engineer qualification from Wuhan Research Institute
of Post of Telecommunications.
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ERIC JACKSON CHANG
Executive Director

Mr. Eric Jackson Chang, age 35, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He was appointed to the Board on 27 July 2015 following
the change of controlling shareholder on 29 June 2015.

Mr. Chang worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd. (“PwC”) Hong
Kong from September 2002 to September 2013. Mr. Chang provided
audit and consulting services to a number of listed companies
during his tenure of office in PwC. In 2013, Mr. Chang joined the real
estate company co-founded by Mr. Zhang Jingguo and Ms. Huang
Yanping as chief financial officer. Mr. Chang received his bachelor of
commerce degree from University of British Columbia in May 2002.
Mr. Chang is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

LIU QIAO
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr. Liu Qiao, age 46, was appointed as an independent Non-
Executive Director on 27 July 2015.

Dr. Liu is Professor of Finance and Associate Dean for Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) at the Guanghua School
of Management. He is a leading authority in the area of finance in
China, and is recognized for his academic works in corporate finance,
financial markets, and the Chinese economy.

Dr. Liu is the winner of Outstanding Youth Award of the National
Science Foundation (2013), and was awarded “Li Yining Outstanding
Service Award”, the highest award in the Guanghua School
of Management in 2013. He is also the Ministry of Education
“Changdiang Scholar” Special Term Professor. Before he joined
Guanghua in late 2010, Dr. Liu taught in the Faculty of Business and
Economics, University of Hong Kong, and was tenured at University
of Hong Kong. Dr. Liu also worked at McKinsey & Company’s Asia-
Pacific Corporate Finance and Strategy Practice from 2001 to 2003,
where he advised various multinational corporations (MNCs) and
leading Asian companies on issues related to corporate finance and
strategies. Dr. Liu holds a Doctor of Philosophy Degree in economics
from University of California at Los Angeles (UCLA) (2000), an Master
of Arts in international finance from the Graduate School of People’s
Bank of China (1993), and a Bachelor of Science in Economics and
Mathematics from the Renmin University of China (1991).
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Dr. Liu’s primary academic research interests are in corporate
finance, empirical asset pricing models, financial markets, and
Chinese economy. He has published dozens of articles at leading
academic journals including Journal of Financial Economics, Journal
of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, Journal of Accounting
Research, Management Science, Economic Journal, Journal of
Corporate Finance, Journal of Accounting, Auditing, and Finance,
Financial Analysts Journal, etc. He has co-edited a book on the Asian
debt capital markets — “Asia’s debt capital markets: prospects and
strategies for development” (Springer, 2006). His co-authored book
titled “Finance in Asia: Institutions, Markets, and Regulation,” (with
Paul Lejot and Douglas Arner) was released by Routledge in March
2018. Dr. Liu is the author of the Chinese bestseller “Big to Brilliant:
the Second Long March of Corporate China.” Besides academic
research, Dr. Liu also writes articles for leading business newspapers
and magazines. His articles and views appear in the The Economist,
Financial Times, CFO Magazine, 21st Century Business Herald,
Caijing Magazine, New Fortune, The Asian Wall Street Journal, and
South China Morning Post.

Dr. Liu has extensive business experiences. Over the past ten
years, he has conducted numerous consulting projects for leading
Chinese firms and MNCs including PetroChina, Minsheng Bank,
Mercedes Benz (China), Shenzhen Stock Exchange, among many
others. Dr. Liu is the founder of Huaxinhui, a platform focusing on
advising China’s local governments on financing issues. He pioneers
the practice of compiling balance sheets of local governments,
and providing China’s local governments with market-based credit
ratings. He is a strong advocate of including local government credit
rating as one major key performance indicator to cope with China’s
fast growing local government debts.
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MA YUNTAO
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ma Yuntao, age 36, was appointed as an independent Non-
Executive Director on 27 July 2015.

Mr. Ma has been serving at Jia Yuan Law Firm as a registered partner
from July 2010 up to now, and became the managing partner and
senior partner of China Overseas Financing Department (7 B8 7M g
& #BP9) in early 2014. He served at Commerce & Finance Law Offices
from July 2002 to June 2010, engaging in securities business as to
PRC laws. He acquired qualifications as a practicing solicitor in 2006
and registered as a partner at Commerce & Finance Law Offices in
early 2010.

Mr. Ma ran projects including the privatization and delisting project
of Hunan Nonferrous Metals Company Limited, a company formerly
listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2626) which was
principally engaged in nonferrous metallic mineral resources mining
business, IPO project of Guorui Properties Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2329) which
is principally engaged in real estate development, IPO project of
Tianhe Chemicals Group Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1619) which is principally engaged in
fluorochemical and chemical products production, IPO project of Poly
Culture Group Corporation Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3636) which is principally engaged
in culture industry involving theatre management, artwork auction
and investment, IPO project of Kerry Logistics Network Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0636)
which is principally engaged in logistics, IPO project of eprint Group
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 1884) which is principally engaged in internet printing, spin-
off listing in respect of Tonly Electronics Holdings Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1249) which is
principally engaged in production of electronics products of TCL
Multimedia Technology Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1070) which is principally
engaged in production of electronics products, very substantial
acquisition project of China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 0966) which is principally engaged in insurance, and IPO
project of China Aluminum International Engineering Corporation
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 2068) which is principally engaged in nonferrous engineering
design and construction.
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LIU DA
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Liu Da, age 40, was appointed as an independent Non-Executive
Director on 27 July 2015.

Mr. Liu graduated from the University of International Business and
Economics with a major in international business administration
and obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics. Mr. Liu is also a
Certified Public Accountant (CPA) in China. Mr. Liu served as an audit
manager and a senior audit manager of PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PwC”) Guangzhou Office from 1998 to 2009 and Chicago Office
from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Liu provided audit and consulting services
to a number of global top 500 enterprises and overseas listed
Chinese companies during his tenure of office in PwC. Mr. Liu was
appointed as an executive director and the chief financial officer of
the Landsea Green Properties Co., Ltd., a listed company on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 106) from 31 July
2013 to 5 January 2015 and was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Long Ji Tai He Holding Limited a listed company
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1281) from
26 February 2015 to 16 October 2015. Currently, Mr. Liu is the
managing partner of Key Wealth Capital Company Limited, providing
financing and overseas mergers and acquisition services to Chinese
enterprises.
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Mr. Wong Shui Yeung, age 45, is the Chief Financial Officer of the
Group responsible for the financial and management reporting of the
Group.

Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in public accounting,
taxation, and financial consultancy and management in Hong Kong.
He had worked with an international accounting firm prior to joining
the Group in 2001. He was previously also the Chief Financial Officer
of SingHaiyi Group Ltd.

Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration
and is currently practicing as a certified public accountant in Hong
Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute.

Mr. Yuen Ping Man, age 52, is the joint Company Secretary and
the Chief Operating Officer (Hong Kong) responsible for the Group’s
corporate secretarial functions and business operations.

Mr. Yuen has over 20 years of managerial experience in corporate
secretarial, business development, human resources and general
administration. Mr. Yuen was previously the Chief Operating Officer
of Xpress Finance Limited (“Xpress Finance”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company responsible for compliance, human
resource, operations, sales and marketing, customer service and
general administration of Xpress Finance. Prior to joining Xpress
Finance in June 1997, Mr. Yuen worked in two listed groups and a
financial institution.

Mr. Yuen is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators (U.K.) and of the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries, a senior member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Marketing, a professional member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Human Resource Management, a member of the Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute, the Chartered Institute of
Marketing (U.K.), the Hong Kong Institute of Purchasing & Supply
and Society of Registered Financial Planners.

Mr. Yuen holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration and is
also a certified risk planner.
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United States Management

Mr. Jeffrey Busch, age 58, is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group’s 85%-owned U.S. subsidiary, Inter-American Group Holdings
Inc. (“IA Group”), and oversees all of IA Group’s REIT management
and real estate activities in the United States.

Mr. Busch has more than two decades of real estate experience as
a developer, manager and investor, and has held senior positions
representing the U.S. government — he was appointed by two U.S.
Presidents to serve in senior administration capacities, including
Assistant Secretary of the U.S. Housing and Urban Development
(“HUD”) agency, and as U.S. Ambassador to the United Nations in
Geneva, Switzerland. At HUD, Mr. Busch oversaw an annual budget
of over US$3 billion used to develop housing and commercial real
estate.

As a principal investor, Mr. Busch has developed properties valued
at hundreds of millions of U.S. dollars in various real estate asset
classes, including large-scale residential, commercial, hospitality, and
retail projects.

Mr. Busch is a graduate of the New York University Stern School
of Business, holds a Master of Public Administration from New
York University, and also a Doctor of Jurist Prudence from Emory
University.

Mr. David Young, age 68, is the Chief Executive Officer of ZH’s
99.5%-owned U.S. REIT subsidiary, Global Medical REIT Inc. He
spearheads GMR’s business strategies and manages its healthcare-
related asset portfolio.

Mr. Young has over 25 years of experience in the healthcare real
estate industry. He was the founder and CEO of Global Medical
Realty trust, a medical facility developer and owner focused on
sponsored development and equity lease financing of market-leading
healthcare real estate. Mr. Young was also Senior Vice President
of Business Development for General Electric Capital from 2004 to
2008, spearheading the co-launch and growth of GE’s first acute
medical real estate financing initiative.

Mr. Young has an excellent track record in developing successful
New York Stock Exchange-listed healthcare REITs including
Windrose Medical Properties, the core assets of which Mr. Young
grew from start-up to over US$500 million. He also grew the portfolio
of Healthcare Property Investors Inc. from US$300 million to over
US$3.5 billion, delivering an internal rate of return of 23% per annum
over his ten year tenure.

Mr. Young graduated from the University of lowa with a Bachelor
of Science in Microbiology, and holds a Masters in Business
Administration from Suffolk University’s Sawyer School of
Management.
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Mr. Don McClure, age 48, is the Chief Financial Officer of IA
Group, and is responsible for IA Group’s financial planning and risk-
management in the United States.

Mr. McClure is a real estate business professional, leader, trainer,
advisor and entrepreneur. His work experience covers many
functional areas of finance and accounting, including policy and
procedure development, compliance, internal controls, and
acquisition due diligence. His core real estate business experience
covers residential, office, retail, medical office and industrial asset
classes, as well as ground-up development projects. Mr. McClure is
also well-versed in housing and urban development, tax credit, bond
deals, condominium and home owner’s association issues, and has
extensive experience in operational business development creating
policy and procedures specific to REIT compliance to prevent fraud
and material errors.

Prior to his appointment in IA Group, Mr. McClure served as the
Accounting Manager of Washington Real Estate Investment Trust
(NYSE/WRE), the oldest REIT in the country, with an established
track record of consecutive dividend distributions. He also served
as the Chief Financial Officer/Controller of Quantum Real Estate
Management, an organization of over 140 employees. Mr. McClure
brings experience working with the “Big Four” accounting firms, along
with many local firms, having been engaged in over 300 client-side
quarterly, interim and year-end audits.

Mr. McClure holds a Bachelor of Science in Finance from North
Carolina A&T State University, and a Masters of Business
Administration from Keller School of Management.

Mr. Conn Flanigan, age 48, is the In-house Counsel of IA Group.
He first joined ZH in 2000, serving as General Counsel and Secretary
with several of its U.S. subsidiaries.

Mr. Flanigan provides advisory services on all corporate and
securities matters, including corporate finance and structure, debt
and equity offerings, and securities compliance. He also negotiates,
drafts, and oversees the companies’ transactions.

Prior to his appointment in ZH, Mr. Flanigan held senior positions and
provided legal advice in corporate finance, corporate acquisitions,
securities law, contracts, intellectual property and employment law to
numerous companies in the U.S. such as MediaOne Group, Inc., US
WEST, Inc., and Tele-Communications, Inc.

Mr. Flanigan received a B.A. in International Relations from the

University of San Diego in 1990 and a Juris Doctor Degree from the
University of Denver Sturm College of Law in 1996.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited
financial statements of the Company for the nine months ended
31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company and
provides corporate management services to its subsidiaries.
The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
venture are set out in Notes 41, 15 and 16 respectively to the
financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the nine months ended 31
December 2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 60.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Details of the major properties of the Group at 31 December
2015 are set out on page 171.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 170.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE PERIOD

Details of shares issued by the Company during the nine
months ended 31 December 2015 are set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2015
amounted to approximately HK$190.4 million (31 March
2015: 93.9 million).

Movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 64.
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Directors of the Company

The directors of the Company for the nine month ended
31 December 2015 and present directors were/are:

Executive directors:

Zhang Jingguo (appointed on 6 July 2015)
Zhang Guogqiang (appointed on 27 July 2015)
Eric Jackson Chang  (appointed on 27 July 2015)
Chan Heng Fai (resigned on 27 July 2015)
Chan Tong Wan (resigned on 27 July 2015)
Chan Yoke Keow (resigned on 27 July 2015)

Non-executive directors:

Huang Yanping (appointed on 27 July 2015)
Fong Kwok Jen (resigned on 27 July 2015)
Lam, Lee G. (resigned on 27 July 2015)

Independent non-executive directors:

Liu Qiao (appointed on 27 July 2015)
Liu Da (appointed on 27 July 20135)
Ma Yuntao (appointed on 27 July 2015)
Chan King Fai (resigned on 27 July 2015)
Wong Dor Luk, Peter (resigned on 27 July 2015)
Wong Tat Keung (resigned on 27 July 2015)

Alternate director:

Wooldridge Mark
Dean (alternate to
Fong Kwok Jen)

(resigned on 27 July 2015)

In accordance with Articles 78 and 79 of the Company’s
Articles of Association and pursuant to code provision
A.4.2 of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Zhang
Guogiang and Mr. Liu Da will retire by rotation at the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
23 June 2016 (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for reelection. Details of the directors to be
re-elected at the AGM are set out in the circular to the
shareholders sent together with this Annual Report.
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(b)

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company considers that all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which are not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation other
than normal statutory obligations.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out on pages
16 to 21.

Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries

The directors of subsidiary undertakings included in the
annual consolidated financial statements of the Company
during the period and until the date of this report were:

Chan Heng Fai (resigned effective on 6 July 2015)
Chan Tong Wan (resigned effective on 6 July 2015)
Chan Tung Moe (resigned effective on 6 July 2015)
Chan Yoke Keow (resigned effective on 6 July 2015)

Conn Flanigan
David A. Young

Eric Jackson Chang (appointed on 6 July 2015)

Henry Cole (appointed on 19 August 2015)

Huang Yanping (appointed on 6 July 2015)

Jeffrey Busch

Justin Lim Sheng (appointed on 6 July 2015)
Hwei

Qin Yufei appointed on 6 July 2015)

Ronald Marston
Roscoe Moore
Yuen Ping Man
Zhang Huiqi
Zhang Jingguo

appointed on 19 August 2015)
appointed on 19 August 2015)
resigned effective on 6 July 2015)
appointed on 6 July 2015)
appointed on 6 July 2015)

(b)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 20135, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or any interest or short positions which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein, or pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”), or any interests or short positions which have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

Long positions

(a)  Ordinary shares of the Company

Name of director

EEMR EEERESD

Mr. Zhang Jingguo
SRAR R 5 A4

Spousal Interest (Note 2)
A B (frat2)

Ms. Huang Yanping

Huang Yanping# & Ryt EEER (AT
Notes:
(1) These shares are owned by Joy Town Inc, which is wholly

and beneficially owned by Ms. Huang Yanping.

(2) Mr. Zhang Jingguo (chairman, chief executive officer
and executive Director of the Company) is the spouse
of Ms. Huang Yanping, he is deemed to be interested in
3,579,612,209 Shares.
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Capacity in which interests are held

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)
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Approximate

percentage of

the issued

Number of share capital of

shares held the Company %

KGR R R E BT

FRERHEE BRABD (%)

3,579,612,209 66.52

3,579,612,209 66.52

Mt -

(1) ZZ 5 AHuang YanpingZ +2 & Bk A 2 Joy Town Inc.

BE -
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Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The remuneration of the Directors is disclosed on an individual
named basis in Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

During the nine months ended 31 December 2013, the relevant
information of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group is disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the related party transactions, certain of which also
constitute connected transactions under the Listing Rules
disclosed below, during the year are set out in notes 10A and
39 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than as disclosed above, no contracts of significance to
which the Company, its holding company, fellow subsidiaries
or subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the period or at any time during the
period.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 20135, according to the register of interest
in Shares and underlying Shares and short positions kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far
as is known to or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiries
by the Directors, the persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who were directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company are as follows:

FERR

RIB-RAF+-A=+—H REBEAQFERES ALK
FE336MHFEZR N RABROEERRERM - URIBES
BRIFTASMEL S IR EREAET - BEESHEREARFK
I RABERMDS %A LR 2 AL (EERARBEZRTHAE
BRIMNIAT -

Name Nature of interest Number of shares %

=18 FERME RBEE %

Joy Town Inc. Beneficial owner (Note 1) 3,579,612,209 66.52
BEnEB A7)

Chan Heng Fai Beneficial owner (Note 2) 322,580,166 5.99

GER BB AMi72)

Chan Yoke Keow Beneficial owner (Note 2) 322,580,166 5.99

BREIE BB AMi72)

Note: st -

1. Ms. Huang Yanping is the sole director and shareholder of Joy 1. Huang YanpingZ + AJoy Town Inc. Z M —EEKIRF ©

Town Inc.
2. These shares are owned by Chan Heng Fai and Chow Yoke Keow. 2. ZERNEREBERREBES - REBRAREB ZEB - BERE

Chan Heng Fai is the spouse of Chan Yoke Keow, they are deemed
interest in the Shares held by each other.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, no person
other than the Directors whose interests are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests
and short positions in Shares and underlying Shares and
debentures” above, had registered an interest of 5% or more
in the issued share capital of the Company, and short positions
in the shares and underlying shares that was required to be
recorded in the register of interest pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2015, none of the Directors was interested
in any business, which competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses except
that Mr. Zhang and Ms. Huang are interested in Henan
Zensun Real Estate Co., Ltd and/or its subsidiaries/associated
companies which are engaged in construction, property
development and related business in the PRC.

As the Board of Directors of the Company is independent of
the boards of these companies, the Company has therefore been
capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at
arm’s length from, the above businesses.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the nine months ended 31 December 20135, the aggregate
amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 29.8% of the Group’s total turnover.

In addition, the nature of the activities of the Group is such
that no major supplier contributed significantly to the Group’s
purchase.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) or any shareholder who to the
knowledge of the Directors owned 5.0% or more of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2015 held any
interest in any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the
Group.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes for the employees of
the Group are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company had not redeemed any of its listed securities
during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Detailed information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
contained in pages 43 to 57 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date of prior to the issue of this
annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Our business

The Company was founded in 1965, with business focus on
property development, property investment and trading, hotel
operations and securities trading and investment. For the details
of the major properties, please refer to Particulars of Major
Properties section on page 171.

(a)  Property development in the PRC

During the Period, the Group has two property
development projects under development, one is located
at the northwest region of Zhengzhou City with a site
area of 34,439 sq.m. and a permitted plot ratio between
1.0 and 2.0 and the other is located at the Economic
and Technological Development Zone of Zhengzhou
City with a site area of approximately 48,000 sq.m.
and has a gross floor area of approximately 296,000
sq.m. It is expected that the projects will be completed
at the last quarter of 2017 and first quarter of 2018
respectively. Pre-sales for certain blocks of the projects
were commenced with revenue recognized up until 2018.
During the Period, no revenue is recognized and recorded
a sale and marketing expenses of HK$5.5 million.
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Hotels operations

The revenue of the hotel operation division was
approximately HK$5.1 million for the Period (2014/15:
HK$6.7 million). The segment loss of approximately
HK$0.8 million (2014/15: HK$4.7 million).

Securities Trading and Investment

During the Period, the Group’s securities business
recorded a revenue of HK$1.5 million and an operating
profit of approximately HK$1.2 million (2014/15:
HK$6.4 million and HK$16.4 million), mainly due to
the reduction in securities portfolio in responses to the
stock market decline during the Period.

Property Investment and Management in the USA by
American Housing REIT, Inc. (“AHR”) and Global
Medical REIT, Inc. (“GMR”)

The property investment and management in the USA
by AHR and GMR division contributed revenues of
approximately HK$26.2 million (2014/15: HK$30.4
million) and operating loss of approximately HK$13.1
million (2014/15: HK$3.1 million) to the Group,
including a fair value gain on investment properties
of approximately HK$1.3 million (2014/15: HK$4.4
million).

Property Investment other than AHR and GMR

The property investment other than AHR and GMR
division contributed revenues of approximately HK$10.8
million (2014/15: HK$17.0 million) and operating loss
of approximately HK$5.8 million (2014/15: operating
profit of HK$9.4 million) to the Group, including a fair
value loss on investment properties of approximately
HK$11.8 million (2014/15: fair value gain of HK$2.6
million).

Other Investments

As at 31 December 20135, the Group held approximately
22% voting rights of the issued share capital in RSI
International Systems Inc. (“RSI”), a company listed
on the TSX Venture Exchange of Canada. During the
Period, the Group shared RSI’s loss of approximately
HK$0.06 million and recognized an impairment loss of
HK$2.5 million.
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COMPETITION

Competition in property development market is keen. We
compete with other property developers in the PRC, some of
which may have better track records and market reputation,
more financial or other resources and experiences than us. We
compete with other property developers in acquisition of land
for development and to attracting customers.

Competition in property market is keen. We compete with
other landlords in terms of rent charge, quality of service and
efficiency. We compete with other landlords to attracting
customers.

Competition in the office leasing market is intense. Our
competitors are commercial real estate landlords particularly
those with properties near our properties. Such intensed
competition includes factors like location and rent. This
competition could have a material adverse effect on our ability
to lease space and on the amount of rent that we receive.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group reported revenue of HK$44.0 million and gross
profit of HK$29.8 million for the nine month ended 31
December 2015 (“Period”) (2014/15: HK$60.7 million and
HK$45.3 million). The revenue and gross profit were mainly
derived from the property investment business. Other gains and
losses, mainly the bargain purchase arising from acquisition of
equity interest in Vigor Capital Holdings Limited, decrease in
fair value of investment properties, impairment loss recognized
in respect of interest in an associate, impairment loss recognised
in respect of amounts due from an investee and exchange loss,
was net gain at HK$29.8 million in the period. Administrative
expenses was HK$60.3 million for the Period as compared
with HK$99.4 million last year, mainly due to reduction in
staff costs (including directors’ emolument) and legal and
professional fees in relation to secondary listing and other
prospective fund raising exercises in the previous financial year.
The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Period
was approximately HK$19.7 million (2014/15: HK$54.9
million).

The basic loss per share for the Period was HK0.47 cent as
compared to HK1.42 cents in the previous year.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

On 22 April 2015, the Company completed an open offer of
one share of the Company for every ten existing shares. Gross
proceeds amounting to approximately HK$36.6 million were
raised for the Group’s operating cash flow purpose.

As at 31 December 2015, the total equity of the Group
was approximately HK$1,091.6 million (31 March 20135:
HK$739.3 million) and the Group had bank balances and cash,
restricted bank balances and pledged bank deposits amounting
to approximately HK$244.2 million (31 March 2015:
HK$111.8 million) mainly denominated in U.S. dollars, Hong
Kong dollars, Renminbi, Singapore dollars and Japanese Yen.
The increase of total borrowings to approximately HK$942.5
million (31 March 2015: HK$400.3 million) was mainly due to
the loans from the related parties and amounts due to related
parties and bank financing for the acquisition of medical
facilities under GMR in the USA and the property development
projects in the PRC during the Period. The borrowings were
mainly denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars, Hong
Kong dollars and Singapore dollars. As at 31 December 2015,
the Group recorded a current ratio of 1.6 (31 March 2015: 1.2)
and gearing ratio of 31.9% (31 March 2015: 24.7%). Gearing
ratio is defined as the ratio of total borrowings less bank
balances and cash and pledged bank deposits to total assets.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals for Material Investments

(a)  On 14 April 20135, Expats Residences Pte Ltd. (“Expats”)
has entered into an option to purchase agreement
with an individual third party buyer, pursuant to
which Expats has agreed to offer to sell to the buyer a
residential unit located at 40 Dakota Crescent #09-13
Singapore 399939 for a consideration of $$2,530,000.
The offer was accepted by the buyer on 29 April 2015
and completed in July 2015;

(b)  On 3 August 2015, GMR entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Associates Properties, LP
(supplemented on 4 September 2015), pursuant to
which GMR has agreed to acquire and the vendor has
agreed to dispose of, an office/surgery centre named as
West Mifflin Office and Surgery Center located at 9970
Mountain View Drive, West Mifflin, Pennsylvania,
United States for a purchase price of US$10.75 million.
The acquisition was completed on 25 September 2015;

Annual Report 2015
“R-REFEER

MBEERELHKR

RIZ-RAFHA-+T B ARBEKREFHE+RREMMNE
BBARRRNDZ AREE - PISFUAEREL36,600,000/87C
SEFEAEEEERTRARE

RZE—RAFE+-AZ+—8B FAEBMZESLEDNAE
1,091,600,000 L (ZE—HF=A=+—H : 739,300,000
B AEBZEBTEHERS  IRFBITEHRRBER
RATE AL 5244,200,0008 L (ZE—FHF=A=+—H :
111,800,000 7T) * EBLASETT ~ #Hor - AR ~ FrinsT kB
EFI{E - BIEEE E49942,500,0008 T( —E—RAF=A=1+—
H : 400,300,000 7C) « EE2HMRERREBEEA T 2 ERKLIE
R AT FIBA R BERBGMRAER Z B&E Rk LR F
BRYEBREE ZRITHE - BEEXEUARE - X1 - AL
M THE - RZE—AF+-A=1+—8 ' AEEZR&
AL ZE—RAF=A=+—H :1.2) - EEBELXAA
31.9%(ZT—RFE=ZA=+—H : 24.7%) - EEBBLEXTE
AEEERBITAESBERSUREEIFRTEREHEELEZ
LR o

FHEARECEAUWERHE

(a) RZZT—RAFMHA+MA * Expats Residences Pte Ltd.
([Expats )i —RE=F(EEEFFI L HRBEHZ B
It Expats@ = AR(E2,530,0008 I tAE FiIREHE
IR FT N340 Dakota Crescent #09-13 (& 4% : 399939) 2
FEEEM BEAR_ZT—HAFNA-THAEIRKRELR
ZE-RAFtAXKBESIE

(b) RZZF—HF/\A=H - GMREiAssociates Properties, LP
AIVEERHE(R-ZZE—RAFNAMNBHET) - Bt - GMR
EREWEEEHEREHEMLNI970 Mountain View
Drive, West Mifflin, Pennsylvania, United States7 & West
Mifflin Office and Surgery CentreZ B/&E &1 - WEEER

10,750,000 7T - WBEER—T—RFENA-THBR

o



ZH International Holdings Limited

EEREERERAE

Report of the Directors
BEEEREE

(c)  On 30 September 2015, GMR entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Star MedReal, LLC, pursuant
to which GMR has agreed to acquire and the vendor has
agreed to dispose of, a hospital named as Star Medical
Center Hospital located at 4100 Mapleshade Lane,
Plano, Texas 75075, United States for a purchase price
of US$17.5 million. The acquisition was completed in
January 2016;

(d)  On 2 October 2015, the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with Ms. Huang Yanping (“Ms.
Huang”), pursuant to which Ms. Huang has agreed to
dispose of and the Company has agreed to acquire of
the entire interest in Vigor Capital Holdings Limited,
which indirectly held a property development project in
the PRC for a consideration of HK$405 million to be
satisfied by issuing of 1,350,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company to Ms. Huang’s nominee, Joy Town Inc..
The acquisition was completed on 24 November 2015;

() On 6 October 2015, GMR entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with R&K Healthcare Real Estate,
LLC., pursuant to which GMR has agreed to acquire and
the vendor has agreed to dispose of, a hospital named as
Crescent Medical Centre located at 2600 West Pleasant
Run Road, Lancaster, Texas 75146, United States, for a
purchase price of US$20.5 million. The acquisition was
subsequently lapsed.

(f) On 14 December, 2015, GMR entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with 6 sellers, pursuant to which
GMR has agreed to acquire and the sellers have agreed
to dispose of, a six building, 52,266 square foot medical
clinic portfolio for a purchase price of US$20.0 million.
Five of the facilities are located in Tennessee and one
facility is located in Mississippi. The acquisition was
completed on 31 December 2015.

Capital Commitments

At 31 December 2015, the Group had contracted but not
provided for commitments of acquisition of two investment
properties amounting to approximately HK$294.5 million (31
March 2015: HK$8.3 million). One of which amounting to
approximately HK$135.6 million was completed in January
2016 and the other amounting to approximately HK$158.9
million was lapsed subsequent to the end of the reporting
period.
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COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

Due to the nature of the business of the Group, the Directors
are of the opinion that no specific laws and regulations related
to environmental protection has significant impact on the
operations of the Group.

RELATION WITH EMPLOYEE, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

Remuneration packages are generally structured with reference
to prevailing market terms and individual qualifications.
Salaries and wages are normally reviewed on an annual basis
based on performance appraisals and other relevant factors.
Apart from salary payments, there are other staff benefits
including mandatory provident fund, medical insurance and
performance related bonus. Share options may also be granted
to eligible employees of the Group.

Relationship is the fundamentals of business. The Group fully
understand this principal and thus maintain close relationship
with the customer to fulfil their immediate and long-term need.

Due to the nature of the business, the Group didn’t have any
major supplier that has significant influence on the operations.
However, the Group strived to maintain fair and co-operating
relationship with the suppliers.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND SERVICES AND
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of
its businesses and the communities with which it engages.
We pursue this business approach by managing our business
prudently and executing management decisions with due care
and attention.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Continuous dialogue is maintained with stakeholders that
include customers, employees, regulators and the public. The
Company seeks to balance the views and interests of these
various stakeholders through constructive conversations with
a view to charting a course for the long-term prosperity of the
Company and the communities we touch.
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Customers

Customer feedback plays a very important role in the operation
of the Group. Various channels are established to maintain
interactive communications between tenants and the Group.

Employees

Hard-working and dedicated employees are the backbone of a
company. The Company treasures its loyal and industrious staff
members. In addition, it adopts non-discriminatory hiring and
employment practices and strives to provide a safe and healthy
workplace.

Government/Community

We recognise the importance of contributing within the local
community and we encourage our people to develop close
links with charities, schools and other institutions, both locally
and nationally, to help to build more economically sustainable
local environments. Strenuous efforts are exerted to ensure
compliance with the laws and regulations of the jurisdictions in
which the Company operates.

WORKPLACE QUALITY

As at 31 December 20135, the Group employed 43 staff
members. Total employee costs for the nine months ended 31
December 2015, including directors’ emoluments, amounted to
HK$21.4 million.

The Group is committed to equal opportunities and operates
employment policies which are designed to attract, retain and
motivate high quality staff, regardless of sex, age, race, religion
or disability. Our employees are instrumental to our ongoing
success and profitability. With this in mind, the Company
seeks to attract and retain talented individuals committed to
achieving goals and objectives in a work environment that
nurtures values such as fair play, respect and integrity. Heavy
emphasis on career development translates into extensive
and ongoing training, according to the needs of the Group.
Compensation packages are competitive, and individuals are
rewarded according to performance plus an annually reviewed
framework of salary, working conditions, bonuses and incentive
systems. Benefits include medical cover, provident funds and
long-service awards.
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The Group is committed to providing a healthy and safe
workplace for all its employees and complying with all
applicable health and safety laws and regulations. The Group
also communicates with its employees on occupational health
and safety issues.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to acting in an environmentally
responsible manner. Recycling and use of eco-friendly
stationery, plus a series of measures to save paper and energy,
resulted in more efficient use of resources, as well as reduction
of waste.

OPERATING PRACTICES

The Group is committed to adhering to the highest ethical
standards. All employees are given a Code of Conduct to which
they are required to adhere. The Code explicitly prohibits
employees from soliciting, accepting or offering bribes or
any form of advantage. The Code also outlines the Group’s
expectations on staff with regard to conflicts of interest.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(i) Property investment

The valuation and accounting treatment of investment
properties could result in future asset impairments,
which would be recorded as operating losses. Valuation
of investment properties was done by valuers at year
ended and any surplus/deficiency was recorded as
fair value gain/loss in the statement of profit and loss
and other comprehensive income. Market value of
investment properties could be affected by a number of
factors, such as property market condition, interest rate,
political environment, etc. The fair value gain/loss could
significantly affect the profit for the year of the Group.

The rental rate and occupancy rate of the Group’s
investment properties may not be satisfactory. This
could adversely affect the profitability of the Group. The
directors will closely monitor the market development
and adjust the operating strategy if required.
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(i)

(11)
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Treasury investment

For the treasury investment business, the fluctuation
in stock price of the portfolio of listed securities could
significantly affect the profitability of the Group.
According to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard, the gain/loss on the listed securities should
be booked as fair value gain/loss on investment held
for trading in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, no matter whether the securities
were disposed or not. Therefore the fluctuation in
stock price could have positive or negative effect on the
Group’s profitability. The directors will closely monitor
the stock market and make change to the investment
portfolio in order to maximize the shareholders return.

The Group also subjected to credit risk of customer from
property investments business. The property leasing have
the potential risk of default.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are
denominated substantially in Singapore dollars, Hong
Kong dollars, U.S. dollars, Renminbi and Japanese Yen.
Due to the currency peg of the Hong Kong dollar to
the U.S. dollar, the exchange rate between these two
currencies has remained stable and thus the Group has
not implemented any hedging or other alternatives.
Going forward, the Group may formulate a foreign
currency hedging policy to provide a reasonable margin
of safety for its exposure to Japanese Yen, Renminbi
and Singapore dollars through transactions, assets and
liabilities.

Risk associated with financial instruments of the group
There are certain risks associated with the financial
instruments of the Group. Details of the risks policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Details of the key sources of estimation uncertainty
as at 31 December 2015 are set out in Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(i)

(iii)
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Report of the Directors
BEEEREE

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE YEAR END
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,

(i) the Group has entered into two agreements to acquire
two investment properties located in the USA for an
aggregate consideration of approximately US$20.2
million; and

(i)  the Group has converted US$15 million of principal
under the convertible debenture of GMR into 1,176,656
shares in GMR’s common stock and increased the equity
interest in GMR from 99.5% to 99.9%.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on 23 June 2016 and the notice of
the AGM will be published and despatched in the manner as
required by the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association of
the Company in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining Shareholders who are entitled
to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 21 June 2016 to
Thursday, 23 June 2016, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company should ensure
that all transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant Share
certificates and appropriate transfer forms must be lodged with
the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Friendly
Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 20 June 2016.
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BEEEREE

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
ZHANG JINGGUO
Chairman, Executive Director

and Chief Executive Officer

30 March 2016
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Corporate Governance Report

TEERBRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and senior management of the Company maintain
a high standard of corporate governance, formulate good
corporate governance practice to improve accountability and
transparency in operations, and strengthen the internal control
system of the Group from time to time so as to cope with the
expectations of the Shareholders.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all code provisions and, where applicable, the recommended
best practices of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) throughout the nine month ended
31 December 2015 (the “Period”), with the exception that
the roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company have not been segregated as required by code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Company is of the view
that it is in the best interest of the Company that Mr. Zhang
Jingguo, with his profound expertise in the property business,
shall continue in his dual capacity as the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and in discharging
its corporate accountability, every Director is required to
pursue excellence in the interests of the Shareholders and fulfill
his fiduciary duties by applying the required level of skills, care
and diligence to a standard in accordance with the statutory
requirements.

Board Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for formulating group policies and
business directions, and monitoring internal controls and
performances. The executive Directors are delegated with the
responsibilities of the day-to-day management of the Group
and making operational and business decisions within the
control of and delegation framework of the Group. The non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) contribute valuable views and proposals for the
Board’s deliberation and decisions.
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The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance
functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(i)  reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(v)  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

The Board has delegated some of its functions to the board
committees, details of which are set out below. Matters
specifically reserved to the Board including appointment of new
Directors, approval of financial statements, dividend policy,
significant accounting policies, material contracts, significant
appointments such as company secretary and external auditors,
terms of reference of board committees, as well as major
corporate policies such as code of conduct.

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 20135, the Board had a total number of
seven Directors including three executive Directors, one non-
executive Director (“NED”) and three independent non-
executive Directors (“INEDs”). Biographies of the Directors
are set out in the section headed “Directors & Management
Profile”.

Mr. Zhang Jingguo is the chairman and chief executive officer
of the Board (the “Chairman”). He is primarily responsible for
leadership and effective functioning of the Board, ensuring key
issues are promptly addressed by the Board, as well as providing
strategic direction of the Group, take primary responsibility for
ensuring good corporate governance practices and procedures
are established and also together with other executive Directors
are responsible for the Company’s daily operations and the
effective implementation of corporate strategy and policies.
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Executive Directors

As at 31 December 20135, there were three executive Directors
including Mr. Zhang Jingguo, Mr. Zhang Guogiang and Mr.
Eric Jackson Chang. Mr. Zhang Jingguo is the spouse of Ms.
Huang Yanping.

Non-executive Director
As at 31 December 2015 there was one NED, Ms. Huang
Yanping. Ms. Huang is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Jingguo.

Independent Non-executive Directors and their Independence
As at 31 December 20135, there were three INEDs including Dr.
Liu Qiao, Mr. Liu Da and Mr. Ma Yuntao.

The Company has appointed a sufficient number of INEDs in
accordance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
With Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Liu Da’s working experience
and their academic background in finance and accounting,
the Company considers that they are qualified persons with
appropriate professional knowledge in accounting and finance
as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has already received annual confirmation
letters of independence from all the INEDs and each of them
have declared fulfillment of all the guidelines for assessing
independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the Board considers that all INEDs are
independent as defined in the Listing Rules.

All the Directors, including the INEDs, have entered into
service agreements with the Company under which all Directors
must retire by rotation at least once every three years, and no
Director shall hold office for a continuous period in excess of
three years, or past the third annual general meeting, following
the Director’s appointment or re-election, whichever is longer,
without submitting himself/herself for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

Board Committees

The Board has set up the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and investment committee to deal with different
businesses and matters. Details of the board committees are
discussed below.
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Attendance of Board Meetings and Board Committee Meetings

During the Period, details of the Directors’ attendance in the
following meetings are set out below:

Directors

B=

Mr. Zhang Jingguo®
SRAE S e

Mr. Zhang Guogiang?*
O B 5 58 A

Mr. Eric Jackson Chang#
SRIEE S A

Mr. Chan Heng Fai*
BRIE 8 S A *

Mr. Chan Tong Wan*
BRATE £

Ms. Chan Yoke Keow*
PR E B2 £~

NED

FRTER

Ms. Huang Yanping*
Huang Yanping2Z L£#
Mr. Fong Kwok Jen*
B 4 5 A=

Dr. Lam, Lee G.*

[ ER ]

INEDs

BWIIFNITES

Dr. Liu Qiao*
ZIHtE L

Mr. Liu Da*

BliES A

Mr. Ma Yuntao*
BER L

Mr. Chan King Fai*

PR AR 5 A

Mr. Wong Dor Luk, Peter*
EHREE

Mr. Wong Tat Keung*
EERSEL

e appointed on 6 July 2015

# appointed on 27 July 2015

* resigned on 27 July 2015

There was no Investment Committee meeting held during the
Period.

Note:
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy
and structure and remuneration packages of the Directors
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee is
also responsible for establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no Director or any of his associates will participate
in deciding his own remuneration, which remuneration
will be determined by reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions. The human resources department is responsible
for collection and administration of the human resources
data for the Remuneration Committee’s for consideration.
The Remuneration Committee recommends the Board about
remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages.

As at 31 December 2015, the Remuneration Committee
comprised of three members, namely, Mr. Zhang Jingguo,
Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Ma Yuntao. Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Ma
Yuntao are INEDs while Mr. Zhang Jingguo is an executive
Director. Mr. Ma Yuntao is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The most up-to-date version of the written terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Period, two Remuneration Committee meetings
were held. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed and
approved the remuneration of Executive Directors and Non-
executive Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing and
monitoring the financial control, internal control and risk
management systems, including reassessment of the financial
and accounting policies, review of interim reports, annual
reports and financial statements, etc. In addition, the Audit
Committee is responsible for the recommendations to the
Board, to be put to Shareholders for approval at the annual
general meeting (“AGM?”), in relation to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor, and for reporting
to the Board on the recommendation, review and supervision
of the external auditor in respect of its independence
and objectivity, the effectiveness of the audit procedures,
formulation of policies on the provision of non-audit services
by the external auditor, the handling of any issues related to the
resignation of auditor or the removal of such auditor and the
communication with the external auditor on auditing matters.

As at 31 December 2015, the Audit Committee comprised of
three members, namely, Mr. Liu Da, Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Ma
Yuntao who all are INEDs. Mr. Liu Da is the chairman of the
Audit Committee. The most up-to-date version of the written
terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Period, two Audit Committee meetings were held.
The Audit Committee had performed the followings:

(i) reviewed the financial reports for the year ended 31
March 2015 and for the six months ended 30 September
2015;

(i)  reviewed the effectiveness of internal control system;

(iii)  reviewed the external auditor’s audit findings;

(iv)  reviewed the auditor’s remuneration;

(v)  reviewed all non-audit services provided by the auditors
to determine the provision of such services would affect

the independence of the auditors; and

(vi) performed the corporate governance functions and
reviewed the corporate governance policies and practices.
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After due and careful consideration of reports from
management and the external auditors, the Audit Committee
noted that no suspected fraud or irregularities, significant
internal control deficiencies, or suspected infringement of laws,
rules, or regulations had been found in respect of the Group,
and concluded at the meeting held on 30 March 2016 that the
internal control system was adequate and effective.

On 30 March 2016, the Audit Committee met to review the
Group’s nine months ended 31 December 2015 consolidated
financial statements, including the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, in conjunction with the
Company’s external auditor. The Audit Committee endorsed
the accounting treatment adopted by the Company, and the
Audit Committee had to the best of its ability assured itself that
the disclosure of the financial information in the Annual Report
2015 complied with the applicable accounting standards
and Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
therefore resolved to recommend for the Board’s approval the
consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended 31
December 2015.

The Audit Committee also recommended to the Board the re-
appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the
Company and that the relevant resolution shall be put forth for
shareholders’ consideration and approval at the AGM.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the Board’s structure, size, diversity and composition regularly
and make any changes to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, including making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
policy.

As at 31 December 2015, the Nomination Committee
comprised of three members, namely, Mr. Zhang Jingguo, Dr.
Liu Qiao and Mr. Liu Da. Mr. Zhang Jingguo is an executive
Director while Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Liu Da are INEDs. Dr.
Liu Qiao is the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The
most up-to-date version of the written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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During the Period, one Nomination Committee meeting was
held. The Board had recommended the appointment of Mr.
Zhang Jingguo as an executive director, chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company and to retire, and
being eligible, offered himself for re-election in the 2015 AGM
pursuant to Articles 78 and 79 of the Articles of Association
and A.4.2 of the Code Provisions.

Under Article 79 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM,
one-quarter of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of four, the number nearest to one-
fourth) shall retire from office by rotation. According to Article
83 of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy or by way of addition to their
number shall hold office only until the next following AGM,
and shall then be eligible for re-appointment. Every Director
shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years by
rotation or offers himself for re-election.

The Company has established a policy concerning diversity of
Board members (“Board Diversity Policy”) and has made it
available on the Company’s website.

In the Board Diversity Policy, the Company recognises
diversity of talents in the Board shall enhance the quality of its
performance and sees diversity in talents at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. The Nomination
Committee has primary responsibility for identifying suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board and, in
carrying out this responsibility, will give adequate consideration
to this Policy. The Nomination Committee will review this
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of this Policy.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board
for consideration and approval.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

In November 2014, the Board has established the Investment
Committee which is mainly responsible for the setting up of a
policy to guide the Company’s investments to maximize return
on the Company’s cash reserves having regard to the risks
involved.
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After the resignations of Mr. Chan Heng Fai, Mr. Chan Tong
Wan, Dr. Lam Lee G. and Mr. Fong Kwok Jen, the Investment
Committee of the Company had no remaining member.
After having regard to the main functions of the Investment
Committee, which are advisory and non-binding, to oversee the
investment transactions of the Group, including the review and
assessment of existing and/or future investment projects and to
advise the Board when it decides on an investment, the Board
considered that it would be in a position to assume effectively
without the Investment Committee with respect to the
investments of the Group. Accordingly, the Board has decided
to abolish the Investment Committee on 27 July 20135.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code
of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiries with all the Directors
and all the Directors confirm that they have compiled with the
standards required by the Model Code during the Period.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a Director
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company. Directors are continually updated with regulatory
and governance developments.

All the Directors attended training and provided with written
materials on the amendments to or updates on the relevant
laws, rules and regulations of Hong Kong, including the
Listing Rules. In addition, all the Directors are offered with
professional development courses and seminars to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. All the Directors have
confirmed in writing that they have fulfilled on continuous
professional development during the Period and up to the date
of this annual report by means of reading materials, attended
or received training materials on seminars.
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REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS FOR DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For NEDs including INEDs, their remuneration paid to each
of them is a basic fee only. Apart from basic salaries, executive
Directors are also entitled to discretionary year-end bonus,
depending on the market conditions, performance of the
enterprise and individual person during the year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITING

Financial Reporting

The annual and interim results of the Company are published
in a timely manner, within three months and two months
respectively of the year end and the half-year period end.

The responsibility of the Directors in relation to the financial
statements is set out below. It should be read in conjunction
with, but distinguished from, the Independent Auditor’s Report
on page 58 which acknowledges the reporting responsibility of
the auditor of the Group.

Amnnual Report and Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the annual report and financial statements of the
Company, ensuring that the financial statements give a true and
fair presentation in accordance with Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are consistently adopted and made judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent in accordance with
the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose the financial position of the
Group upon which financial statements of the Group could
be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies of the
Group.
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Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within the
Group.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are of the
view that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future and that, for
this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the maintenance of a stable,
effective internal control system for the Group. The Company
conducted reviews on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control systems as required by the Code Provisions, covering
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions, and including reviews on the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
report function for the Period.

The Audit Committee assisted the Board in discharging its
responsibility for maintaining an effective system of internal
controls on the Group’s business operations. The Audit
Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
controls, including operational controls regularly and is
responsible for the overall internal control framework. The
management of the Company has adopted a Code of Conduct
for the Group. The Code incorporates principles and values
that the Company and the Group uphold in their dealings with
employees, customers, suppliers and business associates.

Based on the discussions with the Audit Committee, the Board
opines, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, that there
are adequate controls in place within the Group addressing
material financial, operational and compliance risks to meet the
needs of the Group in their current business environment.
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REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

For the Period, remuneration paid or payable to the Group’s
auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for financial audit services
is HK$1,810,000 and non-audit services is HK$160,000.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

The joint secretaries of the Company are Mr. Eric Jackson
Chang and Mr. Yuen Ping Man. Both of them have confirmed
that they have attended not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Period.

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication Policy

The Board considers that having active communications with
investors is important and this will enhance transparency and
clarity in public disclosures by the Company. Any significant
events of the Group fall to be disclosed will be published in a
timely, accurate and complete manner through the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange, so as to safeguard
Shareholders’ rights of information and participation. The
notice of the AGM together with relevant documents will be
sent out to the Shareholders at least 20 business days prior to
the date on which the AGM will be held. The notice contains
details on the procedures for voting by poll as well as other
relevant information related to the proposed resolutions.

AGM

The Board and senior management are well aware of their
important tasks of acting on behalf of the interests of all the
Shareholders and raising the Shareholders’ returns. The Board
considers that AGM is an important opportunity for direct
communication with the Shareholders. Last year’s AGM at
which the external auditors attended was convened on 28
August 2015. The Board encourages all the Shareholders to
participate in the forthcoming AGM where the members of the
Board and external auditors will be present and communicate

with the Shareholders.
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Shareholders’ Rights

(1)

(2)

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”)

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date
of deposit of the Requisition (as defined below) not
less than one-twentieth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company (the “Requisitionist(s)”) shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition (the
“Requisition”) to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The Request and the Statement (as defined below) must
be deposited at the registered office of the Company (the
“Registered Office”) at 24th Floor, Wyndham Place,
40-44 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene
a meeting for a day not more than 28 days after the
date on which notice convening the meeting is given,
such Requisitionist(s), or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves convene a meeting in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Companies Ordinance,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of 3 months from the said date.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

Eligible Shareholders may submit a written request to
make proposals or move a resolution at the general
meeting (the “Request”). “Eligible Shareholder(s)”
means:

(i) any number of Shareholders representing not less than
one-fortieth of the total voting rights of all Shareholders
having at the date of the Request a right to vote at the
meeting to which the Request relates; or (ii) not less than
50 Shareholders on which there has been paid up an
average sum, per Shareholder, of a sum equivalent to not
less than HK$2,000.

(1)

Annual Report 2015
“R-REFEER

BRREF

BRRAMRRENAE(RRFEAE ) 2BF

EAREREAFRK(ERR TX)EBELHEWTAR
ARRAGRERARMBZARA —+H 2 —BREAZ—
2HZHRBR((BEBLALT DO ERBERAESTSRA AW
EEREEHR(HEL])  BEREFEIEIEXARAE
EAFEREFARREFHAE -

BEREBR(EERTX)AZREARRZEMMPER
(TEEMMERER ) - i REEPREMA40-4455ER
02412 - WEAREARRRMWE -

HEFENERFERAMES -+ — AR EETREN
WRIAMASREARREZ —+/\AREBRAE %%
FRALTEIREBEF BEEBRATRREEZEAH
RALATBITREBARMEHIMSEEEEGEXEARAS - F
HMea T ER AR R =EARAEM -

RERASRZEZZEF

ABERBERANBRASERETNERIAREEZH R ZH
RER(EH]) - [REBIRER B

(i) REBKAMBE TP RO+0 2 —2BICREKRFE#ZE
BERESER 2 KEG EREZAEMHEBER  H(i) T
RATEBER - MERBERFHMBBERT 12,0008
TR HIA

55



ZH International Holdings Limited

EEREERERAE

Corporate Governance Report

TEERBRE

3)
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The Request must state clearly the name(s) and contact
information of the Eligible Shareholders, his/her/their
shareholding, the proposed resolution, accompanied by
a statement (the “Statement”) of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in the
proposed resolution or the proposed business to be dealt
with at the general meeting, and signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned.

The Request and the Statement must be deposited at
the Registered Office for the attention of the Company
Secretary not less than six weeks before the AGM in
the case of a requisition requiring to give notice of a
resolution or to circulate Statement to the Shareholders
and not less than 1 week in the case of any other
requisition or no earlier than the day after the despatch
of the notice by the Company of the EGM and end no
later than 7 days prior to the date of the EGM. If the
Request is received less than the minimum required
days prior to the EGM, the Company will need to
consider the adjournment of the EGM in order to give
Shareholders sufficient notice of the proposal.

The Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned have deposited
a sum of money reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the
resolution, a circular or a supplemental circular (as the
case may be) concerned and the Statement in accordance
with the Companies Ordinance and the requirements
under the Listing Rules to all the registered Shareholders.

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

A Shareholder may send an enquiry to the Board at
the Registered Office for the attention of the Board in
written form, which shall state the nature of the enquiry
and the reason for making the enquiry. In addition,
Shareholders can contact Tricor Friendly Limited, the
share registrar of the Company, for any questions about
their shareholdings.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Articles of Association of the
Company during the Period. A copy of the latest version
is available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company’s website.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its
businesses and the communities in which it conducts business.
It has adopted a proactive approach to environmental, social
and governance responsibility. Details of the initiatives are set
out on pages 37 and 39.

DISCLAIMER

The contents of the section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are
for reference and disclosure compliance purposes only. The
information does not represent and should not be regarded as
legal or other professional advice from the Company to the
Shareholders. Shareholders should seek their own independent
legal or other professional advice as to their rights as
Shareholders. The Company disclaims all liabilities and losses
incurred by the Shareholders in reliance on any contents of the
section headed “Shareholders’ Rights™.
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Deloitte.
=3

TO THE MEMBERS OF

ZH INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ESERFER B R AR

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS

HENG FAI ENTERPRISES LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ZH
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as Heng Fai
Enterprises Limited and referred to as the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 60 to 169, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 20135, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the period from 1 April 2015 to
31 December 2015, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RE

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2015, and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2016

Annual Report 2015
“R-REFEER

B RTRFAERERGAM B REAMHSBMEEE
K2 BZREIE o FHEERFEURNZEEI 2 28 - B hH
REGFREERMERAR S M MR TFAERERBR 2 AL -
EHERERRE - ZEMEEEZERRRIEAEQ T
WA MIEHRAE NS - ARFHERRZIE R 2 B %
RF o X FEUHBERAMEREDAUNEREREREN - &F
BB ESARASTBRREDAENMELESHEET
EREE  ARFHASR A MBS HRE 2 BRI

BRE  RAMESZERZERRRES
BREEER -

-V o A i

R

KMRAE  FREVNBRREBEEBUBHRELENEET LT
R S£EEN_T—hE+_A=+—BZHBHKRIR =B
EER - E-—AFENA—RBE-_S—AF+-_A=+—HIH
Mz BREMBERE  VERBEELAAMENZEELZE
e

EHRIER A ETENIT
HEDIH AT

B
—E-RF=ZA=1+H

59



ZH International Holdings Limited

EEREERERAE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015

mEBEaRkEAEERER
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Revenue
Cost of operations

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains and losses
Administrative expenses

Sales and marketing expenses
Finance costs

Share of loss of an associate
Share of loss of a joint venture

Loss before taxation
Income tax expense

Loss for the period/year

Other comprehensive income (expense)

Item that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:

Exchange difference arising on translation
of foreign operations

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently

to profit or loss:

Gain on revaluation of properties transferred

from property, plant and equipment to
investment properties

Total comprehensive expense for the
period/year
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1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
= —Z—lmF
MA—RZE MA—RZE
—E-AfF —E-0fF
+=A=+—H =A=+—H
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FTHET TR
43,960 60,661
(14,124) (15,343)
29,836 45,318
2,146 2,631
29,811 11,888
(60,266) (99,417)
(5,534) -
(13,322) (10,248)
(61) (1,288)
(353) (209)
(17,743) (51,325)
(1,450) (4,005)
(19,193) (55,330)
(13,015) (46,340)
17,036 -
4,021 (46,340)
(15,172) (101,670)
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For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015
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ZE-RFOA-REZE-RF+ZA=+—HLHHE

1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-HF —E-E
A—HBZE A—HBHZE
—E—-HF —E—-hH%F
+=—HA=+—H =H=+—H
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
B EE FET FET
(Loss) profit for the period/year attributable to: FE{GHE, 4 y (E518) 3%5F :
Owners of the Company RAREB A (19,655) (54,920)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR RS 462 (410)
(19,193) (55,330)
Total comprehensive (expense) income EE2E(EEX) 4%
attributable to:
Owners of the Company VAN/NEIEZEWN (15,562) (99,727)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR M 390 (1,943)
(15,172) (101,670)
Loss per share (HK cents) SRREEGBL)

Basic and diluted EARNEE 12 (0.47) (1.42)
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Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Interest in an associate

Interest in a joint venture

Deposit for acquisition of investment
properties

Available-for-sale financial assets

Pledged bank deposits

Current assets
Inventories
Properties under development for sale
Accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Tax recoverable
Pledged bank deposits
Restricted bank balances
Bank balances and cash

Investment properties classified as held for sale

Current liabilities
Accounts payable, deposits received
and accruals
Bank and other borrowings
— due within one year
Obligations under finance leases
Amounts due to related companies
Amounts due to ultimate holding company
Loans from a related company
Bank overdraft
Tax liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
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Notes

13
14
15
16

17
18

19
20

21

18
18
18

22

23

24
25
26
26
27
24

31.12.2015 31.3.2015
Y —B-AHE
+=ZA=+-B =A=+-H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHERT
21,197 34,685
1,085,984 844,901
- 2,782

- 731

3,250 775

- 2,718

9,239 6,711
1,119,670 893,303
258 200
801,878 -
15,289 31,298
9,812 39,855
2,916 -
30,669 56,649
1,468 1,335
202,787 47,087
1,065,077 176,424
1,342 99,142
1,066,419 275,566
136,220 23,419
158,938 210,564

- 205

143,832 -
26,740 -
182,486 -
7,748 -
2,464 282
658,428 234,470
407,991 41,096
1,527,661 934,399
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2015

AN AR
R BRI Rk
RZE—HF+_A=+—H

31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-AF —E-AfF
+=A=+—8H =B=+—H
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
ik FHET FTER

Capital and reserves B G
Share capital [N 28 557,626 189,595
Reserves B 541,155 557,265
Total equity attributable to owners of RATEE AL EREE

the Company 1,098,781 746,860
Non-controlling interests JEPE AR R 2 42 (7,178) (7,568)
Total equity RES e 1,091,603 739,292
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Rental deposits received BWHEERS 955 1,609
Bank and other borrowings BITREMER

— due after one year — R 24 267,986 188,937
Loans from a related company e —REEEAR Y B 27 154,747 -
Obligations under finance leases B R 4R 25 - 561
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAE 29 12,370 4,000

436,058 195,107

Total equity and non-current liabilities EXRERBE AL 1,527,661 934,399

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 169 were F60E169B v HFAMBERRCR T "E=A=1EhE=E
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on &t RIRET|Z - TR THIESRAKREE ¢
30 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Jingguo Eric Jackson Chang
RAR RE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015

GmERBEHR

ZE-RFOA-REZE-RF+ZA=+—HLHHE

At April 2014

Loss for the year
Exchange difference arising on
translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive expense for the year

Issue of shares (ote 28)

Transaction costs directly attributable to
issue of shares (nofe 26)

Capital reduction note 26)

Acquisition of additional interests in
subsidiaries (note 30(b))

Recognition of equity-settled share based
payment expenses (note 33)

At 31 March 2015

{Loss) profit for the period

Exchange difference arising on
translation of foreign operations

Gain on revaluation of properties
transferred from property, plant and
equipment to investment properties

Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the period

Issue of shares under open offer
(note 28(c))
Transaction costs directly attributable to
issue of shares (note 28(c))
Issue of shares upon exercise of
share options (notes 28(b) and 33)
Issue of shares for acquisition of
subsidiaries (notes 28 and 30(a))

At 31 December 2015

64

RZT-MEmA-F

FEBA
RAEENRBRESE
LENER

FRREFNER

ki)
KR ERER?
RBMAHE28)

B (Hii2s)
WEMBAREIMER
(Wizts0)
DNEREEZ R A
ERARER W)

RZE-RE=A=1-H

SR (BE) A
RAEENRENELL
EiEE
mi% - BERRE
ERERENRL
EEEL 6

#E2E(RR)
L

RECHEERARNA
(Hi2281c)

KR ERERZ
REWAE28)
REREREREIRG
(Bi2286)1%33)
SUREHBARNEARG
(Wz228R300)

RZT-1E
t-A=1+-8

Attributable to owners of the Company

RINGE LN
(Accumulated
Capital Share  Property losses) Non-
Share  reducton  Exchange option  revaluation retained controlling
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interests Total
BAHE NXEfR  (ZHER)
kA ik  JERE BRERS fif  REERR &t FERER &3t
HK§000  HKS000  HKS000 ~ HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000
TR Tén TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
970,951 - 34174 - - (178327) 826,798 (5,028 821,770
- - - - - (54920 (54.920) (410 (55,330)
- - (44,807) - - - (44,807) (1533)  (46,340)
- - (44,807) - - (549200 (99,727 (1943)  (101,670)
19,080 - - - - - 19,080 - 19,080
(436) - - - - - (436) - (436)
(800,000) 149,180 - - - 650820 - - -
- - - - - 597 597 (597) -
- - - 48 - - 548 - 548
189,595 149,180 (10,633) 548 - ABI70 746,860 (7,568 739292
- - - - - (19,655)  (19,655) 462 (19,193)
- - (12,943) - - - (12,943) (72) (13,015)
- - - - 17,036 - 17,036 - 17,036
- - (12,943) - 17,036 (19,655) (15,562 390 (15,172)
36,557 - - - - - 36,557 - 36,557
(974) - - - - - (974) - (974)
1,698 - - (548) - - 1,150 - 1,150
330,750 - - - - - 330750 - 330750
557626 149,180 (23,576) - 1703 398515 1,098,781 (7,178) 1,091,603




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015

RERTRER

ZE-RFOA-REZE-RF+ZA=+—HLHHE

Operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Decrease (increase) in fair value of held-for-trading
investments
Decrease (increase) in fair value of
investment properties
Impairment loss recognised in respect of
available-for-sale financial assets
Impairment loss recognised in respect of
amounts due from an investee
Impairment loss recognised in respect of
interest in an associate
Interest income
Share of loss of an associate
Share of loss of a joint venture
Bad debts written-off in respect of accounts and
other receivables
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Equity-settled share based payments
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of a joint venture
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets
Gain on disposal of investment properties
Bargain purchase gain arising from
acquisition of subsidiaries
Finance costs

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital
Decrease in financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
(Increase) decrease in inventories
Decrease in loan receivables
Decrease in accounts receivable,
deposits and prepayments
Increase in restricted bank deposits
Increase in accounts payable,
deposits received and accruals
Increase in properties under development for sale

Cash (used in) from operating activities
Tax paid

Net cash (used in) from operating activities

FRATGHATE R
ETFIBIRRE -
FIEEEREZATE
A (R 10)
REMFZAFE
B ()
AR ESREERER
RV
RER—ZREHRFEL
REEE
PR —EBERFEZ
B R RIERE
FEHA
NE—ABERAE BB
NE—RAELEZER
SIBYCRF R LR U 0R
DR E 2 1D AR 2 [5R
HEME  MERRBZER
HE-AaEbE I
HEATHEESREE 2 W
HEREME 2 et
WM B ARz AERE
Pl 6

LEASEPH
BEReRE
BAVER AR
FEOEIDRD
FEME AL
EURERS - e R
FBAFIRRD
SRR M
FEREN  ElRER
FERT B RN
HFEERBYRELM

REXB (MR AERE
EAHUE

BEER (MR MERTFR

Notes
hE

Annual Report 2015

B -—REER

1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-If —E-mF
ME—BZ mE—BZ
—E-EE —E-EE
tZA=1-H ZA=t-A8
HK$°000 HK$°000
TAET TAERT
(17,743) (51,325)
131 (10,764)
10,492 (6,996)

- 616

4,625 1,721
2,540 -
(355) (290)

61 1,288

353 209

107 851

1,196 2,164

- 548

258 10

(279) -
(2,055) -
(226) -
(47,738) -
13,322 10,248
(35,311) (51,720)
29,912 88,607
(58) 15

- 612

13,256 15,586
(133) (1,335)
56,035 1,400
(194,074) -
(130,373) 53,165
(499) (474)
(130,872) 52,691
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EEREERERAE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015

RERTRER
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Investing activities
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets
Placement of pledged bank deposits
Acquisition of additional interest in an associate
Advance to a joint venture
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of investment properties
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture
Release of pledged bank deposits
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities
New bank and other borrowings raised
Repayment of bank and other borrowings
Repayment to a director
Proceeds from issue of shares, net of transaction costs
Proceeds received from open offer of

the Company’s shares
Transaction costs directly attributable to issue of shares
Repayment of obligations under finance leases
Interest paid
Advance from ultimate holding company
Advances from related companies
Repayment to related companies
Proceeds from exercise of share options

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the period/year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period/year
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents at

the end of the period/year

Bank balances and cash
Bank overdraft
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REEH
Bl ‘
T S R A TS

FHEERRTER
Yo lE — R N A)RESMER
A—FERELEFH BN
BAME - B MR
HEME  BERRE
PSR
BARENZE
HEREMEREIE
HE-HaELXMEREA
RIS EIRRTER
WENBRRZRERAFR

REFDFAREFE

MEEH

MERTREAMEE

BERTRAMER

BE-—REERE

BIRMDZFAEHR - R SHHA

ARABRMNRFREEZ
PSR

FIRNEREIEZRXBHA

EEREHERE

ENFIE

BREER R AR

[ FEYNCIE D

BEER AR

TERBUEATS A

RMEEDFERERE
RERRESEREBRMOAD)FR
REH/ FH2RERRESEER

HNEERSBTETRE
RERERZRERASSEER

RER/FRZBER

REZERA D
RITEBRAS
RITEX

1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to

31.12.2015 31.3.2015

—E-1F —E-NE

MAE—-BZ ME—BZE

—E-RF —E-RF

+=ZA=t+-H =A=t+-8H

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Wizt TEx TER
355 290

4,773 -
(5,060) (9,504)
- (950)
- (940)
(409) (1,668)

848 -
(256,975) (276,205)

116,523 6,450

657 -

28,370 -

30(a) 6,028 -
(104,890) (282,527)

158,737 242,050

(133,877) (22,587)

- (61,165)

- 18,644

23 & 28(c) 25,258 11,299
28(c) (974) -
(56) (113)

(10,835) (10,228)

26,740 -

2,604,890 -

(2,285,364) -

33 1,150 -
385,669 177,900

149,907 (51,936)

47,087 102,732

(1,955) (3,709)

195,039 47,087

202,787 47,087

(7,748) -

195,039 47,087
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GENERAL

ZH International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a public limited liability company incorporated in
Hong Kong with its shares listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”).

By a special resolution passed at the annual general
meeting held on 28 August 20135, it was resolved that the
Company’s name be changed from Heng Fai Enterprises
Limited /B EER AR A A to ZH International
Holdings Limited IFBEIFIT AR A F] effective on
7 September 20135, the date on which the Certificate
of Change of Name was issued by the Registrar of
Companies in Hong Kong.

Heng Fai Holdings Limited, a private company
incorporated in the Commonwealth of the Bahamas
with limited liability, was previously the Company’s
immediate and ultimate holding company. Following
the completion of the share purchase agreement dated
25 April 2015 entered into among Heng Fai Holdings
Limited, Prime Star Group Co., Ltd., and Ms. Chan
Yoke Keow, together as vendors, Joy Town Inc., as the
purchaser, Joy Town Inc. has become the immediate
and ultimate holding company of the Company since
29 June 2015. Details of which were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 6 May 2015, 29
June 2015 and 27 July 2015. Joy Town Inc. is a private
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability which is controlled by Ms. Huang
Yanping (“Ms. Huang”), a non-executive director of the
Company and spouse of Mr. Zhang Jingguo, Chairman
of the Company. The ultimate controlling party of the
Company is Ms. Huang.

—REHR

EEBRRERERAR(TARA]) SERBEMKILZ £
MERAR  EBRNEBBHARIMBERAR([BX
P DERLET

BEZZE-—AFNAZ+N\BRITORFRRFEAS AR
ZRERIAER - AEARAF 2 EEAI Heng Fai Enterprises
Limited B8 21E R F R A 7 |E 2k Al ZH International
Holdings Limited F BB IERER AR ] WERZF
—HFNAEB(ENESREFMER R E S2 M
BEZH)ER -

EECEERER AT A MREREESH ML
ZERILENT  AIHRARFEE REEIERAFR -
Heng Fai Holdings Limited  Prime Star Group Co., Ltd.
MR EmZ T (RREAET)KJoy Town Inc. EABET)
RZZE—RFMNA -+ RAREIERBE - PR
% JoyTownInc. B —_ZE—AFNA-F+LBEEBKAR
RANEBREEEZERAR - FBEHRARABBR-Z
—hAFAARA ZE-RAFRNATNAAR-E-RF
+tAZ++EH 22 ° Joy Town Inc. & — R R B KX
HEAMK Iz BRLERT  BARA—RIFNTES
Huang YanpingZ &+ ([ HuangZ =+ | + B2 7 & fE iR AR
et 2 BB 1E ] o R D RIERAIER T BHuang 2 & ©
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GENERAL (continued)

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
41. The Company and its subsidiaries are hereinafter
collectively referred to as the Group.

The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

During the current period, the reporting period end
date of the Group was changed from 31 March to
31 December because the directors of the Company
decided to bring the annual reporting period end date
of the Group to align the financial year end date of
the Company with that of the operating subsidiaries.
Accordingly, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows and related notes for the current reporting period
cover nine months from 1 April 2015 to 31 December
2015. The corresponding comparative amounts shown
for the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows
and related notes cover twelve-month period from 1
April 2014 to 31 March 2015 and therefore may not
be comparable with amounts shown for the current
reporting period.

—RER ()

ARB R—FEREERAT - HHER R T ZEBHNH
41 o ARFIREMBRFIA TR ALZE -

ARRABZEMPER U R TR
B R

BEMWHENFRERE AT

REMBBRRUARRBZDEEERET((HBIT)2S

RAMRE  AREZHEEERA=A=T"RE%XR
TZA=+—8 BWIHARARRERTREAREZFE
BEREREARBREENBRANYRFREEER—
B Bt ARSHRANGABREREM2EKER
ERDREPRRGARSRNERNRBEBERNIRE-T
—ﬂi@ﬂ HE-ZT— £¢+ A=+—HIEEAH
cREBRHMEMEERER  ReRRZEHRLEA
%EE%M&HWWIZm?@%QE_Y rM4F A
—RAEZZ-RF=A=+—HIL+ @R - BoRYFTE
RREMENOBRFIEERLLE -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied for the first time in the current
period the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants:

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions

Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012
Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2011-2013
Cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current period has had no material effect on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current
period and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKEFRS 9 Financial Instruments!
HKEFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers!
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions
of Interests in Joint
Operations?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative?
Amendments to HKAS 16  Clarification of Acceptable
and HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation?
Amendments to HKAS 16  Agriculture: Bearer Plants?
and HKAS 41
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate

Financial Statements?

FERFIRKETEBUBHREEN(FEMBREE
EUH))

RAHIRE - AEEERER T HELSMASRMZ
BARMBIREEIER -

ARG EAFIRETA FERNFE - BEMHK

ERUBREENETR —T-TFEE"T-_F8
HiZ FEuE

ERUBREENETR T FE2"ZT—=F8
HiZ FEuE

RAHIRE - ERERBY B REEANEITAHAEE AR
FBEFEZMBRBIMR R, XL EHEE WBHRRE
SIZ RELWMERTE -

AREE W EEF BB T SBEMEERERZ AT REE
RIEABMBREER

ERMGREEAEY  SRIA
ERUBREENFEISE  RPANIGE

BB ISR AR W HREL R s e bR
F11RIEFT A

ARG EAFIREFTA B
ARG EAFISENELE FEERBEIEIIA
BETEERIFE38SRIEET A ZEB

ARG EARISEREE BE  LEMHED

BETERF415REETA
BAGBUR27TRETA BUMBREK 2 A
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture?
Investment Entities:
Applying the

Amendments to
HKEFRS 10, HKFRS 12

and HKAS 28 Consolidation Exception?
Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2012-2014
Cycle2
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets.
HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further
amended in 2013 to include the new requirements for
general hedge accounting. Another revised version
of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include
a) impairment requirements for financial assets and
b) limited amendments to the classification and
measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”)
measurement category for certain simple debt
instruments.

FERFIRKETEBUBHREEN(FEMBREE
A1) (A7)

EBUBRELRNEINKE REFHEEBEAREELE
el 2Rz EEHESEAS
F285ERT A

EBUHRELREI05 - REEXE  [ERAHDIIMS
BRMBRELRF125 2
RBEBSFTERE28%
CHEN
EBMBREEINEEIA T —FEx_T-NER
HA 2 IS ke

U RIBE-N\F-A-BRZERRZ FEHBER
? RZE-RF-A-BS&RAn 2 FERRER

SORNREAME Bk &R 2 FEER AR

BB BEEREIRNEHMTA

R-FZNFRHZEBWHRESERNEIRIASHEE
DENGTEZINE - BRMBRESERNFIREERR-F
—ZRFLET UBRBENEMTESRAEREUEE
RZIRE BN _T—=FE—FET UBHEEHE—
RREMPEEDEZIIRE - BEMBREENFEIR S —EFT
AR -Z—FRM - TEBH)THEERBEZ R
b)HRETHEBB LA  FEBSIATRAFHEFEFAR
feEiE | ([RAFEFEF AL EERE ) 2588
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 that are relevant to the
Group are described below:

o All recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement are subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets, and that
have contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, are measured at
FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity
investments are measured at their fair value at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair
value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or
loss.

o In relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model,
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under
HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires
an entity to account for expected credit losses and
changes in those expected credit losses at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised.

FERFIRKETEBUBHREEN(FEMBREE
A1) (A7)

BB HEERFIREMT A (K)

HAREE A BN BMEERNEIT F EMHRE MM
T

o REBEHENFEIORLHTA - #FRFAERE
N EREREERRARBHKNAL R FE
A8 BRRMUEBRAFEUERAORER
ERBMZEBERE  RABASINASRAER
AEHMEMEBENREREZEHRE - A—K
REE SRR KRR IHERAGTE - REORRE
WEEHRERERNESHEEZ XHEAPHF
BZEBIAE  UREBMEEANGRRSREER
HEAZRERARB/INAE RAREERSH
BRZEBIE REBRATVEFEFAHEMEZE
Wtz TG E - B EMERRE MRAERED
REEETHB KRR A FHERE Wi REFE
MBHmEEANFIS - BREAIEH T AMENEE - A
REMEERES 2 REARE (LIFFEEEE)R
FEZHEZE  EEREBA—RNERER

e HEeREBEEREWES  EBEESEAFEINRET
REELAFEBRBRRAMERAR  BAVMHREE
B R ERFBEREEBEEATE - BHEEE
BEREAREERNSHE RS RAEEBENZ
SEHEEER2EDAR  URREERREY)
MERBARZEY - HE2  BABFELEES
R TEREEER -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued)

Based on the Group’s existing business model and
financial instruments as at 31 December 20135, the
application of HKFRS 9 in the future may result in early
recognition of credit losses based on expected loss model
in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured
at amortised costs. It is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review
has been completed.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued in 2014 which establishes a
single model to deal with revenue arising from contracts
with customers. When HKFRS 15 becomes effective,
HKFRS 15 will supersede HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations.

HKFRS 15 introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in
the contract(s)

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract(s)

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

With regard to step 5, an entity should recognise
revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when ‘control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer. Specifically, HKFRS 15 requires entities to
recognise revenue over time when certain conditions are
met. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in
HKEFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore,
extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

FERFIRKETEBUBHREEN(FEMBREE
A1) (A7)

BB HEERFIREMT A (K)
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

The directors of the Company will assess the impact on
the application of HKFRS 15. For the moment, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect
of HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed review.

For other new and revised HKFRSs, the directors of
the Company do not expect a material impact on the
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment
properties and certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-Based Payment,
leasing transaction that are within the scope of HKAS
17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the period/year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted, based
on the carrying amount of the net assets attributable
to the change in interests, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs).

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses (including business
combination under common control) are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FTESHBER(E)

Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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78

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
include land held for undetermined future use, which is
regarded as held for capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property) is included in the profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Owner-occupied properties are transferred to investment
properties when and only when there is a change in use
evidenced by end of owner occupation. At the date of
transfer, the properties are measured at their fair value,
with any gain being recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in “property revaluation
reserve”, which will not be reclassified to profit or loss
at the time of disposal (it will instead be transferred to
retained earnings at the time of disposal).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESHBEE)
Non-current assets beld for sale FIFHEH B EE

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the asset is
available for immediate sale in its present condition and it
is highly probable that the sale will be completed within
one year from the date when the asset is reclassified as

held for sale.

Investment properties classified as held for sale are
measured using the fair value model in accordance with
HKAS 40 Investment Property.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation (except for freehold
land) and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
freehold land) over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account their estimated residual value, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development which are intended to be
held for sale are carried at lower of cost and net realisable
value and are shown as current assets. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to estimated selling price
less anticipated costs to completion of the development
and costs to be incurred in marketing and selling the
completed properties.

Cost includes the costs of land, development expenditure
incurred and, where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised during construction period.

Properties under development are transferred to
properties held for sale when the relevant completion
certificates are issued by the respective government
authorities.

Investments in an associate and a joint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FEESTBRE)
Investments in an associate and a joint venture R—BBERGR—HEELEZRE(R)
(continued)
The results and assets and liabilities of the associate and BENRNEECECES  AERBERBEREE
the joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated STAREMBERE - RERENEBNMER 2B SRR
financial statements using the equity method of BEPEMBRE - DERARKEBLEROURS R
accounting. The financial statements of the associate and RERTEE 2 RHEZBRGTEERE - Riz#mE -
the joint venture used for equity accounting purposes REE R RN E E B EZRENTRKRRERE RN
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those KR WRHERBRAREEEZH A &R
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar (zBmkHEMEEBAELRE - EXEESD TEH;?%’/}
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment AR BRBEREENZBE ARG ERE
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in ZREEH(BREEE TR ARNEBNZBE AR LT E
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost WEFEHD 2R Z)  NEERIBREMGE—F
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share B8 - ERAEEEEEESHESE - IRKZBER
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of RISk E RN - FERREINEE
the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate or joint venture.
An investment in an associate or a joint venture is REERRHEEPEZREBHWIRE QAT AEE A
accounted for using the equity method from the date REDRER ARRKBRREANR -

on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint
venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture
(continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method
from the date when the investment ceases to be an
associate or a joint venture, or when the investment (or
a portion thereof) is classified as held for sale. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate
or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair
value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition in accordance with
HKAS 39. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity
method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a
part interest in the associate or joint venture is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of
the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or
joint venture on the same basis as would be required if
that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
when the equity method is discontinued.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate
or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying
amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture
(continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of
assets), profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that
are not related to the Group.

Impairment on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment on tangible assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”),
available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESTBR(E)
Financial instruments (continued) LETHEE)
Financial assets (continued) SRMEEE)
Effective interest method BRI EE

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments, except for short-term receivables
where the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at FVTPL of the Group are financial

assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified as
held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

o on initial recognition it is part of an identified
portfolio of financial instruments that the Group
and the Company manage together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

AEFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or
(c) financial assets at FVTPL.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to
and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity
investments are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see
the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on
financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the

dividends is established.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including accounts receivable,
pledged bank deposits, restricted bank balances, and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESTBR(E)
Financial instruments (continued) LETHEE)
Financial assets (continued) SRMEEE)
Impairment of financial assets BHEEZHE

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the financial assets have been affected.

For an AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is
considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For other financial assets, the objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency
in interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of loans and receivables, such
as accounts receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
credit period, as well as observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with default
on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods (see the accounting policy below).

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of accounts receivables, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of
the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When an account receivable is considered uncollectible, it
is written-off against the allowance account.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-
off are credited to profit or loss. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period,
the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FEESTBRE)
Financial instruments (continued) TETH(E)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments SRIBERRATA

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities (including accounts
payables, amounts due to related companies and ultimate
holding company, loans from a related company,
bank overdraft and bank and other borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating

the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance with terms of
a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
initially measured at their fair values and, if designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently
measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of obligation under the contract,
as determined in accordance with HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets; and

(i)  the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the consolidated statement of financial
position as an obligation under finance lease.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a
first-in-first-out basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time those assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the period/year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
taxation as reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESTBR(E)
Taxation (continued) HE(E)
Deferred tax ELEHIE

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
arrangements, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax for the period/year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of “exchange reserve”
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees (including directors
of the Company)

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the date of grant and is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, such that
the cumulative expenses reflects the revised estimates,
with a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share capital.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
other retirement benefit schemes are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from hotel operations is recognised when the
relevant services are provided.

Property management fee income is recognised in profit
or loss when the services are rendered.

Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has
been established (provided that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount
of income can be measured reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Revenue from sale of properties developed for sale is
recognised upon delivery of properties to the purchasers
pursuant to the sales and purchase agreements. Deposits
and instalments received from purchasers prior to
meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under current liabilities.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue
from operating leases is described in the accounting
policy for leasing above.

3.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the directors
of the Company have made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Determination of functional currency of the Company
The Group operates in Hong Kong, the United States of
America, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC?”),
Singapore and Japan. Its revenue and expenses are
denominated in the respective local currency of the
group entities it operates which includes HK$, USD,
RMB, SGD and JPY which are the functional currencies
of the group entities. In determining the functional
currency of the Company, the management has carefully
considered the currencies to which the Company and its
subsidiaries have exposed arising from their operating
and financing activities. The management considered that
HKS$ is able to represent most faithfully the economic
environment the Company operates because substantial
financing activity of the Company and its subsidiaries
are denominated in HK$ and investment strategies are
considered with reference to the volatility against HKS.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company determine
that HK$ is the functional currency of the Company.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties
that are using the fair value model, the directors of
the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties situated in the United States of
America (the “USA”) are held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time rather than through sale whereas those situated
in the Hong Kong and Singapore are not held under such
a business model. Therefore, the presumption that the
carrying amounts of investment properties are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted for properties situated
in the USA but is not rebutted for properties situated in
Hong Kong and Singapore. As a result, the Group has
not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value
of these investment properties located in Hong Kong
and Singapore as the Group is not subject to any income
taxes on disposal of these investment properties. The
presumption that the carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties in the USA is to recover through
sale rather than through use has been rebutted and
deferred tax on the changes in fair value is recognised
according to the relevant tax rules.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following and those disclosed in note 37 are the key
assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Certain assets of the Group are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair value
of an asset, the management of the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
At the end of each reporting period, the management
of the Group works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for Level 3 fair value
measurements. Where there is a material change in the
fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will
be reported to the directors of the Company.

Information about the valuation techniques, inputs and
key assumptions used in the determination of the fair
value of investment properties are disclosed in note 14.

RS HERET TABEZEZ T ERR(F)

st TR £z £ BRI ()

DN EFERMEEER

AUBREMS - AEBEETEEARTEFTE - REE
BEZATER A&EEEECRAIRMSIBEY
& WEZESE - RBABE  AEENZREF=74
BIR{EEMETHE RERSHEEER - AREEE
BERABBIBEEMETAE  FE=RAFEFER
VAMREEE 2 BERMEBARE - WEEZAFER
BEANE - HEBRAKAARAREFRS

BEEREMELAFERMAGBERNT BABBLREIZER
R ERRHI 14355

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION Wi Rk 2 EHER
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-HEF —E-ImEF
R—B% AR—BRZE
—2-5F  —B-IF
+=A=+-8B =H=+-H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THET
Revenue is analysed as follows: Wasn T
Rental income WA 35,487 41,086
Income from hotel operations B E FE WA 5,113 6,666
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value Z QA F(EFABRZ
through profit or loss SR EERBUBA 1,492 6,343
Property management fee income MEERBIA 1,513 6,276
Interest income F B A 355 290
43,960 60,661
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Information reported to the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”), being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM?”), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance is
based on different business activities of the Group. This
is also the basis upon which the Group is organised and
managed.

During the current period, the Group has expanded its
property development business in the PRC and therefore
it constitutes a new operating and reportable segment.

Accordingly, the Group’s reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 are as follows:

a) Securities trading and investment

b) Property investment and management in the USA
by American Housing REIT, Inc. (“AHR”) and
Global Medical REIT, Inc. (“GMR”), both are
subsidiaries of the Group

c) Property investment other than AHR and GMR
d) Hotel operations

e) Property development in the People’s Republic of
China (“the PRC”)

The Group has property investment and management
businesses in Hong Kong, the United States of America
(the “USA”), Singapore and Japan. Other than AHR and
GMR which operate in the USA, the property investment
businesses in other regions are aggregated into one
reportable segment.

WK o HER (H)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue,
results and assets by reportable and operating segments:

WK o HER (H)

REBIRATIRE ML E D

Segment revenue and results

Securities trading and investment

Property investment and
management in the USA by
AHR and GMR

Property investment other than
AHR and GMR

Hotel operations

Property development
in the PRC

Others

Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Other gains and losses
Unallocated finance costs

Share of loss of an associate
Share of loss of a joint venture

Loss before taxation
Income tax expense

Loss for the period/year

ZEP R FEAE

Segment revenue

Annual Report 2015
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Mzl FEREEDTTAT

Segment results

2Bk R PEELE
1.42015t0  1.4.2014t0  1.4.2015t0  1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015  31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-AE —T-mEF —E-fHF —E-mF
mMA—BZE mMA—BZE mMA—BZE mMA—HZE
—E-FHF —E-RE —E-fHF —E-RHF
+=A=+—-H8 =HA=+-8 +=A=+—-A =A=+-—8
HKS$°000 HK$’°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FHT FHET FET
BHEBEBEREE 1,492 6,393 1,216 16,432
AHRFEGMRAZER 2~
YERERER
26,191 30,389 (13,067) (3,079)
AHR X GMR SN2
YERE 10,809 16,973 (5,783) 9,400
S5 ST 5,113 6,666 (858) (4,658)
PRI ER
- - (6,996) -
Hith 355 240 114 (133)
43,960 60,661 (25,374) 17,962
KHOBEAFRA 441 102
RAORATFXL (36,820) (67,175)
Hib Wz Kk &8 45,477 -
RO BB E R A (1,053) (717)
DR E N E 2 18 (61) (1,288)
DA EDE BB (353) (209)
BrATRIE R (17,743) (51,325)
FTiSHimX (1,450) (4,005)
M, FE R (19,193) (55,330)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Segment assets

Securities trading and investment

Property investment and management in the
USA by AHR and GMR

Property investment other than AHR and GMR

Hotel operations

Property development in the PRC

Interest in an associate
Interest in a joint venture
Unallocated assets

102

T EEE

BHEBEBEREE

AHR FGMRRIER 2~
MERERER

AHRZGMRIASNZ W1 3£45 &

B JE 75

FEIYIEEER

WK o HER (H)

31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-RF —B-®F
+=A=+-8 =A=+-H
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHEx FERT
10,072 58,944
591,015 230,499
509,978 716,156
7,655 7,790
810,259 -
1,928,979 1,013,389
- 2,782

- 731

257,110 151,967
2,186,089 1,168,869
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. Wa ko EER (&)
(continued)
Other segment information Bt 5 5E#
For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015 BE-E-—hFENA-—BAE-_E—AF+-A=1+—HItH
A
Property
investment
and Property
management  investment
Securities  in the USA other than Property
trading and by AHR AHR Hotel  development
investment and GMR and GMR operations inthePRC  Unallocated Total
AHRRGMR  AHRRGMR
REEER  REENE Wz
RE  RERER NERE EELE  TENERR AR a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Tin TEx TR TEn TEn T T

AN BENABRANTE

Amounts included in the measure of

segment profit or loss or segment assets:

Additions to investment properties and

EHEEE:

RENERDE EER

property, plant and equipment REINE - 254,500 259 - - 150 254,909
Depreciation of property, % BEREERE

plant and equipment - - - 88 - 1,108 1,19
Decrease in fair value BIFEEREY

of held-for-trading investments AHERD 131 - - - - - 131
(Increase) decrease in fair value of RENEINTE

investment properties (EEs - (1,340) 11,832 - - - 10,492
Bad debts written-off in respect of SR R R

accounts and other receivable gk - 107 - - - - 107
Loss on disposal of property, HENE  BREREZ

plant and equipment Eig - - - - - 258 258
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HEALPE 7 NE - - - - - (279) (279)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HETHLESREEY

financial assets iz - - - - - 2,058 2,055
[mpairment loss recognised in respect of ~ HA-FEL AT

interest in an associate BEBAEER - - - - - (2,540) (2,540)
Bargain purchase gain arising from B LN WAL G

acquisition of subsidiaries b - - - - - (47,738) (47,738)
Gain on disposal of investment properties €% ENE 2 iz - (226) - - - - (226)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WK D EWER (&)

(continued)
Other segment information (continued) Bt 5E# (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2015 HE-E-—RF=A=1T—HILFE
Property
investment
and Property
management  investment
Securities  in the USA other than Property
trading and by AHR AHR Hotel  development
investment and GMR and GMR operations inthePRC  Unallocated Total

AHRRGMR  AHRRGMR

E5RER  REEHE Wiz
RE  RERER ERE BERE  ENEER AR it
HK§°000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tin TEx T TR TiEn Tin Tin

Amounts included in the measure of HAABENSERAS TE
segment profit or loss or segment assets: B EZAE

Additions to investment propertiesand ~ HENERTE  HER

property, plant and equipment REINE - 273,753 1,677 77 - 1,900 277407
Depreciation of property, E BERRERE

plant and equipment - - - 130 - 2,034 2,164
Increase in fair value HEEEREZATA

of held-for-trading investments 1 (10,764) - - - - - (10,764)
Increase in fair value of REMEL

investment properties NEEEN - (4,369) (2,627) - - - (6,99)
Bad debts written-off in respect of SRS R 2 R

accounts and other receivable gk - - 851 - - - 851
Loss on disposal of property, LENE - BER

plant and equipment BV R - - - - - 10 10
Impairment loss recognised in respectof At ESHEERTL

available-for-sale financial agsets HEFR 616 - - - - - 616
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Other segment information (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 3. Segment results represent the profit from (loss
incurred by) each segment without allocation of certain
items, mainly comprising certain other income, certain
other gains and losses, share of loss of an associate, share
of loss of a joint venture, certain depreciation, certain
administrative expenses, directors’ and chief executives’
salaries and certain finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, all assets
are allocated to operating segments other than
unallocated assets (comprising certain property, plant
and equipment, interest in an associate, interest in a joint
venture, available-for-sale financial assets, certain other
receivables, deposits and prepayments, restricted bank
deposits, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and
cash).

Information about segment liabilities is not regularly
reviewed by the CODM. Accordingly, no such
information is presented.

WK o HER (H)

Bt 7 EE# ()

KEDEZ SRTBER ANl 2 AR HE 2 -
DERERESDHRMMNB(EEZER)  YESEE
THE  FE2ERETHEMEA - FTEMKERER -
DME—EBERRBIE DM —HaELEEE BT
E ETTBAX BERIZTBRABZHFLSALET
BERAK - WM EREERREZMAFERD MK
R 2rtE8RE -

REEDBRANNRDESIEERNE - AEEEESD
EELEDH  ERDEEE(BRETHE  BERX

B MN—HBEARzER RN-RegtEs#a 7
HEESREE - A THMBRKIA R RBHFA -
ERBIRITFER - CHEARITFRARBITEHREIRE )
AN o

IBEERA LU MENEE OB AN - Bt - ¥
WEFIZIBEHR -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in five (31.3.2015:
four) major geographical areas. Information about the
Group’s revenue from external customers is presented
based on the geographical market of the customers,
irrespective of the origin of the goods and services.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets,
excluding financial instruments, is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

Hong Kong )
The PRC Fh
North America b3
Singapore EImIE
Japan E:N

Information about major customers

Included in revenue is an amount of HK$9,409,000 from
one customer (1.4.2014 to 31.3.2015: two customers
amounting to HK$10,178,000 and HK$6,276,000,
respectively) in the Group’s property investment and
management in the USA by AHR and GMR segment
which contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue for the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December
2015.

external customer

WK o HER (H)

HELH

AEFEBFERAE(CZE-—RAF=A=1+—H ' HE=x
EE - REBRBIIFEFPREZERTIEREFE
525 M REmEREZREW - REBEIERE
BEEBIARIMN ZENTEREEMEHLES -

Revenue from
Non-current assets

REMDES W FREBEE
1.42015t0  1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015  31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-RF —ZE-NF
mA—BZE mMA—BZE
—E-FHF —E-RE —E-fHF —E-HF
+=A=+—-H8 =HA=+—-8 +=A=+—-A =A=+-—8
HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000
FHBT FHT FHET FHET
3,235 6,253 100,139 85,595
- - 135 -
26,799 30,946 613,889 362,128
6,546 13,976 344,444 392,056
7,380 9,486 51,824 44,095
43,960 60,661 1,110,431 883,874
FHETEEFZEH

BE-E-RFNA-RAE-Z-—RAF+-_A=+—HLH
A - Wi B A EBAHR RGMRAE R 2 154
REBHEB—EFF 239,409,000/ 7T (=T —MF M
A—RE-Z-RF=A=+—R:MEFFZFEA 7
511 %510,178,00078 7T }26,276,000/8 7T ) » B BAA 5K B 48K
E10% M £ e
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6.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Bargain purchase gain arising from acquisition of

subsidiaries (note 30(a))

(Decrease) increase in fair value of held-for-trading

investments

(Decrease) increase in fair value of investment

properties (note 14)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
available-for-sale financial assets

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
amounts due from an investee (note 20)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of

interest in an associate

Gain on disposal of a joint venture (note 16)
Gain on disposal of investment properties
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale

financial assets (note 17)

Bad debts written-off in respect of accounts and

other receivables

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Exchange loss, net

6. HttmEkER

WS B B I 1 ) 2 2 (B P 2 Wi
(H7#30(a))
RHIEEBERE A FECHD)EM

wEEZ NTECHD) N
(K15E14)

RAHHESREERRY
R EEE

LB S B A B ZUB R
SBEESIB(H15$20)

R MBS AR 2 ERERZ
R EEE

HESEME W (Ait16)

REREYE 7 W

HEHHESHEEY
Wk (B1at17)

B UR IR R R EL A pE LR IR
s AR

HEME - BEREE B8

[ 5 &8 55
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B -—REER

1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-AE —ZE—MEF
mA—BRZE mA—BZE
—E-RF —E-HfF
+=A=t—-8B =A=+-H
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHExT FHET
47,738 -
(131) 10,764
(10,492) 6,996
- (616)
(4,625) (1,721)
(2,540) -

279 -

226 -

2,055 -
(107) (851)
(258) (10)
(2,334) (2,674)
29,811 11,888
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WERA
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-—AfF —E—mEF
A—RZE A—RZE
T —E-EE
+=A=+-B =ZA=+-H
HK$’000 HKS$°000
FHET FHERT

Interests on: THREZHE

bank and other borrowings RITREMER 13,261 9,985
obligations under finance leases BVE R E AR 21 20
loans from a related company KE—MEBAERARIZER 3,893 -
Other finance costs HAb &R 40 243
17,215 10,248

Less: capitalised in properties under B REEERTYE
development for sale ERMbz &% (3,893) -
13,322 10,248

AHEABE M2 ERRATIRAFMNE /4% (—F—h
FZA=1t—H8 B ZHEEER -

Borrowing costs capitalised during the current period
arose on the specific borrowings which is at the rate of 4%
(31.3.2015: nil) per annum.
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AN =
GAHBRENE
—E-AFMA-AE=T-EET-A=+— B
8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8. KBAIEE
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—EB-RF —E-ImF
A—RZE A—RZE
—E-EHfF —E-%fF
+=A=+-B =A=+-8H
HK$’000 HKS$°000
FHET THET
Loss before taxation has been arrived at BREGBTETIBACHIRR 51518 ¢
after charging:
Total staff costs: B TRCANAEEE -
Directors’ emoluments (nzote 10(a)) EEZHMN(HEE10(a)) 6,952 19,480
Other staffs: HEHET :
Salaries and other benefits e KEMER 14,011 22,254
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRERET IR 475 821
21,438 42,555
Auditor’s remuneration 2R 5 B
— audit services —REURTS 1,810 1,710
— non-audit services — IR 160 168
Operating lease payments REHEENR 2,489 2,617
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W BENMERETE 1,196 2,164
after crediting: EEEA
Rental income from investment properties REMERS WA 35,487 41,086
Less: Direct outgoings B BEX
— relating to investment properties generated —HEHE FERNEERS
rental income during the period/year WAZIREMERH (8,832) (9,994)
— relating to investment properties that did not —mymEAHS WA Z
generate rental income REMXEEH (517) (299)
(9,349) (10,293)
26,138 30,793
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9.

110

INCOME TAX EXPENSE PR X
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
— —F-mF
B—RA=ZE B—RH=ZE
—E-5%F T
+=A=+-8 =A=+-H
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET THET

Income tax expense comprises: FiSRF s 845 -

Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNISH - -
Tax in other jurisdictions REAM AR 2 TR 913 275
Deferred taxation (note 29) IRIEFRIB(H17E29) 537 3,730
1,450 4,005

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits for the period/year.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% on the assessable
profits of the companies.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax and PRC
Enterprise Income Tax has been made in the consolidated
financial statements as there are no assessable profits in
Hong Kong and the PRC for the period/year.

Singapore income tax is calculated at 17% of assessable
profit for the period/year. According to the relevant
Singapore tax regulations, certain Singapore subsidiaries
of the Group enjoyed the partial tax exemption during
the period/year.

The subsidiaries in the USA are subject to Federal
Income Tax of up to 35% and State Income Tax of 5%
to 9.99% (31.3.2015: 5% to 8.25%) on the taxable
income. Certain subsidiaries are LLCs which are by
default disregarded entities (i.e. viewed as divisions of
the holding company) and taxed as part of their holding
company for federal and state income tax purposes.

ZHEFEZERNEHRAETERTUET216.5%

s
:-|»§
al= °

PRI RPTISHIRZ S R B RRBUE M 2 25% B A TEH

HEHE o

mRNE FRALENEERPEESRRTUESN - Bt
BERR AP MA BB FIEGH K& B R RS

e

705 18 R AR 4 S PR BRI 2 17 % H - 1R
BRI SRR AR ETH MBI B A ARE
R FESARHBERS -

REB 2 8RR H BRI UARZ 35% 2 B HFT
BHES%E9.9% (ZE—RAF=A=+—H:5%%
8.25% )M - ETHEBRRBERRIR » AH TR
REBIRREIRARZE) - st HAEH RN ME
B s & EER AR — A DA EHIR -
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RE N BHRRME
—E-RFMOA-AE_ZE-AF+A=+—ALHH
9.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. PiEEE:
Income tax expense for the period/year is reconciled to B/ TS MY 854 B RE M2 ERESERITRER
the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement TRATEEEERIT
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
s =F-mE
mA-BE mE-BE
—s-HfF —s-EfF
+=A=+-B =A=+-8H
HKS$°000 HKS$°000
FHET THET
Loss before taxation BRITAIE B (17,743) (51,325)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% REBNEBHE16.5% (2,928) (8,469)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose BERFRIMA 2 Bis & (11,107) (3,850)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for T 2 B2
tax purpose 7,619 4,165
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERZBIEBB 2B 2 10,657 14,111
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised 81 KRR 2 BB E 1B (61) (612)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences W ARERA IR SR =5 2
not recognised HBTE - (326)
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR 850 264
Tax effect of share of results of a joint venture DME—EAECELEE I TRETE 58 34
Tax effect of share of results of an associate DME—TEHMENTEEIHRGTE 10 213
Effect of different tax rates on operations in EHAM A AR R EER R
other jurisdictions TRz#E (3,648) (1,499)
Effect of tax exemption granted to subsidiaries in ~ F AN B A RIER R
Singapore ez 8 - (26)

Income tax expense for the period/year B/ FRMREHRAX 1,450 4,005
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 10. EERFETBRAEBFHMUREZERSHAL
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES
(@)  Directors’ emoluments (a) EEFHH
The emoluments paid or payable in respect of HE-—ATHEESRB(ERERAQAHAMBER
a person’s services as a director, whether of the RIZER) BN SR FMnT
Company or its subsidiary undertaking, were as
follows:
1.4.2015 t0 31.12.2015
“E-RfQNA-AEZR-IFtZA=t-A
Retirement
Salaries benefit Long  Share-based
and other scheme service payment
Fees benefits  contributions payment expense Total
AR 47
Fek - BHER RE  RE®RZ
Name of directors E=nA e  HER HE2ER BRBE AFREX b
Notes HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$000  HK$000
HaE T T FET TR TR T
Executive directors HITEZE
Mr. Zhang Jingguo RAE LA (a) - - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Guogiang REREE (b) - 203 - - - 203
Mr. Eric Jackson Chang RHELE (b) - 215 8 - - 223
Mr. Chan Heng Fai BieE Lt (c) - 2,765 4 319 - 3,088
Mr. Chan Tong Wan BRAES 4 (c) - 689 15 - - 704
Mrs. Chan Yoke Keow BREELL (c) - 1,469 4 342 - 1,815
Non-executive directors HETEE
Ms. Huang Yanping Huang YanpingZ+  (b) - - - - - -
Dr. Lam, Lee G MFREET (d) 162 - - - - 162
Mr. Fong Kwok Jen BEEL 4 (c) 81 - - - - 81
Independent non-executive
directors BUHHTEE
Mr. Liu Da BERA (b) 103 - - - - 103
Dr. Liu Qiao 2fEEL (b) 103 - - - - 103
Mr. Ma Yuntao E@EYEE (b) 103 - - - - 103
Mr. Wong Tat Keung BERLE (c) 133 - - - - 133
Mr. Wong Dor Luk, Peter TEREE (c) 117 - - - - 117
Mr. Chan King Fai BRRELE (c) 117 - - - - 117
919 5341 31 661 - 6,952
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 10. EERFETHRAEFMURAZRSHFAL(E)
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(a)  Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEHM ()
1.4.2014 t0 31.3.2015
“E-PMEMA-AE-F-HE=A=1-H
Retirement
Salaries benefit Long Share-based
and other scheme service payment
Fees benefits ~ contributions payment expense Total
MR
ek EBHRER R AE#
Name of directors E=pg He  HMEA  SEZHE BEEe  AFEX o
Notes HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
(i TEn TEn TER TER TER TER
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Chan Heng Fai REELLE (c) - 9,595 24 - - 9,619
Mr. Chan Tong Wan REELE (c) - 2,802 60 - - 2,862
Mrs. Chan Yoke Keow BEEELT (c) - 5,152 24 - - 5,176
Non-executive directors FHTEE
Dr. Lam, Lee G MEREET (d) 351 - - - - 351
Mr. Fong Kwok Jen BEELE (c) 250 - - - 548 798
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan EkiERE (e) 87 - - - - 87
Independent non-executive
directors BUHHTEE
Mr. Wong Tat Keung BERLL (c) 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Wong Dor Luk, Peter THRSHE (c) 130 - - - - 130
Mr. Chan King Fai [yt (c) 130 - - - - 130
Mr. Tan Choon Seng BRAER L {f) 147 - - - - 147
1,275 17,549 108 - 548 19,480
(a) Appointed on 6 July 2015 (a) R-ZE-hFLANBEZRE
(b)  Appointed on 27 July 2015 (b))  REZF-RFLA-TLEEZRE
(c) Resigned on 27 July 2015 (©) RZZ-HFEAZTEHBHE
(d) Appointed on 19 July 2014 and resigned on 27 July (d) RZF-NFLATNERZELR -F-RFLA
2015 ZHEHEHE
(e) Resigned on 23 September 2014 (e) RZF-MEAAZTZHEHE

(f) Resigned on 30 October 2014 (H) RZT—MF+A=+REHE
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10.

114

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(@)

()

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Mr. Zhang Jingguo is also the chief executive of
the Company and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the
chief executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of
the Company.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, two (31.3.2015: three)
were directors whose emoluments are disclosed
above. The emoluments of the remaining three
(31.3.2015: two) individuals were as follows:

Salaries and other benefits
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme

10.

ESEREFETRARHHUREEREHFAL(H)

(a)

(b)

e MEMER
RIREFIFT B2 K

EEyH(E)

FRHEEETABRRBRETZTHAR » Ll pTiEE
Bz HMEIBERIERT2ITRA BRI ZIR -

EXFARRITEREZHFH I AW EREIEARF
KA KB ERFRE 2 IRF

EXFREAITEEZHMER R EER/ARRT]
EEMRMHZ RS o

XA IFRITEEZHHERRREERA
RAIEFMRRHZ IR

ET#HH

AEFBRLREHALTEHEMS  MR(—T—hF=
A=1t—R: =ZR)REZ  FHEZHFHMZN LT
B ABp=2(CT—AF=A=T—H:mMA)A
TZEHMIT

1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-RfF —Z—MF
mMA—-HE mMA—BE
—E-hF —E-HF
+=A=+—8 =H=+—H
HK$’000 HKS$°000
FHT FHET
3,998 3,691

18 18

4,016 3,709
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(b)

Employees’ emoluments (continued)

Their emoluments were within the following
brands:

ESEREFETRARHHUREEREHFAL(H)

ET#HH (&)
BEZMENFTHIER -

Number of employees

ETAH
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-HEF —E-mEF
mMA—HZE mMA—HZE
—E-HF —E-HF
+=A=+—8 =A=+-H
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 721,500,000/ 7T 3 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7. 22,000,000/ 7T - 2
3 2

There were no emolument was paid to the
directors and the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to accept office as director or as
compensation for loss of office and no directors
waived any of their emoluments for the period/
year.

No emoluments paid or receivable in respect of
director’s other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking during the period/year.

BEANEERAEESFALTINME - FRRS]
HEBEERGABRBEE B/ FANBEEHE
ERREZHME -

B8R HEREEREARFNENBLRRES
ZEBERMREEMRE N RELME -
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10A. TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS IN WHICH DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY HAVE MATERIAL INTERESTS

11.

116

(a)

During the current period, the Company has
completed an open offer by issuing 365,565,717
ordinary shares, of which Mr. Chan Heng Fai
(“Mr. Chan”), the then ultimate controlling party
and/or his family and the companies controlled
by him, subscribed 244,336,472 shares and the
Group has paid HK$309,000 to Mr. Chan as
underwriter’s commission.

During the current period, the Company has
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
Ms. Huang, pursuant to which Ms. Huang has
disposed of the entire interest in Vigor Capital
Holdings Limited, which indirectly held a property
development project in the PRC, to the Group
which was settled by the issue of 1,350,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company by the Company
to the ultimate controlling party, which is Ms.
Huang’s nominee. Details of the transactions are
set out in note 30(a).

DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company did not recommend the

payment of a dividend for the period/year.

10A. ARAREEHEEARRZRS - REIEN

(a)  FAANEAM - AR RITEAEETT365,565,717 R B
ZAFBE HbEEEE([RLE] /2
BEEH )R REREURZERS 2 ARR
§5244,336 472K 1n - AEBEEMREEIN

309,0008 TIEABHEME -

(b)  AAARHIM - AR T BHuangZ T3]3 B & ik -
It HuangZ 4= & Vigor Capital Holdings Limited
(RPEHEEFRE—EYMERERIES ) 220 T
REE - MARQR)FEBRAFLIER T Huang X £ 2
K% AE771,350,000,00008 282 R @A - BRI~

R 52 #FBHRMIFE30(a) ©

11. BKE

B/ FR  ARAEFAUBEZZRMABKS o
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e MRk MEE
—E-RFMOA-AE_ZE-AF+A=+—ALHH
12.  LOSS PER SHARE 12. BRE#R
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RNARHEE AE(EGIRERN N EEFERINRATERTE -
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on
the following information:
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-RF —E-ME
A—RA=®E BR—RHZE
—E-AF —E-HF
+=A=+—8H =ZA=+-—H
HKS$’000 HK$’000
FHET THER
Loss [5F ]
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted STEERAEARNEEEIE Y EIE
loss per share (19,655) (54,920)
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—EB-EHEF —E-mF
B—RA=® A—B=%E
—E-RF —
+=A=+-8 =A=+-~8
’000 ’000
A TR
Number of shares R#HEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for FTEERERREEEE Y
the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share - FAR R 8 4,197,949 3,867,147
The computation of the diluted loss per share for the RAFERBEFESRESBEZAE AL TMRR
current period and prior year does not assume the AR/ FRERITZEBRERTE BAESSERE
exercise of the Company’s share options which were in BT o
issue during the period/year, because this would result in
a decrease in the loss per share.
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the BE-—T—FE-A=+—HBIFEEY LRBINETHE
year ended 31 March 2015 has been calculated taking DR —T—REMA SR AATSEEHRESRG

into account the bonus element of the open offer of one AR — R ABIRE 2 AT RIS
share of the Company for every ten existing shares that
completed in April 2015.
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13.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. #% - BERRE
Furniture,
fixtures,
Land computer
and Leasehold equipment and
building Hotel  improvement motor vehicles Total
B #BEH
T RIEF BE  HEWMEHRS EERAE w5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER TERT THER TER
COST D%
At 1 April 2014 RZE—MNENA—A 26,460 9,542 1,979 8,823 46,804
Additions NE - - 77 1,900 1,977
Disposals HeE - - - (56) (56)
Exchange realignment [& 5 5% - (1,349) (104) (472) (1,925)
At 31 March 2015 RZZE-—RFE=A=+—H 26,460 8,193 1,952 10,195 46,800
Additions NS - - 232 177 409
Acquisition of subsidiaries  UEEHTB A A
(note 30(a)) (H&#30(a)) - - - 59 59
Disposals HeE - - - (5,921) (5,921)
Transfer to investment BRI R Y
properties (12,582) - - - (12,582)
Exchange realignment [ 5, - (8) (35) (83) (126)
At 31 December 2015 RZE—HF
+-A=1+—H 13,878 8,185 2,149 4,427 28,639
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2014 R-E—meEmA—p 2,676 960 1,220 5,569 10,425
Charge for the year FREX 529 130 279 1,226 2,164
Disposals HE - - - (46) (46)
Exchange realignment 5 AR - (146) (52) (230) (428)
At 31 March 2015 RZZE-—RF=F=+—H 3,205 944 1,447 6,519 12,115
Charge for the period HINRE Y 396 88 194 518 1,196
Disposals HE - - - (4,084) (4,084)
Transfer to investment ERTIREYE
properties (1,698) - - - (1,698)
Exchange realignment [& 5 5% - - (24) (63) (87)
At 31 December 2015 RZE—FF
+=A=+-~ 1,903 1,032 1,617 2,890 7,442
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2015 NZZE—RF
+-A=1+—H 11,975 7,153 532 1,537 21,197
At 31 March 2015 NZE-HF=A=1+—H 23,255 7,249 505 3,676 34,685
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The carrying values of land and building and hotel held
by the Group are analysed as follows:

M BERRE(HE)

REBFAF LU  BFRBE ZBREEIFTNT

31.12.2015 31.3.2015

—E-EE —E-EHE

+=A=+-B =ZA=+-H

HK$’000 HKS$°000

FHET FHERT

Leasehold land and building in Hong Kong REBZHETHRETF 11,975 23,255
Freehold land and building in Japan RARZKASERE T R T 7,153 7,249
19,128 30,504

At 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s leasehold
land and buildings with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately HK$11,975,000 (31.3.20135:
HK$23,255,000) has been pledged to secure the Group’s
borrowings (notes 24 and 34).

At 31 December 2015, motor vehicles with aggregate
carrying value of nil (31.3.2015: HK$1,418,000) were
assets held under finance lease.

The above items of property, plant and equipment,
except for freehold land, are depreciated at the following
rates per annum:

Land and buildings Over the shorter of the term
of lease, or 2% on straight

line method

Leasehold improvements ~ Over the term of the lease or
6.67% —20% on straight
line method, whichever is
the shorter

Furniture, fixtures, 20% —25% on reducing

computer equipment balance method

and motor vehicles

RZE—RF+ZA=+—0 ASEEEESG &Y
11,975,000 (= E—RAF=A=+—H : 23,255,000
TIZETHETHEEFERRUBSAER ZEE (K
FE24134) ©

R-ZE—RF+-_A=+—8 REREHEFEZE
EzAERREARXATS(ZE—RF=-A=1+—8":
1,418,000 7T) °

EiWE - BERREE R kAR LRI EIATF
KIE

T MEF IR HE IR ERE 2 2%
(ABSEE BXE)
HEMHEEE B SIRE 752 6.67%-20%
(ABEE BXE)
BRI~ & 20%-25% * BRAAERERIRR A
BENRERAE
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FAIR VALUE

At the beginning of the period/year

Additions

Disposals

Transfer from property, plant and equipment

Transfer to investment properties classified as
held for sale (note 22)

(Decrease) increase in fair value — unrealised

Exchange adjustments

At the end of the period/year

14. KREWE
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
— —F-mF
mA—AZ mA—AZ
—E-FRFE —E-AF
+=A=+—~H =A=+—8H
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT FET
AFE

REEA)) 844,901 711,914
NE 254,500 275,430
& (16,622) -
BEAYE  BEREE 27,920 -

BREESERFELRE ZIREME
(Bt5£22) (1,342) (99,142)
RNFECHD) N — RER (10,492) 6,996
[E 5 (12,881) (50,297)
B 1,085,984 844,901
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All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.

The investment properties with an aggregate fair value
of HK$774,684,000 (31.3.2015: HK$702,242,000) are
under charge to secure bank and other borrowings of the
relevant group entities (notes 24 and 34).

The Group is in the process of completing title
registration of certain investment properties located
in the USA with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$40,001,000 (31.3.2015: HK$22,631,000).

AEEMBEUGERERAURDESHEERTHEZY
ERDEERAFERNE  UNBERREMEARK -

NFEEHT774,684,0008 0 (= FE—RAF=ZA=+—
702,242,0008 7)) 2 I E M E S ARG HES B
RITREMEE (FIFE245%34) ©

EI
E
"h

AEEIEESIEM N EBREES $£40,001,0008 (==
—RE=ZA=+—H :22,631,00087T) 2 & TIREWEE
EERD °
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair values of the investment properties situated
in Hong Kong, Singapore and the USA as at 31
December 2015 and 31 March 2015 and the fair
values of properties as at date of transfer to investment
properties are based on the valuations carried out by
Avista Valuation Advisory Limited (“Avista”), Cushman
& Wakefield of Connecticut, Inc., CBRE Inc. and
VMG Health, LLC.. Avista is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors and Valuers, while other
valuers are members of Appraisal Institute Real Estate
Appraisers, all are independent qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the investment properties is
the current use.

The fair values of the investment properties are derived
from the capitalisation of net income method with due
allowance for the reversionary income.

All of the fair value measurements of the Group’s
investment properties were categorised into Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers in or out of
Level 3 during the period/year.

At the end of the reporting period, management of the
Group works with valuers to establish and determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level
3 fair value measurements. Where there is a material
change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the
fluctuations will be reported to the directors of the
Company.

14.

BREWEH)

RZE—AF+ZA=+—BRZTE—HF=A=+—
B URES IR REEZIREMELTERDER
EREREMEZA 2 A TEEEBTHFHRNERAF
([3Z5h]) + Cushman & Wakefield of Connecticut, Inc. *
CBRE, Inc.’2VMG Health, LLC.FTH#EfT b EER - X
AHong Kong Institute of Surveyors and Valuers@ & * 1
H b {H1E AN A Appraisal Institute Real Estate Appraisers®
8 - R AMAREEN MEE 2 B A EREEGERD -

HEIREMELTER  REVESFAEKEMRERA
5 iR

BREMEQXFEEBRAFRENMOER - AREBKRA
TEHEE R -

REBRENEMERFEFERBAFT=ZRRFEEE
RE/FRALBBELEBASERE=RZBER -

REEHREER  AREERELGEMAE  RFE=
MAFEFERIMREBEE 2 AERM REABIE -
BEZATFEEEARY  EEBRAKAARRESZR

o
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. KREWHE(E)
The major inputs used in the fair value measurement of AEEBEAREMER_ZT—RAFT_A=F+—HRZZ
the Group’s significant investment properties as at 31 —hRF=ZA=+—BzAVEAEMAETEH ABERET]
December 2015 and 31 March 20135 are set out below: T

Investment properties held by

the Group in the consolidated ~ Fair value ~ Valuation technique(s) Significant Relationship of unobservable
statement of financial position ~ hierarchy ~ and key input(s) unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value Sensitivity
GRRBRARPAREE TUBRE@ARERS
REME ATEER HERWRIEBARE EXTIRERARE NTENEE $RE
Investment properties - office ~ Level 3 Income Capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking ~ The higher the capitalisation A slight increase in the
located in Hong Kong with a Approach into account the capitalisation ~rate, the lower the fair value. ~ capitalisation rate used would
carrying value of HK$85,600,000 of rental income potential, result in a significant decrease
(31.3.2015: HK$58,820,000) The key inputs are: nature of the property, and  The higher the daily market in fair value, and vice versa.
prevailing market condition, ~ rent, the higher the fair value.
(1) Capitalisation rate; and ~ of 3% (31.3.2015: 3%) per A significant increase in the
annum, daily market rent used would
(2) Daily market rent. result in a significant increase in
Daily market rent, taking into fair value, and vice versa.

account the time, location,
and individual factors, such
as frontage and size, between
the comparables and the
property, at an average of
HK$1.7 (31.3.2015: HKS1.7)
per square foot per day on
gross floor area basis.

BENE-NNEERAE 5= LON-V:N (7~ ARASMABRLEN . ERMcEYR - ATESE- MRENMEHALEHATE

85,600,000 L( =5 —1F MELENRERTRE - ARRD - RZIA -

ZA=+—H :58820,000%T) FEHAEEAR: EREERBEF3% FRMSEEHE - ATEY

AR (CZ-1%£=A=t-8: & FRESATmSESARENSE
(1) BRx: R 3%) ° HATEABEN K2R -
Q) SEMEHES - TRTELRIERZNEL

W - i E RERIEZ (e
REANE  BETEHS
FREERAEE  THAE
BEFHRL7ER(ZE-T
EZA=+-B:1787)°
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. KREWHE(E)
Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated ~ Fair value ~ Valuation technique(s) Significant Relationship of unobservable
statement of financial position ~ hierarchy ~ and key input(s) unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value Sensitivity
GRABRARPAEEE TUBRRGARERY
REME ATEER HERWRIEBARE EXTIRERARE NTENEE gRE
Investment properties - Level 3 Income Capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking ~ The higher the capitalisation A slight increase in the
residential homes located in Approach into account the capitalisation ~rate, the lower the fair value. ~ capitalisation rate used would
USA with a carrying value of of rental income potential, result in a significant decrease
HK$144,124,000 (31.3.2015: The key inputs are: nature of the property, and  The higher the monthly in fair value, and vice versa.
HK$138,582,000) prevailing market condition,  market rent, the higher the
(1) Capitalisation rate; and ~ from 10% to 16.13% fair value. A significant increase in the
(31.3.2015: 10% to 16.25%) monthly market rent used
(2) Monthly market rent. ~ per annum. would result in a significant
increase in fair value, and vice
Monthly market rent, taking versa.

into account the time,
location, and individual
factors, such as frontage and
size, between the comparables
and the property, at an
average of US$0.44 to
US§1.07 (31.3.2015:
US$0.44 to US$1.1) per
square foot per month on
gross floor area basis.

RENEINEERAR 5=/ LON-V:N |7~ ARASMABRLEN Y ERMESR ATESE- MRENMEHALEHATE

144,124,00057T( =S —RF= A EHELRERTRE  EX ARRD - RZIA -

=+—H 138,582,000 ) 2 FEHNHEAR: CENTEE0%Z1613% FATHELYE  ATES

EE(I (ZZ-8%F=A=+-8: @& FREATSHESARENSE
1) ERLE: R 10%Z16.25%) ° BATEABEN - RZHA o
Q) BAMEES - TRUELBRIERZNEL

W - i E RERIAZ (e
MEANE - §ATERE
FREERAEE  THAE
ASFAROMETELOTE
T(ZE-REZA=+-R:
04ZLIET)
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—HETZA=1+—H 1M

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position
GRABRARPAEEE

Tnvestment properties -
medical facilities located in
USA with a carrying value of
HK$168,190,000 (31.3.2015:
HK$168,304,000)

RENEANEEEAE
168,190,000%70( =2 — 1%

=A=1—H :168,304,00057T)

BRI

Fair value
hierarchy

AVEER

Level 3

F=R

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

EXTRERRAYE

Income Capitalisation
Approach of sandwich
leasehold building portion
only

The key inputs are:

(1) Capitalisation rate; and

(2)  Annual market rent
from leasing out the
medical facilities net of

the annual market rental
of land element.

EAZRRHEETHNZ
BB

EELUN (7K

1) BXfeE: R

14. REWEHE)

Significant
unobservable input(s)

EXFIRERAYE

Capitalisation rate, taking
into account the capitalisation
of rental income potential,
nature of the property, and
prevailing market condition,
0f 7.25% (31.3.2015: 7.25%)
per annum.

Annual market rent, taking
into account the time,
location, and individual
factors, such as frontage and
size, between the comparables
and the property, US$38.62
(31.3.2015: US$38.90) per
square foot per year on gross
building area basic after
deducting the rental of land.

ARASRABALED
EHERERTRE  BX
ZEEETLS%(ZE—H
FZA=+-0:725%)

SRABHENEEZNF L
B - 12 RIERRZ (]

(2) BHERERBGLIE MELNE MBI
EEMEHECRR) 2K BEMIREEHEER

sEMHEE -

BEEE BEEETAR
38625 (5 -hE=A
=1+—H:3890%L)

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
TUBRRGARERY
NTENEE

The higher the capitalisation
rate, the lower the fair value.

The higher the annual market
rent, the higher the fair value.

ExfeEds NTELE -

tﬁm%fﬁﬁt NFES

ant

Sensitivity
$BE

Aslight increase in the
capitalisation rate used would
result in a significant decrease
in fair value, and vice versa.

A significant increase in the
annual market rent used would
result in a significant increase in
fair value, and vice versa.

FREAM NG EHATE
RERD - R2IA -

FRsEmSEEARENEE
HATEKEEN R -
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position
GRABRARPAEEE

Tnvestment properties -
medical facilities located in
USA with a carrying value of

HKS$246,006,000 (31.3.2015: nil

RENFRRERAE

246,006,000 T(—E—R%F=A

=8 FI2ERRE

Fair value
hierarchy

AVEER

Level 3

F=R

Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

EXTRERRAYE

Income Capitalisation

Approach

The key inputs are:

(1) Capitalisation rate; and

(2)  Annual market rent

WAERE
FEHNTEE
(1) BREE: R

2) BEMFHE -

14. REWEHE)

Significant
unobservable input(s)

EXFIRERAYE

Capitalisation rate, taking
into account the capitalisation
of rental income potential,
nature of the property, and
prevailing market condition,
of a range from 6% t0 6.25%
(31.3.2015: nil) per annum.

Annual market rent, taking
into account the time,
location, and individual
factors, such as frontage and
size, between the comparables
and the property, US$25.45
(31.3.2015: nil) per square
foot.

SRESRAEREN 1
RUENREATAL AR
LEREE6%E6.25%(ZF
~hFZA=t-0:%)

SRATALRMERZNEL
B B RERER(0E
MEANE - BENSHS
BETARASET(ZE
“IFZA=T-H:5).

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
TUBRRGARERY
NTENEE

The higher the capitalisation
rate, the lower the fair value.

The higher the annual market
rent, the higher the fair value.

Exfekds ATELE -

BETGHEES  ATEE

o

a)0|

Annual Report 2015
“E-RFEFR

Sensitivity
$BE

A slight increase in the
capitalisation rate used would
result in a significant decrease
in fair value, and vice versa.

A significant increase in the
annual market rent used would
result in a significant increase in
fair value, and vice versa.

FRAMEXHT e BHATE
RERD  R2IA -

FRsEmSEEARENEE
HATEAREN R -
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—HETZA=1+—H 1M

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position
GRABRARPAEEE

Investment properties -
commercial located in Singapore
with a carrying value of
HK$343,876,000 (31.3.2015:
HK$389,166,000)

REMEFRIEREE

343,876,000 (ZE—HE=
=+—H :389,166,00087) 2

RS

There has been no change from the valuation technique

used in the prior year.

Fair value
hierarchy

AVEER

Level 3

E

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

EXTRERRAYE

Income Capitalisation
Approach

The key inputs are:
(1) Capitalisation rate; and

(2) Daily market rent.

BB
EELUN (K
1) BXfeE: R

2) BEmEHEE -

14. REWEHE)

Significant
unobservable input(s)

EXFIRERAYE

Capitalisation rate, taking
into account the capitalisation
of rental income potential,
nature of the property, and
prevailing market condition,
of range from 3.1% to

34% (31.3.2015: 3.4%) per
annum,

Daily market rent, taking into
account the time, location,
and individual factors, such
as frontage and size, between
the comparables and the
property, at an average

of SGD0.11 to SGD0.31
(31.3.2015: SGD0.17 to
SGD0.31) per square foot per
day on gross floor area basis.

STRASMAEREN 1
EHERERTRE B
MEENTEFI1%E34%
(Z2-R%=A=t-8:
3.4%) °

STRAELENERZNE L
BE - ERERER (3
MEXN% - §ETERE
RREEEALE 1A
FAEFAROUFMELE
0313 T(Z5—h%=
A=+—RH: 01755 E
0.3 7T) -

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
TUBRRGARERY
NTENEE

The higher the capitalisation
rate, the lower the fair value.

The higher the daily market

rent, the higher the fair value.

ExfeEis ATELE -

m%fﬁﬁt” TATEE

EIW

PR ERI E EFEARR -

Sensitivity
$BE

Aslight increase in the
capitalisation rate used would
result in a significant decrease
in fair value, and vice versa.

A significant increase in the
daily market rent used would
result in a significant increase in
fair value, and vice versa.

FRAMEXHT e BRATE
RERD - R2IA -

FRERmSEEARENEE
HATEKEEN R -
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AN =
e MRk MEE
—E-RFMOA-AE_ZE-AF+A=+—ALHH
15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE R—EBE LT 2R
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-AF —E-HF
+=—A=+—H =A=+-—H
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET THET
Cost of investment, listed WEKAN - Fh 10,489 10,489
Share of post-acquisition losses and DU EE R EIE
impairment recognised EHERIRIE (10,489) (7,707)
- 2,782
Particulars of the Group’s associate at 31 December 2015 R—E— + A=+—BEk=ZZFE—AF=A=+—
and 31 March 2015 are as follows: H- A% Hs CRRIREBIAT
Proportion of nominal
Place of value of issued ordinary Proportion of
incorporation share capital held by voting rights held by
Name of associate and operation the Group the Group Principal activities
ERRIR BRTERRRAEE
BENAER EXnY EREFHRALA EREREEREREL  TEER
31.12.2015 31.3.2015 31.12.2015 31.3.2015
“¥-1% -B-Ef  Z%-1f  CZE-EF
tZA=t-R Z=R=t-B tZR=t-B Z=A=t-A
RST Tnternational Systems Inc. (“RSI”) Canada 18.0% 18.0% 22% 22% Provision of integrated web-based
JIEIN real-time reservation and property

The shares of RSI are listed on the TSX Venture
Exchange in Canada with quoted value as of 31
December 2015 of HK$8,547,000 (31.3.20135:
HK$9,671,000). The directors of the Company consider
that the quoted share prices of RSI do not represent
the fair value given low volume of trading and that the
Group had not successfully disposed of such shares
despite having appointed an agent to do so. The directors
of the Company believe that no material future cash
flows to be generated from the investment and made a
full impairment of interests in an associate.

management systems to the hotel
and resort industries

BEERERTERIBEEREL
ROsERZSR

RSIBR DA 12 K&
—A=+—RzA EﬁﬁFP%SSMOOO‘}%fE(:%*ﬁi
A=+—H8H 9,671,000/ 7T) - ERARIEEREARE

%K%Eé&ﬁﬁ/\ﬁ%}{smxm ' 15%1%7%521)3&%:%
ERtn - MARBEERARSLZ FTREL TERERRD

IEIN/N ﬂ%?u?ﬁjgih,\T\@Fﬂiﬁﬁfﬁﬁ/miﬂfﬁm
—EEE AT 2 RN 2 EURE

AR PBIERLET  R-T—HF

127



ZH International Holdings Limited

EEREERERAE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015

e MR

ZE-RFOA-REZE-RF+ZA=+—HLHHE

16. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 16. R-—HeELEZER

31.12.2015 31.3.2015

—g-HF e T

+=-—BA=+—H =A=+—H

HK$’000 HKS$°000

FET FHER

Cost of investment, unlisted WEKA - FEET - 40
Share of post-acquisition loss SMEWEEEE - (40)
Amount due from a joint venture Y —MEEEDERIR - 900
Share of post-acquisition loss e EE - (169)
- 731

- 731

128

During the current period, the joint venture was disposed
of to an independent third party for a consideration
of HK$657,000. Accordingly, a gain on disposal of
HK$279,000 was recognised.

The amount due from a joint venture represents a loan
advanced to a joint venture that was unsecured, interest-
free and had no fixed terms of repayment as at 31 March
2015. The amount was assigned to an independent third
party after the disposal as described above.

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture as at 31 March
2015 are as follows:

Place of incorporation

Name of joint venture and operation

AL R
EELEERE =E Sk
SLP-MORE Limited Hong Kong
BB

RARER - :ZAEEURB657,0008 L HE T —BE L
F=7 - AmEREENKz=279,0008 7T °

REE-—RAF=ZA=1T—0 REE—HaeLtEFEE—
HEXTEELCERZEER 2EREBEEERAZE
e R EMHESRER  ReRCERT —RBULFE=T -

REIZ—RF=A=+—H AEESECEFENOT :

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued ordinary

share capital held by
the Group  Principal activities
ERTEERBRAEE"
AEBFAERGOLEE  FEEK
40% Real estate agencies and

property development

HWERE MY RERE
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AN &
REMBHmRME
—E-AFMA—HBEZE-—RF T A=1T—HHH
17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS AHHESREE
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise: AL ESREERTE
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
= —g-5nf
+=A=+-B =A=+-8
HK$’000 HKS$°000
FHET FTHERT
Equity securities IRANFE 75
Unlisted in Hong Kong, at cost REEIELET - IRAE - 1,293
Unlisted overseas, at cost BINELETE « AR E 616 616
616 1,909
Club memberships gF - 1,425
616 3,334
Less: impairment recognised o BRERRE (616) (616)
- 2,718

The available-for-sale financial assets are measured
at cost less accumulated impairment at the end of the
reporting period as the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that its fair value cannot be measured
reliably.

In prior year, the directors of the Company has reviewed
the recoverable amount of the unlisted overseas equity
securities with reference to expected future cash inflows
and considered that the entire carrying amount to be
impaired.

During the current period, available-for-sale financial
assets were disposed of for an aggregate consideration
of HK$4,773,000. Accordingly, a gain on disposal
of available-for-sale financial assets amounting to
HK$2,055,000 was recognised in profit or loss.

AHHESREEEINRE BREE RIZKARR R
B8 REARARREEOR/EAFETEAISENE -

EF  ARREFE2REPRKRSRARHIELTE
HNRAE H 2 AT E £ R - WRREIRAEER TRE -

RAREIRE - AfHEESREENREAS £4,773,000/8 TH
& AmMRESPERALEHEEEE 2 W252,055,000
BT
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18.

19.

20.

130

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/RESTRICTED BANK 18. CEBBITER SHREBTEMSURBITEASRREAES
BALANCES AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged BEHEARITEREEERTRITZESR - LRERTERE
to banks to secure the banking facilities granted to B2 RITEEME - AEBEEFFF9,239,0008 7T(=
the Group. Deposits of the Group amounting to T-AF=A=1+—H:6,711,000/70) + LS IERNH]
HK$9,239,000 (31.3.2015: HK$6,711,000) have been RITER - B DEAERDEE -
pledged to secure non-current bank borrowings and are
therefore classified as non-current assets.
Restricted bank balances and bank balances carry interest R BIRIT ARG AR TR TS EFIER0.0120.05E (=
at market rates which range from 0.01% to 0.05% Z—RF=A=1T—H:0.01Z0.05F) - BEMRITFR
(31.3.2015: 0.01% to 0.05%) per annum. Pledged bank EEFMNERISEISE(ZE—RHFE=A=1+—H:
deposits carry interest at fixed rates which range from 0.15%0.35/2) - EEMRITEHAGNBBIRTEEERR
0.15% to 0.35% (31.3.2015: 0.15% to 0.35%) per bR o
annum. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon
the settlement of relevant bank borrowings.
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE 19. #HEREDYE
Properties under development for sale are all situated HFEERTYEDHUATE - WERGN RS HEEE
in the PRC and are expected to be realised after twelve He+ (@A &SR -
months from the end of the reporting period.
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, DEPOSITS AND 20. EWERR -  RE&RBARE
PREPAYMENTS
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-AF —E-HF
+=A=+—H =A=+-—H
HKS$’000 HK$’000
FET FTHERT
Accounts receivable JE U TRER 1,185 1,836
Deposits placed in brokers’ accounts FEHRAEILEREP ZTER 260 19,089
Prepaid business taxes TRBEER 3,888 -
Amounts due from a related company FEN —EREE A RIFUIR 912 -
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HihpgEl s « 24 RIERFUE 9,044 5,534
15,289 26,459
Amounts due from an investee W — 2R E T FR 8 6,346 6,560
Impairment on amounts due from an investee FEU — 2RI E R BRI E (6,346) (1,721)
- 4,839
15,289 31,298
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20.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Accounts receivables represent the rental receivables and
hotel room revenue receivables.

The settlement terms of rental receivables are upon
presentation of demand notes. Rental receivables in
the USA are initially received by the property managers
appointed by the Group as collection agents. Pursuant
to agreements between the property managers and
the Group, the property managers shall pay the rental
collected on behalf of the Group on a monthly basis.

Hotel room revenue is normally settled by cash or credit
card.

All accounts receivables were aged by 0-60 days, based
on invoice dates, and not impaired.

Amounts due from a related company represent the
receivables from the provision of property management
services to SeD USA, LLC (see note 39). The amount
has to be settled in arrears monthly and is due within 6
months to one year based on invoice date and due date.

Accounts receivable that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default. Accounts
receivable that was past due but not impaired as the
Group has hold collaterals over the balances. Based
on past experience, the management believes that no
additional allowance for impairment is necessary in
respect of the accounts receivable that were past due
but not impaired as there is no significant change in
credit quality and the balances are considered to be fully
recoverable.

During the period/year, the Group has reviewed the
recoverable amount of amounts due from an investee and
considered an impairment of HK$4,625,000 (31.3.2015:
HK$1,721,000) is required.

20.

FEWR ~ BERBANKEAHE)

FEMCTR AR AR TR S RO 5 55 U A R ROR

ERME 2 FEGFBHTEFTBNEREE - NXHE -
HERUGRIAENF BHARBREERPRAREAZDER
B - RIEZSYREBEAREBI L HE - 25D
EEEAFANRAEERK 2 EE -

BIEFEBRA—RUR SSEARESR -

RBBHZAH  2ERURFIREER0E60 R B MR
=

JiE W — Pl 32 2 BIRIB 48 REA1SeD USA, LLCIR YK E 2
BRI FEU 2 IR o (RMEE39) & FRANE A AR -
BERREZAHRIHABRERZ—FREIH -

360 HA IR (B 2 PR MR RR SR04 B K B o0 4T A D 3 R RO 8%
ZEP - BRMEERE  BUSRR T ANAEBRZE
BHFBEETR - REUAERLR  EEEMREHEANCE
HME R EZ RUBRFE L BINRE RS AEEERY
BEABE A ZSEHRER A28 E -

B %R AEECEMER—ZBEREHSTIBZAK
E4% WRABEL4625008T(—E—H4FE=A
=+—8 :1,721,0005 70 )& °
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21.

22.

132

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. RAFEFAEZZEMEE
PROFIT OR LOSS
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-EE —E-EHE
+=A=+-B =ZA=+-H
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET THET
Held-for-trading investments: BIEEBEZIRE -
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB LT ZRAES 430 11,188
Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong REBIRIN LT 2 BRARES 9,382 28,667
9,812 39,855

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD
FOR SALE

During the current period, the Group entered into
agreements with independent third parties for the
disposals of certain investment properties located
in the USA for an aggregate cash consideration of
approximately HK$1,342,000. The directors of the
Company assessed and concluded that the held-for-
sale criteria set out in HKFRS 5 Non-Current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are met.
Therefore, the investment properties are classified as
assets held for sale as at 31 December 2015. The fair
value of the investment properties classified as held for
sale as at 31 December 20135 is determined with reference
to the contracted selling price. The disposals have
been completed and consideration was received in full
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group
entered into agreements with independent third parties
for the disposals of certain investment properties located
in Singapore for an aggregate cash consideration of
approximately HK$99,142,000. The disposals have been
completed and consideration was received in full during
the current period.

22.

TEAFELHEZRENE

WA AEBRBYE =1L NERSNE
#11,342,000 B THEE TUREEZREYME - A7
EEMERABC AR B BRMELRIESRIFHHELES
FRBEERDRILBEXF I IIFE - Bt - R
E-RFT_A=+t—"B REVERIBAFKELEE
E-RN-_T—HF+-A=+—0 2BARBELEZR
BEMEZRAFEDZEGNHEEMETE - HED MK -
WERREHREEE AR HUPEE -

REE-ZT-AF=A=1+—HILFE AEEEEFIE
=R - AR e R{E499,142,0008 THESE T
AR IR 2 REYE - HES K LERAHH 2
WERARAE o
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23.  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND 23. ERERR  CRREREFER
ACCRUALS
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-AF —E-HF
+=—A=+—H =A=+-—H
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET THET
Accounts payable FERTBRSR 60,342 561
Rental deposits HERS 3,041 2,821
Real estate tax payable FERTHDEER 2,544 1,052
Deposits received and receipt in advance from M ERFERIMEER 2
property buyers e 57,250 -
Other payables and accruals HAb R FIE R IRt E 13,043 6,835
Receipt in advance in relation to the open offer of — AFAZERQA RN 2
the Company’s shares (note 28(c)) TEURGRIE(H15#28(c)) - 11,299
Deposits received for disposal of MHEREMEE WZE
investment properties - 851
136,220 23,419
All accounts payables are aged within one year, based on BIFERAE  2HENERERR S —FR o
invoice date.
Deposits received and receipt in advance from property BRZEMEERRNBEPRBREERE T ZEAAUNEAR
buyers are expected to be released to profit or loss more - BEHE R RFBERMEER 2 Re SRR EREEE

than twelve months after the end of the reporting period HE+T—EANESEREERE -
as the properties are expected to be delivered after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.
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24.

134

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS AND BANK 24.

OVERDRAFT

Bank borrowings — secured
Bank overdraft — unsecured
Borrowings from a financial institution — secured

Less: front-end fee

Analysis for reporting purpose as
Current liabilities
— bank and other borrowings
- bank overdraft

Non-current liabilities
— bank and other borrowings

The borrowings repayable based on scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements
are as follows:

Within one year

More than one year but not exceeding two years
More than two years but not exceeding five years
More than five years

RITREMERRBITES
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-EF —E-RHE
+=ZA=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
IRITER — B ER 392,903 366,349
RITE Y — EIKIR 7,748 -
RE SRR B —FER 38,431 38,730
439,082 405,079
B mESEE (4,410) (5,578)
434,672 399,501
MERBOINA
mEAE
—RITREME K 158,938 210,564
—RITIESX 7,748 -
166,686 210,564
ERBAE
—RITREMER 267,986 188,937
434,672 399,501
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-AE —E-AfF
+=A=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHxT FET
BERBEHTET
ERHEBERZ
BT
—E R 155,389 156,222
—F A HETBIBRE 170,299 62,543
MEA BT BBRSE 78,400 137,257
FELF 34,994 49,057
439,082 405,079
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24.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS AND BANK
OVERDRAFT (continued)

The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings include an
amount of HK$11,297,000 (31.3.2015: HK$54,342,000)
which is not repayable within one year based on
scheduled repayment dates has been shown under current
liabilities as the counterparties have discretionary rights
to demand immediate repayment.

The range of effective interest rates of the bank
borrowings is 1.14% to 4.97% (31.3.2015: 1.07% to

24.

RITREMERRRITES(H)

RITERERAERE11,297,0008T(—F—-HF=A
=+—H : 54,342,000/ 7C) * REEFEFRERBAR —F
WIEE - R E T R BERSRANEER - BOERS
afE-

RITERBEFNENT1.1424.97E(ZE—HF = A
=+—H :1.0784.93[8) - BITEFRANZEEEHIE MIZ

4.93%) per annum. The bank borrowings denominated BITHSMETE - /T -
in various currencies and carrying interest at prevailing
market rates are analysed below.
Currencies Interest rates 31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-AF —ZE-hfF
g% GRS +=A=+—H =H=+-R
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET TERT
HKS$ Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 0.75%
B to 1.75% (31.3.2015: HIBOR plus 0.75% to 1.75%)
BERTAZERE ((BBRITRAERE ) IN0.7521.75F
(ZZ—RF=ZA=+—H : BEROTRERSM0.7SE
1.75/2) 41,137 64,588
Singapore dollars SGD Swap Offered Rate (“SGDSOR”) plus 1.5%
(“SGD”) (31.3.2015: SGDSOR plus 1.5% and 1.75%)
TN T g AR 2 (bR T iv 2 ) IS e
(T¥rhnsg T ) (ZZ—RF=A=+—H : MIETHEMLSR1L.7SE) 18,395 75,301
SGD Singapore Interbank Offered Rate (“SIBOR”) plus 0.75%
AN T and 1.75% (31.3.2015: SIBOR plus 0.75% and 1.75%)
AN ERTT R AT B ([ BT IR aRI TR ZE 3R 2 1)
M0.75Kk1.7SE(ZFE—RF=A=+—1:
N ERT TR FEHF 200,75 & 1.75E) 82,716 86,716
United States dollars London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 0.75% to
(“USD”) 2.00% (31.3.2015: LIBOR plus 0.75%)
ESM(E ) RBIRTTRIZEF B ([ MEFERITRZEYFE 1) N0.75%2.00/2
(ZZ-RF=A=+—R0 : RBBTRAEFRLN0.75E) 66,274 8,909
UsSD Fixed rates at 3.72% to 4.91%
ET (31.3.2015: 4.75% and 4.91%)
EE3NRB4NE(ZE—RF=A=+T—"H :4.75K4.91%) 182,026 127,288
390,548 362,802
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24.

25.

136

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS AND BANK 24.

OVERDRAFT (continued)

Borrowings from a financial institution with the carrying
amount of HK$36,376,000 (31.3.2015: HK$36,699,000)
bear interest at LIBOR plus 4.75% (31.3.2015: LIBOR
plus 4.75%) and denominated in USD.

Bank overdrafts bear interest at 5% per annum
(31.3.2015: n/a).

OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

Within one year —F A

More than one year, but not —FA L BETHER
exceeding two years MF

More than two years, but not MEA E - B ERR
exceeding five years i

o RERE R

Less: future finance charges

THERERE

Present value of lease obligations

B —EFREEZ
HIR(RE
BEIIR)

Less: amounts due within one year
shown under current liabilities

—FIRBHZ A

Amounts due after one year

The lease terms of the finance leases were 5 to 7 years.
Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance
leases are fixed at 1.88% per annum on respective
contract dates. The obligations were early terminated
during the current period.

RITREMERRRITES(H)

85 18 36,376,000/ T (—E—HF=A=+—0:
36,699,000/ 7T ) 2 2K B & B IE B SR R im BERTT R 4
B4 75B(CE—RF=F=1+—0 : GHBETRERE
n4.75E) st B AZETTAHE ©

RITERFMNESEF R (ZE—REF=A=+—H8:F
A e

25. BEMAEE
Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payments lease payments
BRIEAEMR BREHENRZRE

31.12.2015 31.3.2015 31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-RF —E-HF —Z—-hfF —E—-AfF
+=ZA=+—-8A =A=+—-H +=—HA=+—-H =A=+—H
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FTHET TR THER THET

- 224 - 205

- 224 - 205

- 390 - 356

- 838 - 766

- (72) - N/A

- 766 - 766
- (205)

- 561

MEHEZHERRARTELF - REHER TARE
HEFHNXRE AN AHEF B1.88E - ZRFERERK
HAFRIER AT AR UL -
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26.

27.

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES AND
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

Included in the amount due to related companies of
HK$143,832,000 and amounts due to ultimate holding
company of HK$26,740,000 represent advances to
the Group to finance the acquisition of the Group’s
investment properties during the current period. The
amounts due to related companies and the ultimate
holding company are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Ms. Huang has the controlling interest over these related
companies.

LOANS FROM A RELATED COMPANY

The related company is Henan Zensun Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (“Zensun Real Estate”), which Ms. Huang
has controlling interests and Mr. Zhang Jingguo is the
director. The loans are unsecured, interest bearing at
the lower of (i) 4% per annum or (ii) such other interest
rate the Group is able to borrow in an amount equal to
the relevant loan from a bank or a financial institution
at the date of drawdown. Except for the amount of
HK$154,747,000 (31.3.2015: nil) which is repayable
in 2018 and classified under non-current liabilities, the
remaining amounts are repayable in 2016 and classified
under current liabilities.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
carrying amounts of the loans approximate their fair
values at initial recognition.

26.

27.

BNEELRARKREZERATRE

JFE < 838 A R 7RI 143,832,000 7T & JE A AR R4 AL A AR
1826,740,0008 7T * IE AR EB N AHFMEZ WER
SEREVERAEBREZBR - BNEEQRRER
ERARFIE AR - R EWIEBERIEE -

HuangZ + 2 SRE N R E RS -

RE—HBAEQRZEN

BEARATHEAEEXERAR(EHEE ] HuangX
TREFHRBERESRRBELERES) - ZERA
A BT RIEER S - ()FFE4ES () EERE
RNESBAEEENARITREMEEEAETHEREEE
ZEMFIER - BRER-_ZT—N\FEERSAERDEEZ
154,747,00080( ZE—RF=A=+—H : )4 T
SHBER T NFEETHEARBEE -

ARAEFARR
AFAERE -

C REERZREER B R
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28.

138

SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

Ordinary shares with no par value:

At 1 April 2014
Issue of shares (Note a)
Capital reduction (Note b)

At 31 March 2015

Issue of shares under open offer (note c)

Exercise of share options (note 33)

Issue of shares for acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 30(a))

At 31 December 2015

Notes:

a.

Pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 6 May 2014
entered into between the Company and an independent third
party, 53,000,000 new ordinary shares were issued at an
aggregate amount of HK$19,080,000. The proceeds (after
deducting directly attributable transaction costs amounting
to HK$436,000) were used to provide additional working
capital for the Company. The new shares were issued under
the general mandate granted to the directors of the Company
at the annual general meeting of the Company.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders
on 28 August 2014, the nominal value of the issued
share capital was reduced by HK$800,000,000 of which
an amount of HK$650,820,000 was applied towards
eliminating the accumulated losses of the Company as at
31 March 2014 and an amount of HK$149,180,000 was
transferred to a capital reduction reserve account.

On 22 April 2015, the Company completed an open offer
by issuing 365,565,717 ordinary shares on the basis of one
rights share for every ten existing shares, at a subscription
price of HK$0.1 per rights share. The cash proceeds received
amounted to approximately HK$36,557,000 (of which
HK$11,299,000 was received during the year ended 31
March 2015), before share issue expenses of HK$974,000.

All the shares issued during the period/year rank pari
passu with other shares in issue in all respects.

BHEZEER

R-Z—WFHEA—H
BT (KT 5Fa)
HIRRR A (M7 2Eh)

NZE—RF=A=+—H
RN RS E BT (B atc)
TT{E R (H7a£33)
WEEM B AR FTE T T 2 IR
(K15£30(a))

VNN )N

Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZEREE Ex )
HK$°000
FHET
3,602,657,172 970,951
53,000,000 18,644
- (800,000)
3,655,657,172 189,595
365,565,717 35,583
10,197,080 1,698
1,350,000,000 330,750
5,381,419,969 557,626

R-ZB-HE+ZA=+—8H

Wit

a.

BIE—BARARE— 2B IE= I ABA-T—NFH
AN ZR%E % 0 53,000,000 3 L BROET ANEHE
#319,080,00078 7T © 15 7K IE (H1Fr436,00078 T2 E#EFEE T
SRA)ERERRRRIRBIEINGEES - FRHEKREAAR
RREBFERAERFANRIESZ —BIFEREIT -

BE-—BRERZTE-—NFNAZ+N\RBBRBZFRIRESR
B % 77 f% 7K @ &R 4 800,000,000 7 T+ & 7 650,820,000
BIR-_ZE—NE=ZF=+—ARFEYHEALR21FE
149,180,000/ 7t Bl 2 8548 &= IR AN HI R R B AR -

RZE—AFMNA=+=H ' XAREZRAMAEE - UK
HRRDNB Tz RBERSHE TRRARMDERE R
R 1D 2 B %E5517365,565, 717 L EAR - BUCR S ATS A
#9436,557,0007%8 7T (FIER AR 19 881761 5 974,000/8 7018 ) (K
11,299,000 TREE-_T—RAF=A=+—BILFEKE) °

B/ FABTZAERGMERE T mEEMEETRNE
BREH#R o
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—HETZA=1+—H 1M

DEFERRED TAXATION

At 1 April 2014 RZZE—MFHEA—H
(Credit) charge to profit or loss  PMEZEER (5 A)F0BR
At 31 March 2015 RZZE—ARF
=A=+—H
Acquisition of subsidiaries W HERT B A F)
(note 30(a)) (B17£30(a))

(Credit) charge to profit or loss  AIB2EER 5+ A) 1B

Exchange realignment DEE 34 R B

At 31 December 2015 RZZ—RF
+=ZA=+—8

At 31 December 2015, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$544,971,000 (31.3.2015: HK$486,139,000)
which are subject to agreement with respective tax
authorities, available to offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Tax loss can be carried forward
indefinitely, subject to fulfilment of certain conditions or
rules, except for tax loss amounting to HK$11,434,000
(31.3.2015: nil) incurred in the PRC will expire in 2020.

Following the change in the major controlling
shareholder of the Company during the current period,
certain tax losses incurred in the USA before such major
shareholding change may not be fully utilized to offset
future profits pursuant to applicable tax regulations in
the USA. No deferred tax asset is recognised in respect of
such tax losses.

B -—REER
29, EEMKE
Accelerated  Revaluation
tax of investment Business
depreciation properties  combination Total
IEEBIERE REWESR B S gts st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T FHExT FHET FHET
270 - - 270
(204) 3,934 - 3,730
66 3,934 - 4,000
- - 7,629 7,629
- 537 - 537
- 204 - 204
66 4,675 7,629 12,370

RIZ-AF+-A=1T—08 TEERPAREBES
544,971,000 T (ZE—hF=H=+—H : 486,139,000

A7) - EERMEENBEER L
FE o RARRETRR B RET R - ML ERZE

A IR AR KR
TRIEES

ERRAREHRIBEE - FAHE THFIMRANE - HIBEBE

AR E S

MERA R B E A 2 TR TEE1811,434,0008 7T

(CF-REZA=T—R : WBR-T-TEER -

RAMBEARB T ZERRREHEZ - REXBEARE
R ERTIERBEEBANEEELZETHERED

T*%ﬁlﬁﬁ{’ﬁﬁ?ﬂﬂix%ﬂﬂ °

REMBELCHEEE °

REE I B EHIBFEE
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30.

140

ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@)

Acquisition of equity interest in Vigor Capital
Holdings Limited

Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered
into on 2 October 2015 between Ms. Huang
and the Company, Ms. Huang agreed to sell and
the Company agreed to acquire 100% of the
issued share capital of Vigor Capital Holdings
Limited (“Vigor”), a company wholly owned
by Ms. Huang for a consideration of issue of
1,350,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
(representing approximately 25.1% of the
enlarged issued share capital of the Company).
The transaction was subsequently completed
on 24 November 2015. Vigor is an investment
holding company and indirectly holds 100%
registered capital in A IEELREZBRAF],
which is engaged in property development in the
PRC.

The consideration of the acquisition at date
of completion, representing the fair value of
1,350,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
determined using the published share price
available at the date of the acquisition, amounted
to HK$330,750,000.

The acquisition is accounted for using the
acquisition method of accounting in accordance
with HKFRS 3 Business Combinations. The
directors of the Company believe that the acquired
items constitutes a business in accordance with
HKFRS 3 (for example, construction activities and
pre-completion sales activities had been started
before the acquisition). The bargain purchase gain
recognised was HK$47,738,000, mainly arose
from the drop of the Company’s share price from
the date when sale and purchase agreement was
entered into to the completion of the transaction.

30.

WHEHI B A E

(a)

W8 Vigor Capital Holdings Limited 2 fR

BER-_ZT—AF+ A = HHuang X TEAR QN AE]
Y2 EEWE  HuangZTEREBEHEBAQRE
[A Z U8 Vigor Capital Holdings Limited ([ Vigor]
HHuangX T2 8% B ) 2 2H 2 HITRA - RETY
LA%£471,350,000,000 i A8 A &) 2 3 38 AR (#H & 7 AR
REEERD BEITRA 2 #25.1%) 27N © #%
RGHER-ZZFE—RF+— A= +TIMHEZHK ° Vigor
AHHEREERAR  MERAITEENEHEE
BRAT(RPEREEMEEE) 2 2 MAA -

RrEsk BE Z IREER (B (5330,750,000/8 7T @ HHE
RARRA]1,350,000,0008% @M% 2 AFE - TofER
RUEEB B ZEAMKREEE -

WS R ERIRE B B R E 3RS AR
BEEAR - ARBESBERE  BEESWBR
RIS - ATIRETE B B —TEEB (FlREE
SEB) MR AT S RS E NS EIE#EITRIRG)
BHERABRBE R A47,738,00087C * T2MEA
NRARERIVEEMRABHERSEREBT
BREAE -
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30.

(@)

ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Acquisition of equity interest in Vigor Capital
Holdings Limited (continued)

Acquisition-related costs of HK$1,067,000 have
been expensed in the profit or loss in the current
period and included in administrative expenses.

The recognised amounts of assets and liabilities of
the acquired companies at the date of acquisition
(which is 24 November 2015) are set out below:

Property, plant and equipment

Properties under development for sale
Accounts receivable, deposits and prepayments
Tax recoverable

Amounts due from a subsidiary of the Company
Bank balances and cash

Accounts payable and accruals

Tax payable

Amounts due to related companies

Loans from a related company

Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets acquired

Consideration
Less: recognised net assets of the acquirees

Bargain purchase gain (included in ‘other gains and
losses” in the profit or loss (note 6))

Net cash inflow on acquisition:
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired

Amounts due from a subsidiary of the Company
was eliminated in the consolidation upon the
completion of acquisition.

30. WEHEAR(E)
(a)  YWHEVigor Capital Holdings Limited 2 fig & (4&)
BRIAEETAA B 2 KA 51,067,000/ 7T - RAREIRH
REEFI AL - W ARITTEHAZA °
REERHBIZZE—RAF+—AZ+HmE)ZEK
BARIZERREERBESEIHINNAT
HK$’000
FTHER
W -~ BB KRR 59
AHHEERPYE 605,911
FEUERTR ~ 12 & RIERRIE 1,979
A EBiIE 1,150
FEMAS A &) — R B A RIFRIE 7,185
RITHESREIRE 6,028
FETER R R FEAT & (67,411)
FERIEIE (2)
RSN EIRIA (14,055)
RE—HBBEEARER (154,727)
EETIBEE (7,629)
PR A E FE 378,488
RIE 330,750
B BHEREMIES c AEFE (378,488)
MBS 2 W (R ABRS
[ Bt Woa K 518 IR (B ate) ) (47,738)

Wi 2 BREMm
FriiE 2 3R

ERR

ENREHERB &S 6,028

FEH AR R B — B 2 R RN WS ST R IR AR A
AR B BTN -
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30.

142

ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@)

()

Acquisition of equity interest in Vigor Capital
Holdings Limited (continued)

Included in the loss of the Group for the period
from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015 is an
aggregate loss of HK$4,143,000 attributable
to the acquired companies (after elimination of
transactions with the Group). No turnover is
generated from the acquired companies during the
period.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2015, the Group’s loss for the period would have
been increased by HK$8,724,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purpose only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 April 2015, nor is it intended
to be a projection of future results.

Deemed acquisition of additional interests in
AHR and GMR

During the year ended 31 March 20185, the
Group’s loans to AHR and GMR, both are non-
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company,
amounting to US$7,327,000 and US$2,932,000,
respectively, were converted into 4.9% and 5.8%
of the total outstanding common stock of AHR
and GMR. A debit balance of HK$730,000,
representing the difference between (i) net assets
attributable to 5.1% of interest in AHR before
such debt conversion and (ii) 0.2% of the net
assets of AHR after such debt conversion, as
well as a credit balance of HK$133,000, being
the difference between (i) net assets attributable
to 6.3% interest in GMR before such debt
conversion and (ii) 0.5% of the net assets of GMR
after such debt conversion, representing a net
debit balance of HK$597,000, were recognised in
non-controlling interests with the corresponding
adjustment in retained earnings in the year ended
31 March 2015.

30.

W R Y A B (A7)

(a)

(b)

W B Vigor Capital Holdings Limited Z iR # (1&)

FARNEEE T -AFMNA—HAE-_T—HF
T A=+ HHBEZEETAREREQTEN
[E5 1R 4R%E4,143,000/8 T (L SIFR BAAR R E 2 22 5 18)
FTEL - HAEWRE AR EE A 2 25 -

HWEEEER T —AFMNA—BK @ BIARE
EHI A IE 518 008,724,000/8 7T © HEERHEM R
A% WIEHBREEN _T—RAFNOA—HE
ERZIERT - AEEERNATES 2 Was RS &
EE - MNTEERRRERZ ZIBA -

HBIEWBAHR R GMR Z #8502

HE-_Z—AFZA=+—HBLFE X£EHMH
AHREGMR (B ABARRIZIFEZEWB AR ) fEH

B R o 557,327,000 3% 7T % 2,932,000 € 7T -
It 55 Bl AR 3 1T 9D 2 AHR K GMR i 378 B% 42 85
4.9%K.5.8% ° B0 458 4730,00078 7T @ HHE i)
MNZEFFEIBTAHR 5.1% #E58 FEE 8 B E (i)
RZEHEREAHRE EFE02% s M2 =5
MERA#A133,00087T © HERG)RZEREER
ATGMR 6.3 %18 25 B (b & 2 FHE B (1) R sk (E 15 e iR
BGMREEFE0S% 2Bz Z=%  Ailt » B4
BFERARS97,0008T c EREE-T—HAF=-A
=+ —HIEFERIEERE R BRI EIRE AT
FIEHABREREE o
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31.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. In
view of the Group’s expansion strategy, the Group has
sourced fundings from its ultimate holding company
as well as related companies in which Ms. Huang has
beneficial interests. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes bank and other borrowings, bank
overdraft, amounts due to related companies and loans
from a related company disclosed in notes 24, 26 and 27,
net of bank balances and cash, restricted bank balances
and pledged bank deposits, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on an annual basis. As part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with the share capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues, raising of new borrowings
or redemption of debts.

31.

BEXRBER

AEEERAAT ARRAEEEBEMFEEE - R
BB TS S 2 T G AR R BA B - ERAE
B2 R 5 - AR B ph AR IR A A A B Huang K £ 7
BB BEATBEE SR - AEEREHHES
EERFTE -

AEEEREEREAGEFER  DERRERKE24 - 26 %27
WRZRITREMER « RITEX - BN —BEEQAR
BRKE—MEEARER  MIBTESG R ZRHRITE
& BEBRITERRADRESE ABGRE  2ED%
TR AR Rt -

ARREEBFHERHEARE - REAZAEN A
REEERR/EARAL R BEANEE - RIFEERZ
& ARBREBXNERE - BITHRN  BEREMEEK
BOEY  FEEBREARE -
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32.

144

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Available-for-sale financial assets

Loans and receivables (including cash and
cash equivalents)

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are
disclosed above and in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
include foreign currency risk, interest rate risk,
price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The management monitors and manages the
financial risk of the Group through internal
risk assessment which analyses exposures by
degree and magnitude of risks. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32.
Categories of financial instruments
Financial assets TREE

AHHESHEE
ERRERFEBE(BIERS R
ReEFEEEE)

TEEeE
HEERATEZ EBAE

SWTA

BRAVEFABGZERMEE

ERIAZHEF
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-RF —E-RF
+t=A=+—8B =A=t+-H
HKS$°000 HKS$°000
TR T
9,812 39,855
- 2,718
249,339 140,701
1,015,852 418,196
HHBmEEEFERBE

AEEZEBTAFBEN EXREMEREE o 8%
SeRTAEMZERSEINERR - MERER -
EBRER  FERRERBESRR -

EREEBO AR ZIZE MIEE 2 AR R G
ERREERNEEZVBRR - BRBEZFER
ZHERHENWT - EREEEREEZEAR - A
FREOR B2 B A S BREE B 16 1
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Foreign currency risk

Certain assets and liabilities are denominated in
foreign currencies of respective group entities,
which are mainly USD, SGD and Japanese Yen
(“JPY”). The Group currently does not have a

SWMIA(E)
b. HEEBREZERERBKEE)
SN I B

ETEERBBASKEERZIINEIIE T2/
X FETT R BEE(BE ] - RSB B A&
SNERIRIRER o AR - BIREEEIMNERR - IS
REEREBEINEAINERER -

foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

RiE BHNINESIE 2 B EEREB BB

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency

denominated monetary assets and monetary HELT
liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-0fF —E-hF
+=A=+—8H =H=+—H
HKS$°000 HK$°000
FHBT THET
Assets BE
usD Ev 681 20,204
SGD FInEIT 71,520 79,102
JPY = 4,499 6,453
Liabilities afE
UsSD ET 223,614 11,403
SGD s T 1 107
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

As HK$ is pegged to USD, no sensitivity analysis
on the fluctuation on USD against HK$ is
presented.

The Group’s foreign currency risk is mainly
concentrated on fluctuation of SGD and JPY
against HK$. The following table details the
Company’s sensitivity to a 5% (31.3.2015: 5%)
increase or decrease in SGD and JPY against HKS.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year end for a
5% change in SGD and JPY. A positive number
indicates an increase in post-tax loss for the year
where SGD and JPY weakens against the HKS.
For a 5% strengthening of SGD and JPY against
HKS$, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the post-tax loss and the balance would
be negative.

SGD

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the period/year.
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32.

$rhnig T
JPY H

SWMIA(E)
b. HEEBREZERERBKEE)

S B (4F)

SN
MAETTEE TR - MW EE2 X TR AETRE
ZERE DT

REBZINERBEZEPRITMFE TR B E LS
TLZEB) o TRFEFIADBEF IS TR AE LS
TSRS % ( ZE—RAF=A=+—H :5%)
ZHURE o

BREIMEBRRFRINEIIELERIAR  RF
EIRFT I T R BB 2 5% BB BINE - ERER
REFZBRTR BB I T X A BB TR 56
ZIB0E o ETINE TN BB LB TTIZ RS % - R
BiREEERESBERRZFZE  MARIAR
e

Profit or loss

B/
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-HF —E-mEF
mMA—HZE mMA—HZE
—E-HF —E-fHF
+=A=+—8 =A=+-H
HKS$°000 HK$°000
FBT FExT
2,986 3,298
188 269

BN FREERARRERBE FRRR - HEREER
7 BUREN LT RERIRE B SNE R -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s results and operating cash flows
would be affected by the changes of market
interest rates. The Group’s exposure to market
risk for changes in interest rates mainly arises from
bank and other borrowings and bank overdraft,
loans from a related company. Bank and other
borrowings and bank overdraft and loans from
a related company carried at variable rates and
at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk
respectively.

The Group has exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk through the impact of the rate changes on
bank balances and bank and other borrowings
which are carried at variable interest rate. The
Group has exposure to fair value interest rate risk
through fixed rate bank deposits, fixed rate USD
bank borrowings and fixed rate RMB loans from
a related company.

The directors of the Company consider the
Group’s exposure of the bank deposits to fair
value interest rate risk is not significant as interest
bearing bank deposits at fixed rate are within
short maturity periods in general.

The directors of the Company manage the interest
rate risk by maintaining a balanced portfolio
of fixed rate borrowings and floating rate
borrowings.

SWMIA(E)
b. HEEBREZERERBKEE)
R & & ki

REBZRERKERSREF X TIHNKE
TR AEBEZMHNEEFEAM T EREIRITR
HiEERRITES - KA —RABERRER - U
FEMER BEIEMELREEZ RITREMEE - R1T
B RRE —ERER R E NG AREE D AR
B RMEN KRR A FEMEEL

MREF BN G B2 RITAERMRITREMESR
MEFE  WAKEAXRESREN KR - KE
| 4% B E M R GHR 2 SRITF AR R AR Bl R A R 5 R
ZETTRITEERRIZEE M ERGHBZ AARK S
B2 EELRERmMEAR R TEF RS o

ARTEFRA - AREEEHRE S 2 8RBT
FHER LRI ARE - AR EY BT
SATFEFFARLTEA -

ARRESFREFBE TN EBERIBFNEEE
ez ¥ EmEEMNEER -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

148

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest rates
risk for its variable rate borrowings at the end of
the reporting period. The sensitivity analysis does
not consider the exposure of the bank deposits
because the impact is not significant. The variable-
rate borrowings carry interest at HIBOR, LIBOR,
SIBOR and SGDSOR. The analysis is prepared
assuming that the bank borrowings outstanding at
the end of the reporting periods were outstanding
for the whole year. A 100 basis points increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel
and represent management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in the interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s loss after taxation for the period
would increase/decrease by HK$2,042,000
(1.4.2014 to 31.3.2015: HK$1,174,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the interest rate risk as the
period/year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the period/year.

SWMIA(E)

b.

BIEEBEE R BEREKE (&)

F=mb(F)

FIFEZBRE YT

NTERESITRIEEN RS HREER 2 ZEE
ENERBREE EEEA?/ FRK - MGURE DL
TRERRITERZER < FEBBEREBRITRE
wE 1ma$5($ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ% %ﬁbuiﬂzfﬁﬁﬂiﬁg)}
FINR TR AR G R - B A TR R IS
BEEAREERTEER - BFANBEREEE
[ EEIR A B R ER RS A % B i S ERERE

HL100EEY - AEREHTIE 2 AR LB
2 3P -

{8 ) 2R 382 h1 1001 2 2h st 4> 100 11 5 26 i Fr 3 E At
BEMRTE  AEEHAZBREEEBED 5
hn/ 42,042,000 L (—E—WFENA—BE=
T—RAF=A=+—H :1,174,00087T) °

R FRERE R RE, FARE - REE
BRA  QUREST LT EE TR AR -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from listed investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and available-
for-sale equity investments.

Price sensitivity
The sensitivity analyses below have been

determined based on the exposure to price risks
of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss at the end of the reporting period. If the
market price of the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss had been 30% (31.3.2015:
30%) higher/lower while all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss would
decrease/increase by HK$2,437,000 (1.4.2014
to 31.3.2015: HK$9,983,000), as a result of the
changes in fair value of the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. No sensitivity analysis
for available-for-sale investments is presented as
the available-for-sale investments are measured at
cost less impairment.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent price risk as
the period/year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the period/year.

SWMIAE)
b. HEEBREZERERBKEE)
HiER R

REBAZEDERBATEAAER ZERERE
RAEHERARE 2 EHiIRERAERRR -

BREHEE

AT GUREDITARE IR EE B A FE AR
HYTMEEEBRMAZARET © MRAFER
ANBHZ EMEETE LI TR30%(ZT—1%F

ZA=+—H :30%)MAAHLbBREMEHTE - K
SMBREBREREATEFABRZERMEE
N EZE MR D, HEM2,437,0008 7T (ZF— M

FUA—AZE=F—RAF=A=+—H : 9,983,000
A7) - AR AT ERERRARBIE & - B
EE2F| A EIRE CHBREDN ©

R FRER R RE, FARE - REE
ERR  GUREDITAL T RREBEBREL -
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32.

150

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to discharge their
obligations in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the amount
of contingent liabilities in relation to financial
guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in
note 37.

At 31 December 20135, the credit risk of the Group
was primarily attributable to and concentrated
on bank deposits. The directors of the Company
consider the credit risk for bank deposits is
limited because the counterparties are financial
institutions with high credit ratings.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s liquidity requirements for operation
and its compliance with lending covenants is
monitored closely by the management of the
respective companies, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserve of cash and adequate committed
line of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
long term.

32.

SWMIAE)
b. HEEBREZERERBKEE)
FEEREK

RBEHMEEER - AEEAR Z&EREERRR
25 $ F REEITEHRE MBI RE TR EAED
HER T B E BEANE KM RE37 P it B8 AN 52 B 35 H B4 7%
BRZIAREMERR  HBERAEEEEMHE
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R-Z-AF+T-_A=1+—RH FAEBEZEERR
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b.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32, @®MIAE)
Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HEEBEEEERHE(E)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RENE S B (E)
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining TERFAVNAEEREBERBRTERB 2 RRE
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities WEH - DREBEAEEANRZZTAHRREH
based on the agreed repayment terms. The table BEZARURRENERE - TREHAFSRAE
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted eHEME -
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.
Weighted ~ On demand Within Within Total
average or within 1-2 2-5 Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years Syears  cash flows amount
MEFS EZR KR
GilkS —-5r -EMERN ZERFR  BBLE ReRESE SREE
% HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER THR TER THERL THR THERL
At 31 December 2015 R-E-1F
TZB=t+-H
Accounts payable, deposits ENER  BEle
received and accruals MR EHER - 73,385 - - - 73,385 73,385
Amounts due to related JEREERATIE
companies 143,832 - - - 143,832 143,832
Amounts due to ultimate RNREBRARE
holding company REE - 26,740 - - - 26,740 26,740
Loans from a related company K& —FEEAT
B 4.00 189,785 - 160,937 - 350,722 337,233
Bank and other borrowings and  $R47 R EMEE K
bank overdraft BITEY 329 166,110 175,068 85,713 36,065 462,956 434,672
599,852 175,068 246,650 36,065 1,057,635 1,015,862
Financial guarantee contracts B EERAY)
(Note) (i) - 11,476 - - - 11,476 -
At 31 March 2015 o
ZA=1-H
Accounts payable and accruals — FEfSERFRA R fEET
EA - 18,695 - - - 18,695 18,695
Bank and other borrowings BITRAMEE 3.10 219,089 64,746 122,057 19,632 425,524 399,501
WIT8 64T46 12057 19630 44219 418,19
Obligations under finance leases &7 414 JE 1.88 224 224 390 - 838 766
Financial guarantee contracts ~ BIFERAY
(Note) (Hit) - 11,863 - - - 11,863 -
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32.

152

b.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32, @®mMIAE)

Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HBEBREZEEERBKE (&)

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) RENE SRR (E)

Note: The amounts included above for financial guarantee Biat © Pt BATEIER A M IE A ERYEF 5 REGERE 2

contracts are the maximum amounts the Group AREBBBLEARBENEHERREZESS
could be required to settle under the arrangement for o ERMENRGEER 2 - ARERRARE
the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed MR HE L (AR E Y AT AL R K o AT ¢ 5% {hE
by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on the RIEHFTRBERREZAIREMBEE - L ATAE
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the AR TEEREF IS EERZES LRSI
Group considers that it is more likely than not that BEBmE -
no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of
the likelihood that the financial receivables held by
the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit
losses.

The Group’s bank borrowings with a repayment REFBWEIRERESEREITR—FEANEEBZE

on demand clause but not repayable within one TEZRIBHBE DT EAEER IRHARX - 5T &

year are classified under “on demand” time band AEBPTBKRAROEBEEY ALE  AAFE
in the maturity analysis. Taking into account the ERE RITAAAEITEEESREIFER ZBS

Group’s financial position and the fair value of B mMABTHERGILE S GESETEERA

the pledged assets, the directors of the Company HA(EIB - ML B SR B R VA B R ASE SR

believe that it is not probable that the banks seSMT

will exercise its discretionary right to demand

immediate repayment and such term borrowings

will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled

repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

On this basis, the interest and principal cash flows

for the bank borrowings would be as follows:

Weighted
average  On demand Within Within Total
effective  or within 1-2 25 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years Syears  cash flows amount
EFY EZER KR
BRRI= -ER  -E@ER  ZZEIER BBIE BERELE REE
% HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000  HK$000 HKS$000
TR TR ThR FhR FAR FAR
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE-1F
+ZB=t-H
Bank borrowings with a MFRERER
repayment on demand clause  ZFITER 2.14 282 3,722 7,974 - 11,978 11,297
At 31 March 2015 RZE-RF
ZA=t-A8
Bank borrowings with a MR ERER AR
repayment on demand clause  ZFITER 2.24 1,437 8,974 22,530 32,743 65,684 54,342
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32.

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

c. Fair value of financial instruments

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (representing the listed investments
with standard terms and conditions and traded in
active liquid markets) are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period and they are
grouped under Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy
with reference to quoted market bid prices.

The fair values of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The management considers that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised in the consolidated financial statements
at amortised cost approximate their fair values.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 August 2013, a new share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company.
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate
eligible persons who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. The Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for 10 years from that date, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended. Eligible persons of the
Share Option Scheme include (i) a director or proposed
director (including an independent non-executive
director) of any member of the Group; (ii) a direct
or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group;
(iii) a supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group; (iv) a customer, consultant, business or
joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or
representative of any member of the Group; (v) a person
or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional services to any member of the Group; and
(vi) a landlord or tenant (including a sub-tenant) of any
member of the Group. Subject to the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme, the Board shall be entitled at any
time during the life of the New Share Option Scheme to
offer the grant of any option to any eligible person as the
Board may in its absolute discretion select and the basis
of eligibility shall be determined by the Board from time
to time.

32.

33.

SWMIAE)

c EHMTAZAFE

REERDNFEFABR 2 2 BEEGENFRER
ARG 2 ERRET N ERABTISETEE)R
EREHRAERRATEABLREATFEER
F-R2EMEMBREAELIA

HiteRMEELERBEZAFHERBMRRASR

ENHz—RARBEEBRIETF -

EEERR  WEBHKAFEANERA M B HRRS
RBZEREERD A ERMERENHERLD -

BRERE

RZZE-—=FNANAZ+N\B  ARRRKFERETE
(Bt Sl )) - AR 8B AR H A K B XA
BRERZAERAL - RIESKEFHIERT - TRIBK
BB mZAE—EARTH - BREAEHZAERA
TEREOAEEEAKE AR ZEFHIFTES (BB
FERITES) ¢ () AREERKE QR 2 BRI R
(i) AEEEMK B AR 2 Em SRS HER ; (v AEE
ERRBERRIZEP - HRERH - EBHAEREKF -
FRFEEA - AERE - RIERKE  (v)AAEEEMKE
NAREIHE L EMBM SR EAER - EAER - &
ERBz ALHER - R(vi)AEBERKE QR 2 E L
BE(BEDHER) - REFEBAE B Z G RABER
RETEARHNENNRE  EFSERANEZENBEE
ZEAEERALRERHBIE  MABEREETEH
EFEEE -
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33.

154

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the maximum
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted is such number of shares which, when aggregated
with shares subject to any other share option scheme(s),
must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time. The maximum number
of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
person in the Share Option Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to the shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their respective associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors
(excluding any independent non-executive director
who is the grantee of the options) of the Company. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of
the Company, or to any of their respective associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time and with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period, are subject
to the shareholders” approval in a general meeting.

The amount payable upon the acceptance of an option
is HK$1.00. The period within which an option must
be exercised shall be such period as the Board may in
its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant,
save that such period shall not be more than 10 years
commencing on the date of grant of an option.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the Board, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date
of offer of the grant, which must be a trading day; (ii) the
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of
the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares.

33.

B IR rERT 8 (&)
RIFBRE S AREREZEBRES R ZBMN#E L

R L EA B AR 8F Mo B4R - &ZTEE
BARARTRBEETRAZ10%  RER+{E A HER
BEREEA MBS A ERALETZRNEE £
R AAREEERDEITRN1% R o EfE— &%
HiBEZ R B ARG R RN RS HER - 57

=

BT e

MARRES FETBABRETERRRFESE 2T
R BA LR EERE  HERSARARBLIENTE
B ERIE(BBREARAZTABLIERITESR
HN) o b EEA T @A B WAARRERNER
BRRIBLIFRTESRRESAZEMBEALRD
EABRAN A R TR E TR0 0.1% R B EBR R
5,000,000/ L (RIEARARIRORE L BB ERTE) 2
e - BIZBSRENBREASIE®R - FAET -

B R IS E T 281,008 7T » BRI 2 /BT H
RREEFenNXHBERER2RNIEETE  EERHRA
BRER L B R TSR -
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33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

At 31 December 2015, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Scheme was nil (31.3.2015:
10,000,000), representing nil (31.3.2015: 0.27%) of the
shares of the Company in issue at that date. The total
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued
and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Options vested immediately
and may be exercised at any time not exceeding a period
of 5 years from the date on which the share options is
accepted.

The following table disclose movements of the
Company’s share options held by Mr. Fong Kwok Jen,
the then director of the Company, during the period/year:

Date of grant

13 February 2015

Exercise
price
per option

SHERE
@
HKS

B
(note)
(H&t)

RHAM

—Z-R¥_RA+=H 0.1128

Note: The number and exercise price of the outstanding share

options were adjusted as a result of completion of the open
offer of rights issues of the Company’s shares (note 28).

33.

BRAESEI(A)

R-E—RF+_A=+—0  SEREZEEETm
BHAITEZEBREEAZBROBE AT (ZE—RHF=
A=4+—8 :10,000,00017) * WA QG NZHEDETT
BH(ZE—RHF=A=+—H :027%) - EREHERE
ETEIMEER T2 EAE AR 2 RN BEIEREEARRKRE
ERHER © TAFFHRIBARRMEMGREEE TG
10% ° BRI —F RE TR ATEER FEAIA L2 A
BEZEETRBTFRIBRMEEERCAQRRESE
BOERT » TR FFBARR R IR EZEEITIRM1% °
BP0 HE B AR AR I AN 2 B RN B 1B T 4R HA RS 9 (T ] B 7S
BB 53 /8 I °] REHET T o

TREEH FARARAER 2 EEBEMEEERAZ
RAFBEAEES

Number of options
BREZA
Granted
during the
year ended Exercised
31 March during the
At 2015and  Adjustment  period ended At
1April  at31 March inrespect 31 December 31 December
2014 2015 of open offer 2015 2015
Bz
~E-1F
ZR=t-H
LFER Bz
B Rzg-1% —2-1% i
ZB2-RE ZAZ+-B  HROREE tZA=t-B ZB-1f
mA—-H BY  fFHiz@ER  LHEESTE t=A=t-8
(note)
(Hit)
- 10,000,000 197,080  (10,197,080) -

Brat - MARTTEZBRESE RITEEETKARBEEARTRMZ
PR A0 1 F 2 (BTaE28)
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33.

156

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

In respect of the share options exercised during the
period, the weighted average share price at the dates of
exercise is HK$0.435.

The estimated fair value of each of the option granted at
the date of grant is HK$0.0S5.

The fair value at the date of grant was calculated using
the Binominal Option Pricing Model. The inputs into the
model were as follows:

Closing price at the date of grant HK$0.114
Exercise price HK$0.115
Risk-free rate 1.35%
Expected life 5 years
Expected volatility 61.01%
Expected dividend yield 0%
Early exercise behaviour 280%

The Binominal option pricing model has been used to
estimate the fair value of the options. The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair value of the
share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous
S years.

The vested share options are assumed to be exercised
with an early exercise behaviour if the share price is more
than 2.8 times the exercise price.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$548,000
for the year ended 31 March 2015 in relation to share
options granted by the Company.

33.

B IR rERT 8 (&)

RBACDITEZBREMNS - RETEB B2 E 917

(B R0.4358 7T °

REH Az ECREBEREZ AR FER0.OSETT

REHBHZAFEE -_BEHRETERAFE - ZERX 2
B AZIENT

BRE Bz KHE 0.11487T
TEE 0.115%87T
R P ) R 1.35%
TEERGHA S
TEERR &) 61.01%
SEL R 0%
REITEITE) 280%

Bz A FERA _EMEEEEA MG - SHEBRE
RHEZBHMRRANEZBES 2&EMBHEL - BE
ZEBEERETEIERRZ TRAZHNE -

BEHRERABEDFARARMNERZELKIEETE -

R BARBBITHE2.81E - BIBRRCHEBBRES T17
ERIRRITEE

HE-Z—HAFZA=+—HILFE KAEBCHREH
ARRIR BB AE 2 25 548,000/ 7T ©
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34.

35.

—HETZA=1+—H 1M

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34, EEHEHR
The following assets are pledged to banks and financial REEHEAER ATEEESERTRITR S EMEEIE
institution as securities to obtain certain banking facilities AERE THRITRE 2 H I -
at the end of the reporting period:
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-EF —E-HF
+=A=+-A =A=+-8
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET THET
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 11,975 23,255
Investment properties LEME 774,684 702,242
Pledged bank deposits EIIFRITIER 39,908 63,360
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  1ZAF(EFFABRZZEREE 8,177 33,840
Investment properties classified as held for sale SEANFERE 2R EYE - 99,142
834,744 921,839
In addition, the shares of certain subsidiaries are pledged o - REREEEER  BERETHEB AR Z’RK -
as securities to obtain certain banking facilities granted to AMERANEBBERE TRITHE 2B -
the Group at the end of the reporting period.
OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 35. KEEERIE
As lessor ERHBA

Property rental income in respect of the investment
properties earned of HK$35,487,000 (1.4.2014
to 31.3.2015: HK$41,086,000), net of outgoings
of HK$9,349,000 (1.4.2014 to 31.3.2015:
HK$10,293,000), is HK$26,138,000 (1.4.2014 to
31.3.2015: HK$30,793,000). The investment properties
held have committed tenants for the next one to sixteen
years at fixed rentals.

HIGTEYMEFTBE 2 WERS KA L BE3S5,487,00078
T(ZE—NFMNA—HBE-_T—HAF=ZA=+—8:
41,086,000/87T) * kR 19,349,000/ 70 ( = Z —UF Y
A—RAZ=-Z—RAF=A=+—H :10,293,00087T)1%& A
26,138,000 L (ZET—MFWA—HEE—HF=A
=+—H :30,793,00087T) - HIEREMED BHFIEE

FHeAERE  BHRAE T —FRETFIE -
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35.

36.

158

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (continued) 35. REHERIEE)
As lessor (continued) 1ERHFEN (B)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has RREHMAER  AEEEBEPFIEUTRERIZ A
contracted with tenants for the following future BERARMEERR
minimum lease payments which fall due as follows:
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-RF —E-RF
t=A=+—-H =A=+—~H
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FHET THET
Within one year —F R 46,013 30,179
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_ZENF(BREAEEMF) 125,714 62,386
Over five years BARF 199,233 50,178
370,960 142,743
As lessee TERAA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has RREREEER  AEER T IRECEHER A TR
commitments for future minimum lease payments B2 H 2 B SHIEEERRIEL &GS
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as
follows:
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—s-EE —E-EHE
+=A=+-8 =A=+-H
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET THET
Within one year —FR 2,541 3,887
In the second to fifth years inclusive FEENF(BREGEME) 5,552 7,504
Over five years BiERE 7,546 8,400
15,639 19,791
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by KERERAEERUTSEZENHESOEETHAE
the Group for (i) certain of its offices and those leases are DPZELZFEFIFENT—HRFZ2HE © R)LNE
negotiated for an average term of one to five years, and (ii) HMEFHE-Z==FEnELrSENERENE T
an investment property located in the USA with a lease N=ZFZREME -
term expiring in 2033 and the Group has the option to
renew up to 2083.
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. EBARELE

At 31 December 20135, the Group had contracted but not
provided for commitments of acquisition of investment
properties amounting to approximately HK$294,527,000
(31.3.2015: HK$8,280,000). The acquisition of an
investment property amounting to HK$135,637,000 was
completed and the other amounting to HK$158,890,000
was lapsed subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

R-ZE—AF+-A=+—8  KEBEGRKBREMEA
ERDREBRGTAFEEL294,527,0008 L ( —E—RF
—A=+—H :8,280,000/87T) * Wi —1H135,637,0007%
TZREYMED T - B—I18158,890,000/8 T2 I8 EY %
BIASRE IS E BB -
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37.

38.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2015 and 31 March 2015, the Company
has outstanding financial guarantee issued to a bank
in respect of banking facilities granted to an investee
in which the Group has a 10% equity interest. The
aggregate amount that could be required to be paid if the
guarantee was called upon is HK$11,476,000 (31.3.2015:
HK$11,863,000). In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the fair value of the guarantee is insignificant
at initial recognition, 31 March 2015 and 31 December
2015 as the directors of the Company consider that the
possibility of default is remote. Accordingly, no value
has been recognised on the consolidated and Company’s
statements of financial position disclosed in note 40.
Should the actual outcome be different from expected,
provision for losses will be recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
participating employees’ relevant income from the
Group and are charged to the profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. When an employee leaves the MPF Scheme,
the mandatory contributions are fully vested with the
employee.

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC, certain subsidiaries established in the PRC are
required to contribute a specific percentage of the payroll
of their employees to retirement benefit schemes to fund
the retirement benefits of their employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions
under the respective schemes.

37.

38.

HREME

R-E—RAF+_A=+—HEZ-Z—RAF=A=+—
H ARAHBRETF - EAEEHEF10%BREZIRE
HRZIBITHECMBITEHD 2 WHER - WMERER
FE > BYNZAREE11,476,0008 (T —HF= A
=+—H:11,863,000/87L) - RATEERA * R
AFER-_ZEZ—RAF=ZA=+—BER-_Z—AF+_A
T HEMERRHITTEKN  MARREERAENZ
AR - AUt W ERER AR E R H40ATHTE A A A
ZHBSARRIRAR P REREE o WEREREEHAER B
BREERERE M EREER

BRERNETE

AEBRBEREARSTIEERZRAEAI L2
BRAERERRHIARNEATESFE([BEERFE]) -
BESHHEERAKEEENHRTE  AXTATEZ
HEeRE  ER2EEBNAKEMSHEBEAZBED L
W ARSFRIERESTERAEMNAL ARE - BE
BRHBBSFEIR - BEIEHRREBREERE

REBETERBERIESR  ETEPERINMEARZA
NEEB#HE 2B EAN LARKEMETEELHES - B
BEMERKBENEE - AEBERERRENE 2ME—EE
ARBERIFEEL AR SR -
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38.

39.

160

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES (continued)

The Group makes defined contribution to the Singapore
Central Provident Fund under which the Group is
required to make a certain percentage of the salaries
of the employees in Singapore, whereby the Group’s
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising
in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Employees of the subsidiaries in the USA are members of
pension schemes operated by the respective governments
and private sectors. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of the relevant part of
the payroll of these employees to the pension schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation for the Group
with respect to the pension schemes is the required
contributions under the pension schemes.

Total retirement benefit expense charged to profit or loss
for the period/year amounted to HK$1,167,000 (1.4.2014
to 31.3.2015: HK$929,000).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the period/year, the Group had the following
transactions with related companies:

38.

39.

BRNERNETEI(H)

REEREF MNP RAESREEBHRR - B - AEE
BEFINSREH S 2F T AN LB - MAKBEIRER
g2 B AFRZFERNTRKBHFE -

S EI B A R 2 I B A S BT AL S SPT LB 2 Bt
B E - HEARARREREEF L ZENBHETES
FERERASHE - UAEFIERES - AEEEWE
R8I i — & AAREIR S BIEL BT -

B/ SR ANBE 2 RREM AR /1,167,000 7T (=
T-MEMA-AE-T-AF=A=+—H : 929,000/
L) °

BEALRS

RE R REBEBERARET MRS

1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—ET-EF —E—mEF
A—H M™A—H
E-F-AHF E-_F-AHF
+=A=+—8H =H=+—H
Related company Notes  Transactions HKS$’000 HK$’000
BEQT st x5 FHET THERT
SeD USA, LLC 1 Property management services income
M E R IRFEUA 1,513 6,276
Zensun Real Estate Interest expenses (capitalised in properties
FEE under development for sale)
MBS (REFEERTYEERNL) 3,893 -
Mr. Chan Heng Fai 2 Commission expense
PRIEIE S 4 ikalza 309 -
Notes: s
1. SeD USA, LLC is a subsidiary of Singapore eDevelopment 1. SeD USA, LLC % #7 il % £ 7 72 &) Singapore eDevelopment
Limited, a listed company in Singapore over which Mr. Limited Z fIB R R) - AR B ERFE R R E R &EES 5 RERE

Chan Heng Fai, the then director and the then ultimate
controlling party of the Company.

2. Mr. Chan Heng Fai is a former director of the Company.

pita

2. RIEBELERADFREES -
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GAMBHREWE
—E-RFMOA-AE_ZE-AF+A=+—ALHH
39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 39. BEALXREZ(HE)
The remuneration paid and payable to the members of RE RN - B RERE B(RFBEE) 2B
key management, including the directors, during the W
period/year, are as follows:
1.4.2015 to 1.4.2014 to
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
— —F-mF
A—H MA—H
e —g-5%
+=A=+-B =A=+-8
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET THET
Short-term benefits % HAE A 6,112 19,372
Post-employment benefits BRI RA 31 108
6,143 19,480
Balances with related parties are set out in the HIE A T 2 EREVIR G S M BRI RE - EREFER

consolidated statement of financial position, and details
of terms are set out in notes 10, 10A, 26 and 27.

In addition, during the period, the Company acquired
from the controlling shareholder the equity interest in
Vigor. Details of which refer to note 30(a).

At 31 March 2015, Mr. Chan Heng Fai has provided
guarantee outstanding amounting to HK$16,699,000
for the Group’s bank facility. At 31 December 2013, the
Group is in the process of the application of the release
of such guarantee.

The Group is licensed by Zensun Real Estate to use the
trademarks of “Zensun” and “1Ffg”,
basis until July 2020.

on a royalty-free

AKFFEL0 ~ 10A ~ 2627 °

ESN - AR SR BRI A A B R U Vigor 2 B - 7B

2BMF30(a) °

Jr———y

hTE=ZA=1t—H REBELERAEEZR

TRVE IR 1E1R 16,699,000 - R—ZT—HFE+ - A

=+—B  AEEERBEREBER -

AEEEIHEXEFAIRLENE
[EREEE—_F_FFtH-

HAEMF A Zensun | &
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40.

162

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40.

COMPANY

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Investments in subsidiaries
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Current assets

Deposits and prepayments

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Bank and other borrowings — due within one year
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Amounts due to ultimate holding company
Amounts due to a related company

Bank overdraft

Net current (liabilities) assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Capital and reserves

Share capital

Reserves (Note)

Total equity

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

A TR R R R

31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-EF —E-RHE
+=HA=+—H =H=+-—H
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FET

RBEE
WE - BB R 232 508
"EYE 2,270 2,280
RETB AT ZIRE 460,180 65,483
FEUSHT B A R FIA 487,235 187,875
949,917 256,146

RBEE
e MIERFRIA 1,047 1,634
BEATEFABZZEMEE 8,177 33,840
JEURH B A RIFUE 298,361 319,804
DIEIRIRITIER - 56,649
RITHEBRIRE 80,525 14,054
388,110 425,981
FBasE

A RE R IERTE A 2,176 15,047
RITREMEE ——FREH 30,669 57,747
R B AR FRA 437,432 325,302
FEYN S S YNCIE Q] 26,740 -
R — TR E A R E 85,257 -
BITBEX 7,748 -
590,022 398,096
FE(EB)EERE (201,912) 27,885
BEEAERRBERS 748,005 284,031

B #E
[ 557,626 189,595
B (HaE) 190,379 94,436
REXBE 748,005 284,031

Directors on 30 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Zhang Jingguo
RE
DIRECTOR
EF

Eric Jackson Chang
R
DIRECTOR

EE

RRBZMBERARR B —RNF=ZA=+HEEESH
EREETIEY M T ESFARESE
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40.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

Note:

Details of the Company’s reserves are set out below:

At 1 April 2014

capital reduction (note 28)
Loss for the year
Recognition of equity-settled

share based payment expenses
(note 33)

At 31 March 2015

Profit for the period

Exercise of share options

Deemed contribution from
subsidiaries

At 31 December 2015

RZZE—MEMNA—H
BINEIR (AT a£28)
FEEE

TR AR S 2 R

BEMZMRFAX
(H17#33)

RZZE—hF=A
=t+—8

HAR = A

Grd i

MEARZRIELE

K=B—HF+=A
=+-A

Annual Report 2015

“E-hFER
40. FARMBRR KR (H)
Hiet : ARRBZRBEHBRIIOT
Share Capital
option reduction Other  Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BEARHIH,
BRERE #E Hitbf# RETEE st
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HKS$°000
FET TR FHT FET FERT
- - - (650,820) (650,820)
- 149,180 - 650,820 800,000
- - - (55,292) (55,292)
548 - - - 548
548 149,180 - (55,292) 94,436
- - - 92,859 92,859
(548) - - - (548)
- - 3,632 - 3,632
- 149,180 3,632 37,567 190,379
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41. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 41. KMEBARBE
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company RZZE—AF+-_A=+—HERZZT—RAF=A=+—
at 31 December 2015 and 31 March 2015 are as follows: B ARABEEMBAT 2ERAT

Proportion of ownership interest

held by the Company
AN BEE ARG
Place of Paid up
incorporation issued capital/
Name of subsidiary and operation  registered capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
TR K BHERTRE
HEARERE ERE EMER H# f TEEY

31.12.2015 31.3.2015 31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—Z2-1f -B-hf ZB-If -B-IF

t=A =A +=A =R
=t+-AB =t-B =t-H =+-H
% % % %
75 Wall Street, LLC USA Note - - 100 100 Property investment
ES Mzt MERE
American Housing REIT, USA Common stock - - 99.8 99.8 Property investment
Inc.* S USD6,256 WEEE
LiBAR6,256E T
AHR First Borrower, LLC USA Note - - 99.8 99.8 Loan financing and
ES Frzt property investment
ERRBERWERE
AHR Second Borrower, LLC  USA Note - - 99.8 99.8 Loan financing
ES Mzt EXEE
AHR Second Equity, LLC USA Note - - 99.8 99.8 Loan financing
ES Mzt EXEE
China Credit Singapore Singapore Ordinary shares 100 100 - - Investment holding
Pte. Ltd. s SGD13,417,282 BEVER
EER
13,417,2823 I3 7T
Expats Residences Pte. Ltd.  Singapore Ordinary shares - - 100 100 Property investment
g SGD25,002 MERE
EER
25,0023 AT

164



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 December 2015

e MR

ZE-RFOA-REZE-RF+ZA=+—HLHHE

41.

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

HELREE

Global Medical REIT, Inc.*

GMR Asheville, LLC

GMR Gastro, LLC

GMR Memphis, LLC

GMR Omaha, LLC

GMR Pittsburgh, LLC

GMR Plano, LLC

Heng Fung Capital
Company Limited
BEREFRRA

Inter-American Management,

LLC

Place of
incorporation
and operation
AR AL R
X

USA
E3el

USA
E3el

USA
E3el

USA
E3el

USA
xH

USA
xH

USA
xH

Hong Kong
&

USA
E3el

Paid up

issued capital/
registered capital
BHERTRE
HMER

Common stock
UsD250

ERR2S0ETT
Note

g3

Note
Kz

Note
Kz

Note
Kz

Note
Kz

Note
Kz

Ordinary shares
HK$2
ETRR2ET

Note
Kz

41. KMEBRARABEE)

Proportion of ownership interest

held by the Company
HARRFEARRERL A
Directly Indirectly
H#E Gk

31.12.2015  31.3.2015 31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—E-1f ZB-Rf ZE-1f ZB-IF
t=A =R +=A =R
=t-B =+-B =t—-HB =t-H
% % % %
- - 99.5 99.5
- - 99.5 99.5
- - 99.5 -
- - 99.5 -
- - 99.5 99.5
- - 99.5 -
- - 99.5 -
100 100 - -
- - 85 85

Annual Report 2015
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Principal activities

FEXH

Investment holding

REER

Property investment

UESEE

Property investment

UESEE

Property investment

UESEE

Property investment

nEERE

Property investment

nEERE

Property investment

nEERE

Property investment
and securities trading

NEREREHFEER

Provision of
management services

REEERE
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41. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 41. MBRAMEGE)

Proportion of ownership interest

held by the Company
AN BEE ARG
Place of Paid up
incorporation issued capital/
Name of subsidiary and operation  registered capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
A BHERTRE
MEARERE BRI HMER =§:3 f TEEY

31.12.2015 31.3.2015 31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—Z2-1f ZB-hf ZB-1f ZB-IF

+=A =HR +=A =R
=t+-B =+-B =t—-A =+-H
% % % %
Kabushiki Kaisha Aizuya Japan Common stock - - 81.8 81.8 Hotel operations
AR JPY30,000,000 BIEER
#8R
30,000,000
Keng Fong Foreign Investment  USA Common stock - - 100 100 Property investment
Co., Ltd. ES USD250,000 MERE
#8R
250,000%7T
Sapporo Holdings Inc. Japan Common stock - - 81.8 81.8 Property investment
AR JPY3,000,000 MERE
3,000,0008
Singapore Service Residence Singapore Ordinary shares - - 100 100 Property investment
Pte. Ltd. N SGD1,250,000 MERE
#8R
1,250,000%7 03 T
Xpress Credit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - - 100 100 Securities trading and
HREEBRAT B HK$1,260,000 financing services
il BHFEENERRS

1,260,000/ 7T
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41.

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of Paid up
incorporation issued capital/

Name of subsidiary and operation  registered capital
TR K BHERTRE
HEAR AR ERE HMER

AEEEFHEXERAR PRC Registered capital
H RMBS0,000,000

AfER

ARE50,000,0007

AR EEEHERBRAA PRC

Registered capital

F RMB300,000,000
AR
AR®300,000,0007T
* Quoted on the Over-The-Counter Bulletin Board of
NASDAQ in the USA.
# Wholly domestic owned enterprise in the PRC.
# Wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC.

Note According to the operating agreements, the member transfers
funds or property to this company from time to time as a
capital contribution but no capital contributions will be
required from the member otherwise required by law.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding at 31 December 2015 and 31 March 2015
or at any time during the period/year.

The above list is the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

=t-8

MEBARBE(E)
Proportion of ownership interest
held by the Company
AN BEE ARG
Directly Indirectly Principal activities
HiE f TEEY

31.12.2015 31.3.2015 31.12.2015 31.3.2015
—Z2-1f -B-hf ZB-If -B-IF

+=A =A +=A =A
=+-B =t—-H =t-H
% % % %

- - 100 - Property development

MEER

- - 100 - Property development

MEER

REBRETE e 25 IMBEIR R 5 R fE -

# RPBE2EREZANEDLE
# RE2ERBINEDRE
Bt BEBEEHE  KERATRAZANEBRESAMEERE

RER BRIPERSTTRE - GRINEBREERNEMLANRS
RRRAR]

BMEMNBARNR " Z—AF+ - A=+—HAE-ZT—HF
ZA=+—B3H/ FAEARREER TR EHES

EREINARRBEERATEZEAEBEREREEZR
SEMBAR - ARREERR - WHINEMBMBARE
S SRR RBRITE
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41. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 41. MBRAMEGE)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has RBEHEEER AR BEEMEASEBTER
other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A MBAF - ZFMBRARIARIEDNEBLCEER - ZEW
majority of these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong. The BAR EEFZBHMAT -
principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as
follows:
Principal activities Principal place of business ~ FE ¥ ith B Number of subsidiaries
FEEWR MEARBE
31.12.2015 31.3.2015
e e
+=A=+-A =A=+-8
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET THET
Investment holding HK B8 5 3
REER PRC ox 1 1
BVI RBREZEHS 3 3
Singapore Frons 3 3
USA EH 3 3
Japan AR 2 2
17 15
Inactive HK B 8 4
TR BVI REBREUES 1 -
Singapore Frns 1 1
USA 35 6 4
Japan A7 1 1
17 10
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42.

43.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company that have material non-

controlling interests:

42.

FEEEmR

TRA/RRAEERERER 22 EMBARFE

Proportion of equity interest

Accumulated

held by non-controlling Profit (loss) allocated to non-controlling
shareholders non-controlling shareholders interests
HFERRRIGE ARTFHFERRR
ZREER LA 2R (F8) R ERER
142015t0  1.4.2014t0
31.12.2015 3132015 31.12.2015 3132015 31122015 3132015
“B-Ef  CB-BF
A-BZ B—-BEZE
“2-1% C-E-1f C-B-Ef C-B-1% -E-1f CE-1%
+=A=t+-B =A=t-B +ZA=t-8 =A=t-8 +2A=t- =A=t-A
HK$000 HKS$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER TR THER
Name of subsidiary WEBAREE
eBanker USA.com Inc. and eBanker USA.com Inc. [
its subsidiaries EUEYNG| 18.2% 18.2% 1,327 57 (4,073) (5,400)
Individually immaterial subsidiaries 78 3HZA R 2 (E7] N/A N/A
with non-controlling interests FEANBAR TEA TERA (865) (467) (3,105) (2,168)
462 (410) (7,178) (7,568)
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. WEMAEE

Other than those disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements, subsequent to the end of the
reporting period,

(1)

(i)

the Group has entered into two sale and purchase
agreements to acquire another two investment
properties located in the USA for an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$156,564,000;
and

the Group has converted amounts due from GMR
amounting to US$15,000,000 (approximately
HK$116,700,000) into 0.4% share capital of
GMR.

A s AL
Brira

—

MBRERMEIIEEI  NEMREERE -

REE DT MM B E Hhad AW S I NI A
Bz EmE  BRIEL156,564,00077T K

A& EE % FE U GMR 318 15,000,000 3£ 7T (49
116,700,000/ 7T ) 8532 AGMR 2 0.4 % & 7K ©
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M=

For the year ended 31 March
BEZA=+t—HLEE

(Restated)

For the nine (&%)
months ended
31 December

2015 2015 2014 2013 2012
BZE
—E-HF
+=A
=+—H

tA@A =E—8F —TB-WNF =—EB-=F =Z—E—=-F

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FHET FET FET FHERT
Results ES
Revenue Wz 43,960 60,661 32,483 56,634 81,529
(Loss) profit for the period/year Hif,/4F [ (J&518 )% F (19,193) (55,330) (42,110) 30,004 (188,286)
Attributable to: MG
Owners of the Company KAEHEB A (19,655) (54,920) (43,503) 33,375 (188,271)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR i A 462 (410) 1,393 (3,371) (15)
(Loss) profit for the period/year iR, 4 B (&518) %7 (19,193) (55,330) (42,110) 30,004 (188,286)
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
(Restated)
(&%)
As at
31 December
2015 2015 2014 2013 2012
R-E-1F
+=A
=t—-B =T-HfF =—F-NF =-T-=fF —-F-—_F
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000
FTHER FHERT FHET FHET FER
Assets and liabilities EERARE
Total assets EEE 2,186,089 1,168,869 1,094,327 1,175,624 2,258,838
Total liabilities BaE (1,094,486)  (429,577)  (272,557)  (275,876) (1,333,490)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR RS 7,178 7,568 5,028 4,648 (105,308)
Equity attributable to ARBEEA

owners of the Company FEfL 1,098,781 746,860 826,798 904,396 820,040
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Particulars of Major Properties

As at 31 December 2015

RZF—RAF+=—A=+—H

Location

26

Investment properties

REME

No.883 North Bridge Road, Shop on
1/F. and 27 Home Office
Units on various floors,
Southbank, Singapore 198785

5 Residential Units,
Dakota Residences,
34-42 Dakota Crescent,
Singapore 399939

24/F and 30/F and Carpark No. C8 on
2nd Carparking Floor,
Wyndham Place,
No.44 Wyndham Street,
Central, Hong Kong
BATRERM4RERARTO24E R
3018 R 1R EIHC8ARE L

169 single-family rentals
located in the metropolitan regions of
Texas, Georgia, Florida and
North Carolina, U.S.A.
RAEBIERERMN « BaDM  HERE
N B ARG T O IIR 2 169fH]
BREAEN

1870 S 75th Street, Omaha,
Douglas County, Nebraska 68124, U.S.A.

30-34 Granby Stress, Asheville, Buncombe
County, North Carolina 28801, U.S.A.

3350 North Germantown Road, Bartlett,
Tennessee, U.S.A.

2999 Centre Oak Way, Germantown,
Tennessee, U.S.A.

1310 Wolf Park Drive, Germantown,
Tennessee, U.S.A.

Gross
area

BEE

28,732 sq. ft.
28,732 F R

9,128 sq. ft.
9,128FHR

5,160 sq. ft.
5,160FHR

287,853 sq. ft.
287,853 HR

41,113 sq. ft.
41,113F /5 R

8,840 sq. ft.
8,840F 7R

6,306 sq. ft.
6,306 T AR

5,000 sq. ft.
5,000F AR

12,629 sq. ft.
12,629 7R

Effective
% held
EREEE (%)

100%

100%

100%

99.8%

99.5%

99.5%

99.5%

99.5%

99.5%

Type
<]

Home Office
REHAE

Apartment

BT

Office premises and
Car Parking space
F/NEN Y E IS ELI]

Residential
=

Medical property

Medical property

Medical property

Medical property

Medical property

Annual Report 2015
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Lease term

GEEY)

Long-term lease

D

Long-term lease

D

Long-term lease

D

Freehold
KAERE

Long-term lease

D

Freehold
KAERE

Medium-term lease

R EITRA

Medium-term lease

R ETRA

Medium-term lease

R ETRA
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Particulars of Major Properties

As at 31 December 2015

RZF—RAF+=—A=+—H

Gross

Location area
ih B HEE
1324 Wolf Park Drive, Germantown, 8,893 sq. ft.
Tennessee, U.S.A. 8,893F R

7668 Airways Boulevard Southaven,

11,423 sq. ft.

Mississippi, U.S.A. 11,423F AR
2020 Exeter Road, Germantown, Tennessee, 8,015 sq. ft.
US.A. 8,015F R

9970 Mountain View Drive, West Mifflin,

27,193 sq. ft.

Allegheny County, PA 15122, U.S.A. 27,193 FF AR
Parcels of Land located at 671-180-012, 67.5 acres/

013,014, 015, 016,017,018
Desert Hot Springs,

273,200 sq. m./
2,940,300 sq. ft.

County of Riverside, 67.58,
State of California, 273,200 75K,/
92503, US.A. 2,940,300F ;5 R

LA BN & Desert Hot Springs,Z
H#38671-180-012 + 013 ~ 014 ~ 015
016 ~ 017~ 018

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Effective
Site area % held
Location (sq.m.) B
L EE BERE
ik (FFXK) (%)
300m to the east of the junction of 34,439 100
Dahe Road (North 4th Ring) and
Guxu Road (West 4th Ring extension),
Zhengzhou
BN AR B (AL IR ) E 7R
(AR RAZ) R X AFAR300K
Zensun Jingkai Plaza, South of Hanghai 47,736 100

East Road, East of Jingkai Ninth Street,
Economic and Technological Development
Zone, Zhengzhou, Henan Province, PRC
Hh EUA R BN T AR B R B B R AR R
ENARE AR S RIE AR ERELHES

172

Effective
% held  Type Lease term
BEREARE(%)  E5 L
99.5% Medical property Medium-term lease
BEME hEIRE A
99.5%  Medical property Medium-term lease
BRI TR
99.5% Medical property Medium-term lease
BEME R ERTHAY
99.5% Medical property Medium-term lease
BEME HERFRAY
100%  Vacant land Freehold
TELTM IKAKMRE
HERRPYE
Expected year
Type Lease term Stage of completion
£l =k PR ER R EREE
residential Medium-term  Construction works 4th quarter of
= lease commenced 2017
FERTRAY EIRE B
EMFE
residential and ~ Long-term lease Construction works 1st quarter of

office

REHELD

EERMAE

commenced
mIFRE

2018
—T-N\F

558



HONG KONG

24th Floor

Wyndham Place

40-44 Wyndham Street
Central, Hong Kong

JAPAN

1-5-6 Kudan-Minami
Chiyoda-ku

Tokyo 102-0074
Japan

&5

5E

FIRERE 40-44 57
EREETLD 24 12

BE
T 102-0074
R

FTREENERE
1-5-6

SINGAPORE

883 North Bridge Road
#11-02, Southbank,
Singapore 198785

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Hampden Square

4800 Montgomery Lane

Suite 450

Bethesda, MD 20814

United States of America

Fhhnsg

883 North Bridge Road
#11-02, Southbank,
Singapore 198785

=E

Hampden Square

4800 Montgomery Lane
Suite 450

Bethesda, MD 20814
United States of America

WEBSITE
www.zhsuccess.com

STOCK CODE
Stock Exchange: 185
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